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Beesail Limited

Strategic Report

The directors present their Strategic Report for the company for the year ended 31 December 2019,

Review of business and future activities

The directors are satisfied with the results for the year. The directors expect the company to continue as
a holding company for the foreseeable future.

United Technologies Corporation ("UTC®), the ultimate parent company of a multinational group of which
the Company was a member during the year ended 31 December 2019, separated into three
independent companies via spin-off transactions on 3 April 2020: (1) Otis Worldwide Corporalion
("Otis™), (2} Carrier Global Coerporation ("Carrier”), and (3) UTC, an aerospace company comprised of
the Collins Aercspace Systems and Pralt & Whilney businesses.

On April 3, 2020, UTC combined its aerospace businesses with Raytheon Company (“Raytheon”) in a
merger of equals transaction with Raytheon surviving as a wholly owned subsidiary of UTC ("the
Raytheon Merger"). Upon the closing of the Raytheon Merger, UTC's name changed to “Raytheon
Technologies Corporation™ {(“RTX"). Prior to the Raytheon Merger, UTC separated its Carrier and Otis
businesses from its aerospace businesses. As a result of this merger, Beesail Limited (Ceesail Limited)
is now a member of RTX,

Key performance Indlcators (KPls)

Given the nature of the business, the company's directors are of the opinion that analysis using KPIs Is
not appropriate in helping understand the development, performance or position of the business.

Financial risk management

Given the size of the company, the directors have not delegated the responsibility of monitoring financial
risk management to a sub-commiitee of the board. The company's operations expose it to financial risks
as sat out below.

Principal risks and uncertainties

Liquidity risk
The company actively maintains intercompany finance that is designed to ensure the company has
sufficient available funds for operations,

Foreign exchange risks
The majority of the company's transactions are denorminated in steriing and the directors do not believe

that there is a significant foreign exchange risk.
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Beesail Limited

Strategic Report

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)

COviD-19

Beesail Limited, as a global holding company, is impacted by public health crises such as the globat
pandemic associated with COVID-18. The COVID-19 pandemic has significantly increased global
aconomic and demand uncertainty. Public and private sector policies and initiatives in the U.S. and
worlkdwide to reduce the transmission of COVID-19, such as the imposition of travel restrictions and the
adoption of remote working, have impacted Beesail Limited's business, operations and the aerospace
sector as a whole. Beesait Limited and its ultimate parent company, Raytheon Technologies Corporation
{RTX) (formerly United Technologies Corporation) are working to protect its employees, maintain
business continuity and sustain its operations, including ensuring the safety and protection of its
employees working in our offices, manufacturing and service [acilities worldwide. The COVID-19
pandemic may also impact RTX's supply chains, Including the ability of suppliers and vendors to provide
their products and services to RTX, including Beesall Limited.

COVID-19 has impacted and may further impact the broader economies of affected countries, including
negatively Impacting economic growth, and creating volatility and unpredictability in financial and capital
markets, foreign currency exchange rates, and interest rates. The financial impact of the COVID-19
pandemic cannot be reasonably estimated at this time but may materially affect RTX and Beesail
Limited's, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. The extent of such impact depends
on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including new information
which may emerge concerning the scope, severity and duration of the COVID-19 pandemic and acticns
to contain its spread or treat ils impact, among others,

Section 172(1) Statement

This section describes how the directors have had regard to the matter sel out in Section 172(1) (a) to ()
of the Companies Act 2006 in exercising their duty to promote the success of the Company for the
benefit of its key stakehoiders.

The Hikely consequences of any decision in the long term

The directors of the Company have a duty of care to the key stakeholders when making decisions that
affect long term sustainability of the Company. Key objectives are formulated as such to ensure thal the
Company continues as a going concem. The directors remain mindful that its strategic decisions can
have tong term implications for the business and its stakeholders, and these implications are carefully
assessed.

Having regard to the interests of the Company's employees
The Company does not have any employses.

Having regard to need to foster the Company’s business relatlonships with suppliers, customers
and others

Suppliers

The directors seek to balance the benefits of maintaining strong partnering relationships with key
suppliers alongside the need to obtain value for money for our investors and the desired quality and
service levels for our customers. The Company works with suppliers and builds robust, long-lasting
supply chains. The Campany pays the suppliers in line with their payment terms.

Customers
The Company has no customers,




Beesail Limited

Strategic Report
Section 172(1) Statement (continued)

Having regard to need to foster the Company's business relationships with suppliers, customers
and others {continued)

Reguialors
The Company seeks a constructive and cooperative relationship with the bodies that authorise and
ragulate the business activities. This helps us maintain a reputation for high standards of business

conduct.

The Company manages its tax affairs responsibly and proactively to compiy with tax legislation. The
Company's approach is to seek to build solid and constructive working relationships with all tax
authorities.

The impact of the Company’s operations on the community and the environment

The Group's corporate and social responsibility statements are published at www.rtx.com as part of the
consolidated accounts of RTX,

Having regard to the desirability of the Company maintalning a reputation for high standards of
business conduct

Modem Siavery Act
The Campany is committed to ensuring slavery and human trafficking are not taking place in its business
or supply chains. To this end the Company has published a statement for the reporting period at

www.rix.com. .
Having regard to the need to act fairly as between members of the Company

Tha directars recognise their legal and regulatory duties and do not take any decisions or actions, such
as seleclively disclosing confidential or inside information, that will provide any shareholder or group of
shareholders with any unfair advantage or position compared to the shareholders as a whole.

Events after the balance sheet date

Details of significant events since the balance shee{ date are contained in note 10 to the financial
stalements.

Approval

Approved by the Board and signed on its behall by:

Prte AA

R Worth
Director
8 October 2020

Ash House
Littleton Road
Ashford
TWIS1TZ




Beesail Limited

Directors’ Report

The directors prasent their annual report and the audited financial statements of the company for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

Principal activities

The company is an investment holding company, with a single subsidiary. The subsidiary company's
activity is to hold loans with entities within the Raytheon Technologies Corporation group.

Results and dividends

The company has not paid a dividend nor are the directors proposing to pay a dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: £ nil),

Going concern
The directors have a reasonable expectation that the company has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis in

preparing the annual financial statements.

Further details regarding the adoption of the going concern basis can be found in the accounting policies
in the financial statements,

Directors

The direclors who held office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements are
given below:

R Warth (appointed 20 December 2019)
L Powel {appointed 20 December 2019)
P Moran {resigned 20 December 2019)
C Idczak (resigned 20 December 2019}

J Laurence {resigned 20 December 2019)
L Thempson  (resigned 15 May 2019}

Directors’ indemnity
The directors have the benefit of an indemnity (provided on a group wide basis via Raytheon
Technologies Corporation) which is a qualifying third party indemnity provision. The indemnity was in

force throughout the last financial year and also at the date of approval of the financial statements.

Future developments
These are included in the strategic report.

Financial risk management
These are included in the strategic report.




Beesail Limited

Directors' Report

Statement of diractors' responsibilities in respect of the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the direclors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that
law the directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 "Reduced
Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law}).

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied
that they give a true and fair view of the slate of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the
company for that period. In preparing the financial statements, the directors are required to:
» select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
= state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101, have
been followed, subject to any materal departures disclosed and explained in the financial
statements;
» make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and
+« prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis uniess it is inappropriate to
presume that the company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy al any time the financiat
position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 2006.

Directors® confirmations

In the case of each director in office at the date the Directors’ Report is approved:
= so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company's

auditors are unaware; and

» they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company's auditors
are aware of that information.

Independent Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have indicated their willingness to be reappointed for another term and
appropriate arrangements are being made for them to be deemed reappointed as audilers in the
absence of an Annual General Meeling.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

PPosta,

R Worth
Director
8 October 2020

Ash House
Litteton Road
Ashford
TW151TZ
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Beesail
Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinicn, Beesail Limited's financial statements:

e givea true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2019 and of its result for the year
then ended;

* Thavebeen properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United
Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 “Reduced Disclasure Framework”, and applicable law); and

+  have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report, which comprige: the balance sheet as at 31
December 2019; the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which
include a description of the significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with lnternational Standards on Auditing (UK) £*1SAs (UK)") and applicable law.
Cur responsibilities under 18As (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for cur opinion.

Fndlependence

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which ISAs (UK) require us to report to you
where:

¢ the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not
appropriate; or

e the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt about the company's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a
period of al least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

However, because not all future events or ¢conditions can be predicted, this statement is not 2 guarantee as to the company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

Repoerting on other information

The other information comprises all of the informaticn in the Annual Report ather than the financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements
does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we de not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our anudit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material incensistency or material
misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial
statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have perforimed, we canclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
based on these responsibilities.
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Beesail
Limited (continued)

With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report, we alse considered whether the disclosures required by the UK
Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on the responsibilities described above and cur work undertaken in the course of the audit, ISAs (UK) require us also
to report certain opinions and matters as described below.
Strategic Report and Directors” Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and
Directors’ Report for the year ended 31 December 2019 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment cbtained in the course of the audit, we did
not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Responsibifities of the divectors for the financial stuterments

As explained more fully in the Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the financial statements, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framewcrk and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is
necesgary (o enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or errol.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease cperations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors responsibilities for the audit of the financial stetements

Our objectives are Lo obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatemnent, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our cpinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken ob the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance
with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept
or assume responsibifity for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it
may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.




Independent auditors’ report to the members of Beesail
Limited (continued)

Other required reporting

Companies Act 20006 exeeption reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are treguired 1o report to you if, in our opinion:
¢ we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

» certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
» the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Other matter

The financial statements for the year ended 3t December 2018, forming the corresponding figures of the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019, are unaudited.

Mark Foster (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Milton Keynes

g October 2020




Beesail Limited

Balance Sheet

As at 31 December 2019

Registered number: 04771514

Note 2019 2018
£'000 £'000
{unaudited)
Fixed assets
Investments 8 1,326,022 1,326,022
1,326,022 1,326,022
Total assets less current liabilities 1,326,022 1,326,022
Net assets 1,326,022 1,326,022
Equity
Called up share capital 9 131 1,311,741
Share premium account — 14,281
Retained earnings 1,325,801 —_
Total shareholders’ funds 1,326,022 1,326,022

A Statement of Comprehensive Income has not been presented as during the year the company has not
traded, has not incurred any liabilities and consequentiy has no profit or loss to report.
The notes on pages 11 to 18 form part of these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 9 to 18 were approved by the hoard of directors on 8 Cclober 2020
and were signed on its behalf by:

N7

R Worth
Director
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Beesail Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

1. Accounting Policies

Beesall Limited {'the company’} holds an invesiment in a holding company, the company's single
subsidiary's principal activity is to hold foans with entities within the Raytheon Technolegies Corporation

group.

The company is a private limited company, limited by shares, and is incorporated and domiciled in
England, The address of its registered office is Ash House, Littleton Road, Ashford, TW15 1T2.

The principal accounting policies are summarised below. They have all been applied consistently
throughout the year and all the years presented, unless otherwise stated,

Basls of accounting

The company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 100 (Financial Reporting Standard
100) tssued by the Financial Reporting Council.

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101
‘Reduced Disclosure Framework'. The financial statements are therefore prepared in accordance with
the Companies Act 2006 as applicable to companies using FRS101.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, as explained in the accounting
policies below.

The financial statements conlain information about Beesail Limited as an individual company and do not
contain consolidated financial information as the parent of a group. The company is exempt under
section 401 of the Companles Act 2006 from the requirement to prepare consolidated financial
statements as it and its subsidiary undertakings are included by full consolidation in the consolidated
financial statemants of its ultimate parent, Raytheon Technologies Corporation, a company incorporated
in the United States of America.

As permitted by FRS 101, the company has taken advantage of some of the disclosure exemptions
available under that standard. The key exemplions taken are as follows:

IFRS 7 - financial instrument disclosures

IFRS 13 - disclosure of vajuation techniques and inputs used for fair value measurement of assets and
liabilittes

IAS 1 — Information on management of capital

IAS 7 — statement of cash flows

IAS 8 — disclosures in respect of new standards and interpretations that have been issued but are not
yel effective

IAS 24 - disclosure of key managerment compensation and for related party disclosures enterad into
betwaen twa or mare wholly awned members of a graup

Where required, equivalent disclosures are given in the group financial statements of United
Technologies Corporation. The group financial statements of United Technoclogies Corporation are
available to the public and can be obtained as sel out in note 11.

Adoption of new and revised Standards

No new accounting standards, or amendments to accounting standards, or IFRIC interpretations that are
effective for tha year ended 31 December 2019 have had a material impact on the company.
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Beesail Limited

Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019
1. Accounting Policies {continued)
Going concern

The company's business activities, togather with the factors likely to affect its future development,
performance and position are set out in the strategic report, The company's principal activity is to provide
loan funding to other Group entities. Activity and future development of the company depends on
performance of the wider Group,

The company meets its day to day working capital requirements through a cash pooling arrangement
which is centrally managed by its uitimate parent undertaking.

In assessing going concerm, the direclors have considered a number of factors, including Raytheon
Technologies Corporalion's response to COVID-19, the current balance sheet position and available
liquidity, the principal and emerging risks which would impact the performance of Raytheon Technologies
Corporation. Further disclosure on the impact and rasponse to COVID-19 by Raytheon Technologies
Caorporation is avaiiable from www.rtx.com.

The directors have a reasonable expectaticn that the company has adequate resources to continge in
operational existence for the foreseeable future, Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in preparing the annual financial statements.

Investments

Fixed asset investments, including investments in subsidiaries and associates, are shown at cost less
provision for impairment.

impairment reviews are carried out by the directors on an annual basis, or when there is indication that
impairment may have occurred,

Share capita}

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Taxation

Current tax, including UK corporation tax and foreign tax, is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or
recovered) using the tax rates and iaws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date. The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from
net profit as reported in the statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable
or deductible,

Deferred tax is the lax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financlal statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxabla temporary differences and deferred tax assels are
recognised to the extent that it is probable tha! taxabie profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

12




Beesail Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019
1. Accounting Policies {continued)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the
extent that it is na longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all ¢r part of the
asset o be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rales that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is
setifed or the asset is realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the statement of
comprehensive income, excep! when it relates to items charged or credited in other comprehensive
income, in which case the deferred tax is alsc dealt with in other comprehensive income.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the company expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle
the carrying amount of its assals and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offsel when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against cutrent tax llabilities and when thay relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabifities on a net basis.

Current tax and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferrad tax are recognised in the income statement, except when they relate to items that
are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the curremt and
deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity sespectively.

Foreign currency

The financial statements are presented in pounds sterling, which is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Company operates (its functional currency).

Transactions in currencles other than the functional currency are recorded at the rate of exchange at the
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance
sheet date are reported at the rates of exchange prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retransiated.

Exchange differences are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they arise except
for:

+ exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for
future productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as
an adjustrmant to inferes! cosls on those foreign currency borrowings; and

- exchange differences on transactions entered into fo hedge certain foraign currency risks.

13




Beesail Limited

Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019
1. Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial
liability or equity instrument of another entity. Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the company's balance sheet when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financlal Assets

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: at fair value through profit or loss
(FVTPL); fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCH) and amortised cost. The classification
depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired, Management determines the
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss or at fair value through other comprehensive
income
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) comprise:

+ Equity securities which are not held for trading, and which the company has irrevocably elected
at initial recognition to reccgnise in this category, These are strategic investments and the group
considers this classification to be more relevant.

= Debt securities where contractual cash flows are solely principal and interest and the objective
of the company's business model is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets.

Financial assets at amortised cost
The company classifies ils financial assets as al amortised cost only if both of the following criteria are

met:

- the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash
flows, and

+ the contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest.
Financial assets at fair vaiue through profit and loss

The follawing financial assets are classified at fair vatue through profit or loss (FVTPL):
« debt investments that do not qualify for measurement at either amortised cost
*  equity investments that are held for trading, and
« equity investments for which the entity has not elected to recognise fair value gains and losses

through QC1.
Impairment of financial assets
Assets carried at ammortised cost

The company assesses, al the end of each reporling period, whether there is objeclive evidence that a
financial asset or group of financial assels is impaired.

14




Beesail Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019
2. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the company's accounting policies, which are described in note 1 above, the
diractors are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual resuits may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting

estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
periad, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future

periods.
Critical judgements in applying the company’s accounting policles

The directors do not believe there are any critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations
{which are dealt with separately below), that the direciors have made in the process of applying the
company's accounting policies.

Key sources of estimation uncertainfy

The key assumptions conceming the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below,

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries

Determining whether the company's investments in subsidiaries have been impaired requires
estimations of tha investments' values in use. The value in use calculations require the enity to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from the investments and suitable discount rates in order to
calculate present values. The carrying amount of investments in subsidiardes at the balance sheet date
was £1,326,021,965 (2018: £1,326,021,965), with no impairment loss recognised In 2019 or 2018.

4. Auditors' Remuneration

Fees payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP of £2,770 (2018: £nil) for the audit of the company's
annual financial statements were borne by Ceesail Limited.

Fees payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for non-audit services to the company were £nil (2018:
£nil).
5. Staff Costs

Tha company had no employees during the year (2018: none).

6. Directors’ Remuneration and Transactions

Nona of the Directors received remuneration in respect of their service to the company during the year
{2018: none).

15
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Beesail Limited
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

7. Tax

As there has been no profit or loss reported for the year, no tax has been provided for.

8. Investments

. £'000
Cost
At 1 January 2019 (unaudited) 1,326,022
At 31 December 2019 1,326,022
Net book value at 31 December 2018 {unaudited) 1,326,022
Net book value at 31 December 2619 1,326,022

During the year the directors made an assessment of the valuation of the investment and there was no
impairment required.

Details of the company’s directly owned subsidiaries at 31 December 2019 are as follows:

Proportion
of
Class of ownership
Name & Registered Address Principal Activity share interest
Ceesail Limited Investment holding Ordinary 100 %
Ash House, Littleton Road, Ashford, TW15 1T2 company
9, Called Up Share Capital
Ordinary shares
2019 2018
£'000 £000
(unaudited)
Allotted, called up and fully paid
1,311,741, 217 (2018: 1,311,741,217) ordinary shares of £0 0004
{2018: £1.00) each 131 1,311,741

On 26 September 2019 the issued share capital of the Company was reduced from £1,311,741,217
divided intc 1,311,741,217 ordinary shares of £1.00 each, to £131,174,12 divided into 1,311,741,217
ordinary shares of £0.0001 each, by cancelling and extinguishing capitai to the extent of £0.9999 on
each issued fully paid up ordinary share of £1.00 each, reducing the nominal value from £1.00 to
£0.0001 and the share premium account was cancelled. The credit arising from these transactions has
been credited to the retained earnings account of the Company.
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Beesail Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019
10. Subsequent Events

United Technologies Corporation ("UTC"), the ultimate parent company of a multinational group of which
the Company was a member during the year ended 31 December 2019, separated into three
independent companies via spin-off transactions on 3 April 2020: (1) Ofis Woridwide Corporation
("Otis"), (2} Carrier Global Corporation ("Carrier"), and (3) UTC, an aerospace company comprised of
the Collins Aerospace Systems and Pratt & Whitney businesses.

On 8 June 2019, UTC enlered into a merger agreement with the Raytheon Company to combine its
aerospace businesses with the Raytheon Company to form a merged company Raytheon Technologies
Corporation ("RTX"). The merger was completed 3 April 2020, shortly after the completion of the
separation of Otis and Carrier, As a result of this merger, the Company is now a member of RTX.

Beesail Limiled, as a global holding company, is impacted by public health crises such as the global
pandemic associated with COVID-13. The COVID-19 pandemic has significantly increased global
economic and demand uncertainty. Public and private sector policies and initiatives In the U.S. and
worldwide to reduce the transmission of COVID-19, such as the imposition of travel restrictions and the
adoption of remote working, have impacted Beesail Limited’s business, operations and the aerospace
sector as a whole. Beesail Limited and its ultimate parent company, Raytheon Technologies Corporation
(RTX) (formerly United Technologies Corporation) are working to protect its empioyees, maintain
business continuity and sustain its operations, including ensuring the safety and protection of its
employees working in our offices, manufacturing and service facilities worldwide. The COVID-19
pandemic may also impact RTX's supply chains, including the ability of suppliers and vendors to provide
their products and services to RTX, Beesail Limited operations, COVID-19 has impacted and may further
impact the broader economies of affected countries, including negatively impacting economic growth,
and creating volatility and unpredictability in financial and capital markets, foreign currency exchange
rates, and Interest rates. The financial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic cannot be reasonably
estimated at this time but may materially affect RTX and Beesait Limited's, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows. The extent of such impact depends on future developments, which are highly
uncertain and cannol be predicted, including new information which may emerge concerning the scope,
severity and duration of the COVID-19 pandemic and actions to contain its spread or treat its impact,
among others.
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Beesail Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019
1%,  Controlling Party

The company's immediate parent undertaking is Nicoll Holdings S.a.rl. a company incorporated in
Luxembourg.

The company’s ultimate parent undertaking and conwolling party throughout the year ended
31 December 20189 was United Technologies Corporation, a company incorporated in the United States
of America,

As described in note. 10, on the 3 April 2020, the company’s ultimate parent undertaking and controlling
party changed to Raytheon Technologies Corporation, a campany incorporated in the United States of
America.

United Technologies Corporation is the smallest and largest group 1o consclidate these financial
statements.

Copies of the United Technolegies Corporation group financial statements are publicly available and can
be obtained from www.rix.com

18
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Social Impact

ins Aerospace

Our workiorce is global and diverse. We
strive to create a culture of inclusion and
oppoertunities for personal growth. Cur
Re-Empower Program helps professionals
re-enter the workiorce after a career break,
including transitioning from military service.
And our employee resource groups promate
prolessional development, mentoring and
comrmunity outreach.
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Five-Year Summary

R e e A W i em iAo 2019 | K O 2 i

For The Year
Nt sales $ 77,046 1S B6501 S 598378 57,2445 58008
Research and development 3,015 2,462 1 2,427 2,376 2,262 |
Rastructunng costs 425 307 253 290 396
Net income from continuing oparations ' 5,948 5,654 4,920 5,436 4,356
Net income from continuing operatons at(r.\bLilabI(a to cormwnon shareowners 5,537 5.269 | 55‘32?¥ 5.065 3.896
Basic sarnings per share—Net income from continuing opéramns r B
attributabie to comman shareowners 6.48 6.58 576 6.19 4.58
Diluted carnings per share —Net mcome from continuing operations i !
attnbutable o common shareawnors 6.41 6.50 570 6.13 4.53
Cash dividends per commanshars 204| 28]  272|  202] 258
Acarage number of shares of Cormmon Stock outstanding: i 3

Basic * 885 k 800 | 790 l 818 873 |

Diluted - 864 8101 799 852G | 883
Cash flows provided by operating activities of continung oparations 8,383 6,322 i 5,631 l 6,412 6,755
Capital expenditures 2,256 1.902 | 2011 1.699 ; 1.6562
Acauisitions, including debt assumed & equity issued 56 1 31,142 f 231 f 712 { 556 (
Repurchases of Common Stock 151 325§ 1153 2854 10000
Dividends pad op Common Stock fexcluding €S0P) 2442| 2170| 2,074 % 2009| 2184

i ! !

At Year End : :
Working capital * $ 29118 4135|868 84678 6644|3 4088
Total assets 139,716 131217 96 920 88.706 87.484
Long-term debt, including current portion ® 41,284 ‘ 44 068 l 27.093 23,300 19,489 ‘
Total dabt 43,648 5530 27,435 ] 23901 ¢ 20,25

Total debt to total capitalization * 50% | 53% | 47% | as% | 41% |
Iotal ooty 442311 40810 51421 2001890 28844
Nurnier of empioyees 7 243200 240200] 204700] 201800 197.200]
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Resuits of Operations

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

We are a global provider of hugh technology products and scrvices

to the budding systems and aerospace industrnes. Our operations for
the periods presented heren are class:flied into four principal business
segrrents: Otis, Carrier, Pratt & Whitney, ana Colling Aerospace
Systerns. Otis and Carmer are referred (o as the "commercial
Dusnesses.” while Pratt & Whitngy and Collins Acrospace Systoms are
referred (0 as the "astospace businegses.”

On June G, 2019, UTC entered into a merger agreement with
Raytheon Company {Raytheom provckng for an all-stock merger of
equals transaction The Raytheon merger agreement provides. among
other things. that each share of Raytheon common stock issucd
and cutstanching immedately prior to the clesing of the Raythaon
mesger {excent for shares heid by Raytheon as treasury stock) will be
converlad nlo the rght 1o recerve 2.3348 sharcs of UTC common
slock. Upon the closing of the Raytheon merger, Raytheon will become
a whally-owned subsidiary of UTC, and UTC will cnange its name
to Raythoon Technoliogies Corporation On October 11, 2019, the
sharoowners of cach of UTC and Raytheon approved the proposals
nncessary Lo complete the Raytheon mergar. The Raytheon merger s
expected to close early m the second guarter of 2020 ancd s subject to
customary closing conditions, inchuding receipt of reguered regulatory
approvals, as wall as the completion of UTC's separation of i1s Oks and
Carrar businesses.

As has been praviously disclosed, in Novemiser 2018,
the Comgpany announced its intentian 10 scparate nto three
sndependent compares. The separation will resull :n three global,
Adustry-leading Cormpanies:

« United Technotogies, compnsaed of Colinsg Acrospace Systems
ana Prait & Whitney, waill b the preemiment Systems supplies 1o
the acrospace and defensa ndustny.

* Ous, Ihe wortd's lcading manufaciurer of elevators, escalators and
mowvegy walkways: and
Carner. a globa prowder of HVYAC, refngeration. buiding
automation, fire satety and security products with lcadership
DOSIONS across its portfolic.

The proposed separatons are expected Lo e offected through
spin-offs of Olis and Carrier that are intendaed to be tax-froe for the
Company's shareowners for U.S, federal income lax purposes, and
are cxpected 1o be completed earty in the second quarter of 2020,
Separation of Ouis and Carner from UTC wa spin-off transactions will be
subjoct o the satisfachion of customary conditions. including, among
otniers. final approval by the Company’s Board of Directors, receipt
of tax rifings and a tax apwion trom external counsel, the fing with
the Securties and Exchange Commission (SEC) and effechiveness
of Form 10 registration statements. and salislactory cormplehon of
financng (subjact to UTC's agreomaont to consummate the distributions
pursuant to, and sulyect to tne terms and conditons of, the Raytheon
merger agreement discussed below).

O Novernber 26, 2048, we completed the acouisiton of Rockwsll
Colins ine “Rockwell Acquisihion”). a icadcr in aviabon and high-integrty
solutons for commeroial and military customers as well as leading-edge
avionics. fighl controls, arcraft intenor and data connectwity sclut ons.
The total aggregate consideration payakle in the Rockweil Acgusition
was $15.5 bilion in cash ($14.9 bilkon net of cash acquired) and
62.2 millon shares of Company common stock. In addition. $7.8 aillon
of Rockwell Collins debt was outstanding at the time of the Rockwell
Acguisition. Refer to Note 2 of the Consandated Fnancial Statenents
for additional discussicn on the Rockwel: Acausition.

The commercial businesses generally serve customers in the
worldlvede commeraal and residential property industries, with
Carner also senang customers in e commercial and transport
rofngeraton indusines. The aerospaces busnesses serva commaorcial
and government asrospace customers in both the orginai equipment
and aftermarket parts and services markets. Our consolidated net
sales were derhed from the commercal and aerospace DUsaesses
as follows,

2019 s T
Commercial and industrial 41% | 47% 50%
Militar, woasace and space 17% b p
Commercial acrospace 2% T 38% 37% J
100% | 100 - 100

Cur conselidaled net sales were denved from onginad caupment
rmanutaclunng (OFMi and aftermarket parts and sanneces as follows:

2019 S N
OEM 54% | 54% 53%
Aftarearket s and senaces 46% | afr 1o
T 00% | 100% 100% |

Our worldwade operatons can be allocted by industrial. economic
and poltical factors on botn a regional and global level. Our operations
incluce original eguiprment manufacturnng and extensie related
aftermarket parts and sentcos N both our commercial and acrospace
businasses. Our busmness mix also reflects the combination of shorter
cycles al Carmer and in our commercial asrospace spares businesses.
and longer cycles al Ohis and 10 our aerospace OEM and aftermarket
martenance businessas. Our custormers arc in bath the public and
privale sectors. and our busnesses reflect an extensive geagraphic
civersihicahan that has evolved with continued giebalization. Refor
to Note 20 of the Consoldaled Financial Statements for additional
discussion of sales attnbuted to geographic regions.

Ag pant of aur growln strategy. we nvest in businesses in certain
countries that carry tigh levels of currency. polilcal and,'or cconomic
risk. such as Argentna, Brazil. China, India. Indenesia. Moxico, Poland,
Russia, South Africa, Turkey, Ukrame and countries in the Middle
East and Central Asia. As of Decambor 31, 2019, the nel assets
N any one of these countnes did not exceed 5% of consolidatea
shareowners' equity.
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In a reterendum on June 23, 2016, voters in the United Kingdom
fthie UK voted in favor of the UK. s exiling the European Urion {the
EW). The manner in which the U K. decides to exil tha EU could have
Aogative Macroecononmic conseguences Our 2012 ful year saies 1 and
fram the UK. were approximalely $4 bilion and represented less than
59 of our overall sales. and we do not believe the UK s withdrawal
from e EU will sigruficantly impact our businesses in the near term.
Crganic sales growth was 5% in 2019, reflecting growth across alt
segrments driven by
» Higher saies across all channels al Pratt & Whitney:
* Higher commeraal aftermarket and military sales, parialty
offset by lower commercial aerospace OFEM sales al Coling
Aarospace Systems:

= Higher service sales across all regions and higher now cquipment
sales daven by graowth in Asia at s

* Higher commeraal and residential HVAC sales at Carmer

wWe conbinue tonvest in now platfonms and nevy markols 1o
position the Company for iong-term growtn, while remanag focused on
innovation, structural cost reduction, disciplined capital allocation and
execution to meet or exceed cusiomer and sharcowner commitments,

As discussed below in “Results of Operalions.” operating proht
N hoth 2019 and 2018 includaes the impact trom actwties that are
not expoctad to recur often or that are not ctnernwise refiectve of
the underhyiing operations, such as the benclcal mpact of net gams
from sales of investiments, the unfavorable impact of contract matters
with customer s, ransaction, acquesition andh integration costs, costs
associated with the Company s intention to separate its commercial
businesses, and other signficant non-recurting and non-operatonal
fems. Our earnings growth stralegy contempiates carnings frem
Qrgane sies grovah, Inciuaing growth from aow product developrnaent
and producl mprovernents, siructaral cost reductions, cosrat.onal
mproveiments. and incremental earnngs from our mwestments
M acguesiions

I total, cur investments in businesses n 2019 and 2018
totalad $36 milion and $31.142 milion, ynclucing detht assurmed
ol §7.784 milhon ang stock issued of 37,960 mulion) respectvely,
Ourinvestments in businesses in 2019 included a numiber of
small acquisitions primarily at Otis. In additon 1o Rackwell Collins,
acquisitions completed m 2018 primanly inciude an acouwsiion af
Carner and at Pratt & Whatrey,

3oth acquisition and restructunng costs associated with businoss
combinations are expensead as incurred. Depending an the nature and
tevel of acquisiion activity, carmings coula be adverscly rpacted duc
1o acguistion and reslructurng actions nbiatod in connecbon with
the integration of businesses acgured. For addibonal aiscussion of
acquisitons and restructunng. see "Lioudity and Fnancial Gondition.”
"Restructuring Costs™ and Notes 2 and 13 to the Consaldated
Financial Statements.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Net Sales

LA o 2019 | SIEh! Ll
Net saies $ 77,046 | § 66.501 | § 59.837 |
Percentans change y2ar Juel-year 168% 11 S,

The factors contributing to the lolal percentage change year-over-
vear in total net sales are as follows:

2019 | e
Orgaric volurne 5% | 8%
Fareign currency translaticn 1% ‘ 17
Acguisitions ang divestitures, net 12 % E 1% i
ther - LR
Total % Ghange T 16 % 11% |

At four segments expenenced arganic sales growth during 2019,
Pratt & Whitney salos grew 8% organicaily, refiecting higner military,
commercial OEM, and commercial altermarket saies Callins Asrospace
Systems grow 632 organcally, dnven by hikgher commercial aftermarkot
and miitary saes, partaly offset by lower commiciCial acrospace
OEM sales. Organic sales growth of 576 at Otis reflects higher service
salns, drven by ioad-based growth across ail regions. and higher
new equiment sales driven by growtn in Asia. Carner sales grew 102
organicaly, drven by migher commercial and residential HVAG sales.
The 12% incroase in Acquishans and divastiturss, rat prmanly sefiects
Ihe Increase N sales altributed 10 the Rockwel! Acquisition,

All four segments expanenced organi Sales growthy dunng
2018. Pratt & Whithey sales grew 1494 organcally. reflecting higher
cornmercial atermarket, commercial QEM. ancl military sales. Collins
Acrospace Systors graw 8% organically, diven By higher commercial
aftermarket and miltary salgs. anct higher commearcial OEM salgs
Organic sales growth of 87: at Carner was dreven Dy growtn in Norh
Amerca residenta. HYAC, global commercial HYAC, and transport
retngacation sales Ots salas grew 3% arganically, reflecting hugher
serice sales in North Amerca and Asia, and higher new cauiprment
sales N Europe. Asia excluting China, and North Amenca, partially
offset by a declne in China.

Cost of Products and Services Sold

R TR 2019 | ey ESEl
Total ¢cost of products and services sold $ 57,065 | § 49985 !‘ $ 44,201
Frorfentalt Changs yBar-over vear 14% 1 130, [

The lactors contribbuling to the total percentage change yoar-ovor-
year N total cosl of products and seraces sold are as foliows:

2019 |
Organic volume 5 %—[ P ‘
Forarin currency ranslation {1)% 101
Acqgisitions and divestitures, net 1% 1% i\
Other (1)% o,
Total % Change 14 % 13%




The organic increase n fofal cost of products and services soid
n 2015 was primanty driven by the organic sales increases noted
above. The 1%, increase ' Acquisitons and dvestitures, net primarniy
reflects the ncreasa vy cost of oroducts and senaces sold atfributed
to the Rockwe! Acquisition, The 174 dechne in Oither nnrmanky rafiocts
the atxsence of a pror year customer contract setterrent at Pratt &
Whidney i1 a0

Tre organic increase N total cost of products and seraces sold N
20118 was pritmarnly driven by the organic sales increases naled above
Tne 275 1crease in Otier pnmanly refects the impact of the adootion of
the: New Revenue Standard 1% and a custormaer contract settierment
at Pratt & Whitney (17, partially offset by the absence of a pror year
customer contract matter at Pratt & Whitney,

Gross Margin

2019 .
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Research and Development

L rea 2019, - S
Company-funded $3,015] § 2462 | § 2427 |
Fasgantage of net sales 3.9% | T a1
Customer-funded $ 2,283L $ 15617 | $ 1514 |
Fer.antige o not sales 3.0% 24 S

Gross margin $ 19,981 | § 16,516 | $ 15636

Percentige o net sales 25.9% A5 21

The 110 basis ponl INcrease in gross margin as a percentage of
sales in 2019, includes a 230 basis point increase at Collins Aerospace
Systons drven by higher commercial atermarket volumes and cost
iecuction, partiatly offset by adverse commercial OEM nrix. Pralt &
Whilney's gross margin sncreased 120 basis pomnts primarlly reflecting
continued year-aver-year ost reducton and favoranie mix on large
commercid engineg shipments. Gross margin at Olis .nereased 30 basis
pomnts targely driven by favorable service contnbution, These increases
wore partially offset by a 30 basis pont declne in Carnar's gross margin
primarily crvon by unfavorable mix, the absence of a faveranle pnor year
confract adjusiment reiated 1o a large cormmeraial progct at Carrier. and
the unfaverahle year-over-year impact resulling from the revalualion of
certain long-tenm habilites.

The 130 basis pant docrease 1 gross margin as a percentage of
sales n 2018, includes a 300 basis pont dechng o Pratt & Whitney's
gross margn drven oy the unlavorabie year-over-year impact of
custontar conlract matters and higher negative engine margin from
higher engine delivenes Colling Aerospace Syslemns’ gross margin
deckined 40 basis points as the benefits of higher commercial
aftermarket volumes and cost reduction were more than olfsct Dy
adverse commercras OENM and nulitary OEM smix, and higher warranty
expense. Gross margn at Ots declned 140 basis points iargery drven
by unfavorable prce and mix, prmarily in China. These dechnes were
partially offset by a 40 basis pont increase in Carner's gross marygn as
favorable pricing and the favorable year-over-year impact of contract
adjusiments related to a large commercial project and a prar year
product recall program were partially offset by noreased commodihcs
and logishes costs.,

Raesearch and dovolopment spending 1$ subject (o the vanablo
nature of program development schedules and, therefore, year-over-
year varabons in spencng levels are expected. The maorty of the
company-iunded spending 15 incurred by the aerospace businesses
and retates fargely to the next gencration engine product famiy at
Pratt & Whitney and systems bong develoned to support new awrcraft
and other program nboductions at Colkns Aerospace Systermnss. In
2019, company-funded rescarch and developrment increased 22%
over the prior year. This mcrease was prmarly driven by the impact
of the Rockwell Acguisiton {1871 Excluding this impacl. an increase
I company -lunded research and development at Colling Acrospace
Systams (3%} was driven by higher spenct acress vanous CommorCial
programs, Company -fundad research and developmeont expense al
Pratt &Whitney also increased [2%) driven by nigher spend across
vanous commerciai programs partially offset by a decling n miitary
program spend.

Customer-funded rascarch and dovelopment increased 50%
over the pror yaar, pnimarily roflectay the mpact of the Rockwedl
Acauisition {33%:). Excluding this impact. customer-funded rescarch and
developmont declined year-over-year as a decrease at Pralt & Whitney
13260 prmanly driven by lowor research and developmearnt expenses on
mibtary development programs, was partially offsel by an increase at
Colins Aerospace Systems [274), prmanty driven by higher expenses on
various nlitary development programis.

in 2018, company-funded rescarch and development increased
194 quer the prior year, This increase was primanly driven by Golling
Aorospace Syslems (1 %) as nigher spend across varous Gommercial
programs was largely offset by the dedarral of certam dovelopmeant
costs as contract fulfillment costs in accordance wilh the New Ravenue
Standard. Company -tunded resoarch and development expensa al
Pratt & Whitney was consistont with the prior year.

Customer funded rescarch and development in 2018 was
consistenl with 2017, as a deorease at Colling Aerospace Systems.
primarily driven by the deferal of certan development costs as contract
fulfilment costs in accordance with the New Revenue Standard. was
offset by an increase at Pratt & Whitney. primariy driven by higher
rescarch and development expenses on military doveiopment programs.

Selling, General and Administrative

e it 209 | e wor
Sellreg, general and acdministrative $ 8521 % 70661 % 5429 I
Paicentage of net sales 11.1% R I [ '
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Seling, general and admirestrative expenses increased 217 in
2019, This increase primarily reflects the impact of incremental sellng,
general and administrative expenses resulting from the Rockwell
Acguisition (9%}, costs associated with the Company’s infention to
separate its commercial businesses (8%:), and costs associated with
the Raytheon merger (1%}, In adaition. 2019 reflects higher expenscs
at Pratt & Whitney (1) dnven by increased headcount and ecmployce
compensation reialed expenses and costs 10 Support highar volumes
as well as huigher restructunng costs: higher expenses at Coling
Aerospace Systerns (120} prmatily driven by increased headcount
and employee compensalion related axpenscs partially offset by
synergy capture relatea to the Rockwell Acqusition: ighor expenses
at Otis (1 70} resulting from: Fegher labor and wiformation technology
cost: and an increase at Carner (176) primaniy drven by higher costs
related to productivity initiaives and nigher employee cormpensation
reialed expenses.

Seling. general and administrative expenses ncreased 10% n
2018, but decreased 10 basis points as a percentage of nelt salcs
The ncrease reficcts the impact of incremental selling. general and
administrative expenses resulting from the acquisition of Rockwell
Caoling (1%), In addibon, 2018 reflectls higher oxpenses at Colling
Aeraspace Systems (3%) pnmarly doven by increased heaccount and

enployee compensation relaled expenses; an increase al Carmer (2
primantly drven by employes compensabion related expenses: higher
expenses at Pralt & Whiiney (17%)] criven by increased headoount
and employee compensation relaled expenses and costs o support
higher volumes; andt higher expenses at Offs (1 7 resulting frorm
Pigner labor and informaton leehnelogy costs. The remaning increase
ncludes transachon costs related 1o the acquisihion of Rockwell Cokng
and the proposed separation of our commercial businesses INto
mdependent entities

We arg continuously cvalualng cur cost structurs and have
mmplemented restructunng actions as a method of keepmg our cost
structdre compatilive, As approprate, the amourits retlecied above
ncluge the banelicial mpact of restructanng actions on Salling. goneral
and administralive exponses. See Note 13 "Restruclunng Costs”
and the "Restructunng Costs” section of "Managemernt's Discussion
and Analysis of Finanaal Condition and Results of Oparations™ for
funther discussion

Cther Income, Net

. S MV N 2019 PREAE
Other income, net $ 65213 1565

$ 1,358 |

Gther meome, net mciudes the operational impact of eguty
carmnings in unconsolidated entitics. royally inconre. {oraign exchange
gains and losses as well as other ongoing and infrequently occurmng
ilems, In 2019, the year-over-year decrease 10 Other income, net (87%)
primarily reflects the absence of the prior year gan on the sale of Taytor
Company (5174, the impairment of an nvestment at Camer (7%, and
the net unfavorabie year-over-year impact of foragn exchange gains and
lasses 15%a).
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In 2018, the year-over-year ncrease i Other income, net (157
is prmarily driven by the gan on the sale of Taylor Company {59%),
partially oftsel by the absence of a prior year gain from the sale of
Carniar's investments in Watsco, Inc. (28%), lower year-over-yoar gains
on the sale of secunties (1146}, an impairment of assets related to a
previcusly acquired Colling Acrospace Systems business (476) and the
absence of a pror year gan on the sale of a Carner business (2%}

)

Interest Expense, Net

N 2018 | o T
Interest expense $ 1,773 E $ 1,225
irver WO (162” B 57
nterest ex;;e‘r;s—e, net $ 1,611 $ 1036
Averigye nyle est expel ite .
akitstanclig Lorrowing s during |
Short-term borowings 19% | 18% | 11%
Tarat det 37% : 28" A
Average interesl expense rate - outstanding
borrowings as of December 31: i
Short teem boerowmgs 31% ; 12, ra
Totai debt 37% | 3.5% |  35%

Interast expanse. net ncreased 557, 1 2019 asg compared wih
2018, The ncrease in interest expense crimaniy reficcts interest an
debt acqurad from the Bockwel Cotling acguisidion and 1he impact
of the August 18, 2018 issuance of notes representing $11 bithion '
agyregale principal The average matunty of our long-term debtl at
Docember 31, 201018 approximately 10 years. The decrease niinteros!
ncome i 2013 as comparad 1o 2018 pomarny reflects the absence
of interest earned on higher cash balances hald in the oror year in
dubver e Of tundding 1he Nociescl Acguisition.,

Interest expense, net increased 4% 1 2018 as compared »wih
2017 Tne ngreasc in ntorast exponse reflects tho smpact of e
August 16, 2018 ssuance of notes representng 311 ollion in agyregatc
orincipal; the May 4, 201 7 issuance of notes represent g 4 oilion
N aggregate principal. and the May 18, 2018 1ssuance of Euro-
denominated notes representing €2 billon in aggregale principal. These
nereases were partially offset by the favorabie impact of the repaymaent
at matunty of the following: 1.8002: notes in June 2017 reprasenting
31,5 bidion n aggregate pnncipal, the 6.8% notes in Febryary 20158
representing $99 mition of aggregate principal; the Furo-dencminated
floating rate: notes in February 2018 represenling €750 rmulhon in
agaregate principal; and the 1.778%: notes in May 2018 representing
51.1 bilhon of aggregate principal. The average maturity of our long-term
debt at December 31, 2018 is approximately 11 years.

Tne 11 pilion in aggregate principal amount of notes ssued on
August 16, 2018 was primarily used o fund the cash consideration
N the acquisiion of Rockwell Colins and related fecs. expenses and
other armrounts. The increase N interest income 1 2018 as compared
with 2017 primariy roflects interest carned on higher cash balancos,
including nterest earned on cash from the $%1 bitlion of notes 1ssued
and held prios to tunding the Bockwell Acquisition.



The year ovor-year increase n the average interest expense rate
tor short-tenm borrowings was primarnly driven Dy ncreased Dorowings
under our termr credt agreement. In 2018, the year-over-year incredse
in the average interest expense rate for short-term harrowings ~as
primanty driven by increases in LIBOR rates.

Income Taxes

2018 )
27.8% | 31.7% |

Effective income tax rate 36.6% |

The 2019 cffective tax rate ncludes $729 mithon of ncome
tax charges associated with the Company s porttalio separation
transactions. offset in part by amounts assocated with the conclusion
of the audit by the Examnation Divsion of the Internal Revenue Service
for the UTC 2014, 2015 and 2016 tax years, the filng by a subsidary of
the Company to participate in an amnesty program offered oy the laian
Tax Autnarty.

On December 22, 2017 Public Law 115 97 “An Act to Frovide for
Reconcliation Pursuant to Titles It and vV of the Concurrent Rosolution
on the Budaget for Fiscal Yoar 20187 was cnacted. Thes law 15 commaonly
referred to as the Tax Culs and Jobs Act of 2017 (TCJAL

The 2018 effective tax rate reflects a net charge of $744 millon of
TCJA related adiustmoents . The amcunt primarly relates to accounting
completea under SAB 118 for non-U.S. taxes that wil become due
when proviousy rainvested earnings of certam miternational subsidianes
are remitted.

The 20317 eftective tax rata reflects a tax charge of 5680 rmlion
altrbutable to the passaye of the TCJA, This amount relates o U.S
neome tax attributable to proviously undistnbuled sarmings of UTC's
international sunsicianes and coulty vestrrents, net of forexgn tax
credits, ano the revaluation of LS. daterred ncome taxes

The cffective Incoime tax tate for 2017 also ncludes tax beneflits
associated wiln lower tax rates on internationa earmings and the

xpration of stalutes of mytatcns durng 2017 resuiled .noa favoranic
adgustmcnt ot $55 rolan largely offsct by the unfavorable impact olatect
to a retreactive Quebec lax iaw change

For additionat discussion at income taxes and the effective income
tax rate, see "Cnitical Accounting tstimates — Income Taxes™ and
Note 11 to the Consalidated Financial Statements,

MNet Income Attributable to Comman Shareowners from
Continuing Operations

R I N TS e - W

Net income from oontmufng operations annbulable
o common shareowners

2019 | T

35,537'$5269|$4552‘

e =hoee froe H
. ,

HENs $ 641135 550

Chluterd 2crmmges
continling ¢

To help nutigate the velatiity of foraign currency exchange rates on
our operating resulls, we manian foreign currency hedgmg programs.
the majonty of which are entered inte Dy Pratl & Whilney Ganada
{P&WCY In 2019, foreign currency, including hedging at PAWC, had a
tavorahle iImpact on our consolidated operationa: resulls of 30.06 per
dilutes share. In 2018, foreign currency, including hedging at PEWC,

Management's Discussion and Analysis

had a favoraple impact on our consclidated operational resuits of
30.02 per abluted sharz. In 2017, foreign currency. Including hedging
at P&WGC, had a favorable impact on our cansolidated operational
results of 30,13 per diduted share, For additonal discuss:on of foreign
currency exposure, sec "Market Risk and Risk Management —Foreign
Currency Exposures.”

Net income front continueng operatons attrbutable to commaon
shareowners for the year endad December 31, 2019 includes
-cetructuring charges. net of tax penefit. ot $317 mutian ($425 miilon
pro-taxs as well as a
of NONreCLmag items, inciuding the impact of taxes. of $1.282 mullion,
Norn-operational and/'or nonrecurrng items primarily include costs
associated with the Company s infention to separate 1S commercial
businesses, amotization of an inventory far value adjustrrent
associated with the Rockwell Acquisition. an imparment of an
nvestment, fransaction expenses asscoiated with the Raytheon Merger.,
penaion curtaiment costs, and transaction and integration costs related
to the Rockwell Acquisition. The effoct of restructunng charges and

net cnarge for signihcant non oparat-onal and:

nonrecadring items on diuted earnings per share for the year cnoed
December 31, 2018 was a charye of $1.85 per shaio.

Net income from contnuing operations attrbutable to comimon
shareowners for the year encled December 31, 2018 includes
restructuring charges, not of tax benefit, of $228 milicn ($307 milion
pre-tax) as weli as a net charge for sigmiticant non operat.onal and’
or nonrecurnng items, mclucing the impact of taxes, of 3668 millon
Non-operational and:or nonrecurnng items includs a tax charge m
conncchion with the passage of the TCJA as descnbed in Note 11
and the unfavorable impact of a customer contract matter at Pratt &
Whitnay, partially offset by a gain on Carrier's sale of Taylor Compary,
The effect of restructunng charges and nonrecurnng items on diluted
earnings per share for 1he yoar ended December 31, 2018 was a
charge of $1.11 per share.

Net income from continung cparations attnbutable 10 common
sharcowners for the year ended December 31, 2017 includes
restructunng charges. net of tax benefit, of $176 millon (3253 milon
pre-tax) as wail as the net unfavorable mpact of significant non-
operational and:or nonrecurnng Hems, net of lax, of $587 millon
NMor operatanal and/or nonrecurring tems Include a1 tax charge n
connoction with the passage of the TCJA as descrbed in Note 11, the
unfavarable impact of cuslomer conlract matters at Pratt & Whitney.
and the unfavorable impact of a product recall program at Carner,
partiatly offsat by gans resuiting trom Carrter's saie of its investrmeants in
Watsco, Inc, The effect of restruclunng charges and nonrecurring iterns
on diluted carmings per share for 2017 was a charge of $0.95 por share.

AESTRUCTURING COSTS

L s 219, sl o
$d28 | $307 ] § 253 |

Restructuring costs

Rostructuring actions are an essenlial component of our operating
margin improvement efforts and relate to existing and recently acquired
cperations. Charges generally arise from severance related (o worklorce
reductions, facllity exit and lease termnalion costs associated with
the consalidation of frefd and manufactunng operations and costs 10
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oxit legacy programs. We contnue to closely montor the economic
environment and may undertake further restructuring actions to
keep aur cost struclure algned with the demands of the prevaiing
market conditions.

2019 Actions. During 2019, we recorded net pre-tax restructuring
charges ot 3321 muilion relanng to angong cost reduction actions
nitaled 10 2019, We are targeting to complete 1n 2020 and 2021 the
maonty of the remamng workforee and facity related cost reduction
achons mitaled in 2019, Approximately 90%, of the total pre-tax charge
wilt requere cash payments. which we have funded and expect to
continue to fund with cash generated from operations. Durng 2019,
we had cash outfiows of approximataly $199 mullion refated to the 2019
actions, We expect to ncur addibonal rostruclunng and otner charges
of $123 milon to complete these actions. We expect recurmng pre-tax
sasings ta ncraase over the twao-vear penod subsequent to intiating the
actions 10 approximately $389 millon annually, of which, approximalely
5125 million was reahzed in 2019

SEGMENT REVIEW

2018 Actions. Dunng 2018 and 2018, wo recorded net pre-tax
restructuring charges of $46 millkon and $207 million, respectively, for
achions niiated n 2018, We are targeting to complete in 2020 the
maority of the remaining workforce and all facility refated cost reduction
actions initiated i 2018, Approximately 96°: of the total pre-tax charge
will requre cash payments, which we have and expect 1o continue to
fund with cash generated from operations. Dunng 2019, we had cash
outflows of approximately 5143 milkon relatoed to the 2018 actions, We
expect 10 ncur additional restruciunng charges of 55 milion to complete
these actions. We expect recurming pre-tax savings 1o increase over the
hwo-year periad subsequent to initiating the actions to approximatoly
$260 milfion annually

In addition. during 209, we recorded net pre-tax restructuling
costs totabing $58 million for restructunng actons intated in 2017 and
pricr For additionar discussion of rastructuring. soe Note 13 to the
Consolidated Financal Statements

Net Sales Operatlng P'rof:ls . Operating Profit Margin

G i 2010 sl i Coote | e s | ' 2019 | ERIrES
Otig $1313] $ 12.904; $ 12341 § 194&] s 1915T S2002] 149% | 148%]  162% |
Carnct 18,608 . 1 1T ‘ 2,697 | 57 ERIS 14.5% RN 1V
Pratt & Whitney 20,802 19.397 | 6,160 1,668 E 1.269 } 1,300 8.0% \ 6.5% 8.0%
Collns A spane Sviters 26,028 ; 1A 1o 4,100 | 2,303 ERE I 15.8% | 158" | 140,
Total segment Teeat | Gr.esT 61,004 10, 413T 9, zaﬂ 8Gs8 | 132% |  13.7%
Elrwriaiticns aod other (1,595)5 : S RIS TP (832) - . 51 i i
General corporate expenses - I 475¥ (439% | |
oo B B $ 77,046 ° $ 8966, 35553. 5813 11.6% 129,

Commercial Businesses

The inancial pertarmance of our commercial businesses can be
nfluenced Dy a number of external factors sncluding fluctaations in
ragideritial and commerc.ar constructon achvity, reguiatory changes
interast rates, abor costs, foreign currency exchange rates, customer
altr bon. raw matenal and energy costs. credit markets and other

globa and polticat factors. Carrier's financiat porformance can also be
influenced oy production and utihzation of transport eguipmenl. and
weather conditions for its residential busingss. Gaographic and industry
dwersity across the commercial businesses help to balance the impact
of such factors on our consohdated operating resuits, parbcularty 1y

tha face of uneven ceonamic growth At constant currancy, Otis naw
eguipment orders were consistent with the prior year as order growtn

I Asia 135} and Europe {2753 was offsot Dy dechnes in North Amenca
13%) and the Middle East (Z07%s;. AL canstant currency and excluding
g effoct of acguwsitions and divaestturas, Carrler cguipment orders for
2019 decreased 8% 0 comparnson to 20718 dnven by a dechne i global
refngeration (323 Globar HYAG and fire & secunty products eguipment
ordlers for 2019 were consistent with the prior year,
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Total commercial DUSNCSs saes generalad outsile the LS.
neluding ULS expont sales, wiere 61% and 6220 11 2019 and 201 8.
reapectivaly The fullowing talble shows sales generated outaide
the U.S.. including (1.8, export sales, for cach of tne commercial
bus.ness scgmoenis:

2018 ¢ P
Otis 73% | 73%
Loarngr 52% , [

Otis 15 the world's largest elovator and escalator manutaciuring
nstalation and senace company. Otis designs, manufactures, sells
and mnstalls a wide range of passenger and freight elevators as wall as
escalators and moving walkways. in additicn 1o new equipment. Otis
provides modernizaton products to upgrade elovators and escalatcrs
as well as mantenance and repar services for both ds products and
Ihose of other manufacturers. Otis serves custumers i the commercial.
residential and infrastructure propery sectors around the world, Ots
selis diract and through sales reoresentatives and distnbutars
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2019 Compared with 2018 z

Ty - PR RS w2t
Net Sales $ 13,113 $12904‘ $12341| $ 209 2% $ 563 | 5% |
S of Sules 9,291 ¢ ERD X< P 99 1% Dl P
see| a712] 5729 | ]
- 1,874 1,790 1020 :
Operating Profits. $ 1048] 5 1915] & so002] § 33| 2% $ 7] 4% |
N T 772019 ) - o - -
o 77’;;:’! ) aisiiuifﬁ anratif\g ’ -‘.-,:l i i P LR
Sales Sales : Proftits ERICH i =
Organic / Operational 5% 5% | 4% | A% 1% |
Feusmr surenc, i {3)% ()% {4}% ! 170 To i Ea
Restruciuring costs - — I 1% I - 1 — ‘ (1% i
tthe - - ! 1% [ 1 AT
Totat % change o e 2% 1% | 2% | 5% | 7% | )% |

2019 Compared voth 2018
The organic salgs ncrease of 3% pnmarily reflects higher service sales
{375 dniven by broad-based growth across all regions. and higner new
equipment saies (2*) driven by growth in Asa

The operatonal proft Increase of 3% was drvon by

s margin contnbution from the figher sales volumes nofed
above (E70)

& tavorabie pnce and mix {29

e favorable productivity [19)

These nereases were partially offset by:

* highor sching. genoral and admiristrate exponses (450

s unfavorable ransactional 1oreign exchange gans and tossas frorm
mark-10-markel adjusiments and embectded foreign currency
dlenvatives wathin certan new equipmient contracts (170)

2018 Compared vith 2017
Tne organic sales increase of 37 primarly raflects higher service sales
1240}, driven by growth in North /\mer ca and Asia, and higher new

equipment sales (192 drnven by growth 0 Europe, Asia excluding China.

and Nodh Arnenca (combined, 27
China {175},

1, partially offsct by a deching in

The operatonal profit decroase of 4% was drven Oy:

e unfavorable pnce and Mix (§%). primarily n China

e higher seling. general and administratve expenses and research
anct development costs (37

» Lnfavorable commodity cosls (250

» unfavorable fransactional foreign exchange from mar<-1o-market
acjustmeants (1%)

These decreases were partially offsot by:

* prohl contnbution from the highe 3 voidmes noted above (874)

o favorable productvity (270)

Carrier is a loading provicer of heating, ventilalng, arr conditioring
{HVAC), refngeraton, B, secuily, and Duilding automation preducts,
salutons, and services for commercial, governrment, ntrastructure, and
residentar property applhcatons and refngaration and tranaportation
applcatons. Cartier pravides a wide range of bulding systems,
ncluding cooling. heahiry, ventilahion, refhgeraton, fre, flame, gas,
and smoke detechon, pertalle hre extnguishers. fire suppression,
intruder alarms. access conlrol systemns. wdeo surverllance, and building
cuntrol systems. Carer also provides a hroad array of refated bulding
services, including audt, design, nstallation. system integrat-on., repair,
mantenance, and manitanng senvices. Carner also provides refngeration
and monitorng products and solutans to the ransport industry
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Te Ll o=

LA T s ois | TaceT T2019 Gompared with 2018 |
Net Sales $ 19608 | & 18922 | 5 17812] & (314 2% l
Cost o Sales 13,180 1. T 12630 {157) {1)% *
T 5428 5585  5.182
Operatig Expenses and Other 2,731 1.808 o 2,017 B ;
Operating Profits $ 2697 § 37771 5 3165] $ (1,080  @9)% | $ 612 19%

It T

" 2018 !

" Net!  Costof | Operating Ir

Sales IL Sales Profits | - |

Organic / Gperational 19% | 29 | 1% | 6% |
Forcian cuncency translation {2)% {2)% 1)% - :
Acquisitions and divestitures, net % % "% (% |
Resfruciunng ©osts - ! - (1% - - e
Other - - S I VS W I B 1%
Total b chatuge - 2% , % | (29)% ) ol h 1590, !

2019 Compared with 2018
The organic sales iIncrease of 17 was prinanty drven by growth n
cormmercal and residontial HVAG (1%, comomed) Sales in global fire &
secunly and global refagarabon were consistant with the prior year,

Operatonal profit decreasaed 2™ 0 comnanson 1o tne prior year
as the favorable impact of pricng and productnaty net of unfavorable
cormmoddics and tanffs {42, combmed were more than oftset by lower
volurme and unfavorable rmix 13%), tng absence of a favorable pnor year
conf-act adiustment related to a large commercial proect 1141 and
the unfavorable yomr-over-yearimpact resulting from the sovaluation of
certan long-term habihbes (170

[ne 247 decrease in Olhor winnanly reflects the absence of the
pror yedr gan on the sale of Taylor Companyy (217} and a current-year
sparrrent of an mvestment (37s).

2018 Compared wilh 2017
Tne organic sales Ingrease of 57 was dhven prmanly Dy growth in
North Amerca residantial HYAC {24, global commeraial HVAC (274
and global refngeration (275),

The operational proff increase of 87, was driven by

* profit contribution from the higher salcs volumaes noted above. net
af mix (G570}

= ihG year-over-year ympact of conlract adpsiments related fo a
large commercial project {39)

* favorabie pricing, net of cornmocdities (274)

These increases were partially offset by:

* Nigher logistics cosls (3%0)
* higher research and development ¢osts (17%)

The 13% mncreage in Other prmarily reflocts the year-over-yaar
wnpact of gains on sale of busnesses and mvestments (11720, primarily
driveny by the sale of Taylor Company in 2018 (257, partially offscl by
the absence of the prior year sale of investments in Watsco, Ing. (12%),
The remaining increasae 1n Other s largely driven by the year-over-year
impact of a pnar year product recall program {2 1a).
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Aerospace Businesses
The financial porformance of Pratt & Whitney and Collins Asrospace
Systoms s drectly hed (o the cconcmic condiions ol 1ha conmeroial
aerospace and defense aerospace industnies. in particular, Pratt &
Whntnay experiences intense compatition for new commoroa anrame:’
engine comiznations. Eaging supphers may offer substantal ciscounts
and other Iinancial incentves. performance and operating cost
guarantees, and partcipate in financing arrangermenis in an effort to
compelds for the aftermarket assocated with these engine sales. Thesc
OEM enagine saies may result inlosses on the engine saics, which
economically arc recovered through the sales and profils generated over
the Qngme'g maintenance cycle. At imes Ine Acrospace husmicsses
aiso enter o development pragrams and hnm hixod-proe development
contracts. which May reguire the company 1o tear cost overrung related
to unforescen technical and design chailenges that anse during tho
doevaiooment stage of tne program. Customier selections of cngnes
and corm@onents can also have a sigrificant smpact on lahs 3ales of
parts and service Predhicled tratfic levols, toad factors. worldwide airne
orofits. genaral cconomic actvity and global datense spending Nave
been rehabile ndicators for now aircralt and aftormarket orders within the
aerospace mdustry. Spare part sales and aftermarket serace trends are
affected by many faclors. including usage. technological improvements,
nricing, regulatory changes and the retrement of oldoer arcraft. Our
commercial aftermarket busingsses continud 1o evolve as an ncraasing
proportion of our acrospace businesses” custamers are covered under
long-term aftermarke sensco agreements. Thase agreements are
comprehensive lony-term spare part and service agrecments with our
customers We expect a continued shift o long-term aftermarket service
agrooements inheu of fransachonal spare part sales as new asrospace
products enter our customers' fleets under iong-term aftermarket
service agreements and legacy fleels are retired. In 2019, as comparcd
with 2018, total commercial acrospace ateormarket sales increasad
2% at Pratt & Whitney and 83% at Colline Acrogpace Systems, or 147
excluding the impact of the Rockwell Acquisition.

QOur long-term acrospace contracts are subject to strct safety and
performance regulations which can aftect our ability (o estimate costs
preciscly. Contract cost estimation for the development of complex



orojecls, in parbcularn. reguires managearment 1o maxe aignificant
judgments and assumptions regarang the cormpléexty of the work to be
porformedd, avadabiily of materials, the performance by subcontractors.,
the hrming of funding from customers and the length of time to corrplele
the: contract As a result. we review and update cur cost estimates on
significant contracts on a guarerly oasis. and no less frequently than
annualy 1o all others, and when crcumstances change and warrant a
modificaion o a provicus estimate Changes in estimates relate to the
current pensd mpact of rews.ons 1o total eshmated contract sales and
costs al complehon, We record changes in contract astmates pamanty
Jdsing the cumulatve caten-up metnod  Ooerating profits incivcied net
unfavorable changes in aerospace conbract estimates of approximately
69 million, $20 millon and $110 milkon 0 2019, 2018 and 2017,
espoectively. prmanty the resuit of unexpected increases In estimated
cosls relaled to Pratt & Whilney long-lerm aftermarket agreements.
In accordance with Qur revenue recogrilion poilcy, lossas. 4 any. on
‘'ong-term coniracts are providad for when anticrpated. There wore
no material }ass provis.ons recordacd sn continuing operatons in 2019
or 2018

Perforrmance in the general aviakon sector 5 closaly ted to the
overall healtn of the economy. We continue 1o sce grow!n in a shong
commarcia arine ndustny. Asline trafic, as moasured by revenue
passengar miles (RPMs), grew approximately 47 nthe first cicven
months of 2019

Our miltary sales are affected by LS. Deparimant of Defense:
spending levels Tolal sales 1o the U S Government wate $10.6 billion
n2019, 57 4 biienin 2018, and 35.8 pion in 2017, and were 14%
af total UTC sales 1 2019, and 1% 1 2018 and 10 in 2017, The
defense portion of our aerospace busmess 13 also aflecied by changes

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

in marxet demand and the globa politcal envarcnment. Our parb.cipatan
i1 long-term production and develooment programs for the U.S.
Government has contributed positively to our results in 2019 and 15
expacled to continue 10 benefit resuits n 2020,

Coling Acrospace Syslems prowvides slandard and selectable
cantent 1o Boeing for s 73 MAX arcraft inciuding standard avioncs,
cockpit fignt displays. and cabin interior products, in March 2019,
aviation aulhorties suspended woridwede operations of the Boaing 737
MAX Haat, In January 2020, Booing announced that it expects the fleet
to remain grounded untl md-2C20. In addit on, Boeing announced the
temporary suspension of 737 MAX prodtuction The Company has mace
vancus investments m support of content for the 737 MAX which we
curenty expect lo recover despile Ihese deiays in the produchon and
operation of the flect

Pratt & Whitney is among the world's leading suppliers of arcraft
engines for the commaraal, miliary, business jet and general aviation
markcts Pratl & Whitney provides flest managamenl Sensces and
aftermarket maintenance, repar and overnaul senvices. Pralt & Whitney
produces and deveiops familios of arge engines for wacke- and narrow-
beay and large regienal aircraft i the caommercial imarket and far fighter
bomber, tanker and transport arcraft in the mikiasy markel. PAWC s
ameng the world's leading suppliors of engines powering genarat and
business aviation. as well as regional arline. utiity and miltary arplancs.
and helicoptars, Pratt 8 Whitnay and PEWC also produce. sell ana
service auxlary power units for commercial and imiitary arcrait, Pratl &
Whatnoy's products are sold principally 10 arcraft manufaciurers, arings
and other arcrall operators, arcraft leasng companies and the LS. and
foreign governments

|
- =

B . 2019 i The E Tt Zoagrbo;;ared with 20187, K "

Net Sales $ 20892 | 519307 | 516360 | $ 1495 8% | § 32971

G« 17,201 1 5301 13,565 4 990 6% ! AP0s 0 OR
S o ) aeot| aoee| =087 l [ I ]
Opwrating Fxg 1,933 ¢ 1820 i s ) '

Operating Profis - 16681 5 1060 & 1300 & 399 31w | 5 @l 2% |

Foact ks il
) 2019
Nét ' Cost-uf i’ _6pera_ﬁng . ! L0 3T
Sales Sales ! Profits ' »

Crgaric” / Operational’ 8% | 8% | 1ew| 4% | 17% | 8% |
Furergn cupency anciuding PG net badoingy’ - : — {(1)% . — 1. :
Acquisitions and divestitures. net - I - l ()% E - } - | -
Rastaicturmg st - - , {11}% i - 1
Pthar o - | &% %] 6% 7% 5% |
Torl * chaige 8% 6 % | 31 % 20, e N7

at g tesalts
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2019 Compared with 2018
The organic sales growth of 8% primanly reflects higher mitary sales
{50}, highar commiercial OF N sales (3%}, and higher cormercial
aftermarket sales (1%).

The operational profit ncrease of 182 was primarily driven by:

e Nigher military margin contributicn (13%). drven by the sales
increase noted above

¢ nigher OEM margin contribution {1126} pdmanly drven by
continued year-over-year cost reduchon and favorable mix on
large commercial enging shipments

These iIncreases were partially offset by

* higher research and deveiopment costs ()
s higher seling. gencral and adrministratve expenses (37

The 26% noreasc in "Cither ™ primarity reflects the absence of a
prior year customer contract settlerment

2018 Compared with 2017
The organic saics increase of 14-5 pamarily refiects higher commercial
aftermarket sales (6%, Migher commercial OEM sates (5 75 and
increascod mibtary salkes (3%:). The 6% increase 0 Other primanly refects
the imnact of the adophon of the New Rovenue Standard o1 and the
apsence of a puor year customer contract matter 127«

The operational proft decreasc of 895 was primanly dnven oy

& loweer commercial OEM pioht contebuton (277.) prananly dnee
by higher negative engine margin on hughar detvenes

= hugher seling. generas and admeustrative oxpenses (&)

= tha albsonce of the faunrable mpact from & pror year license
agrearmant (49%;)

& fighar rosadreh and development Costs (-

Those decraases were partially offsel by

e nigher cemmeraal aftermarket profit contrution 123%), drven by
e sales increase noled apove

» higher miblary profit contrbution ($42), driven by the sales ncrease
noted above

The 520 increase in Other pnmanly ceflects the favorable impact
resulting from the adoption of the New Revenue Standard (13%)
partially offset by the unfavorable year-over-yaar impact of conlract
sctilements (8¢)

Collins Aerospace Systems 1$ a leading global prowdar
ol technologically advanced acrospace products and aftermarket
sonvice solubons for arcraft manufactrers, arlines, regonal. business
and general avialion markets, military and space operahons, Goling
Acrospace Systemns’ product portfoho maludes clectne power
generalon, power management and distnbulion systems, air data
and arcraft sensing systems, angine controt systems, intelligence,
survellance and reconnaissance systems, engine components,
environmental control systems. fire and ice detection and protection
systerms. propeller systems. engine nacelle systems, ncluding tnrust
raversers and mountng pylons, interior and extenor aircraft lighting,
arcraft sealing and cargo systems. actuaton sysloms, landing systoms,
including landing gear and wheels and brakes. space products and
subsystems. integrated aviones systemis. precision targeting. electionic
warfare and range and traning systems. fight controls, communications
sysloms, aavigation systems. oxygen syslems, simulation aind
training sysiems, food and Beverage preparation, storage and galley
svstams, tavatory and waslewater management systems. Colins
Aerospace Syslems also designs, produces and supeons cabmm
nteror. communications and aviation systerns and products and
provcles iInformaton management senices through voice and data
communicaton networks and solulions worldwide, Altermarket senvcos
nciddo spare pants. overhaul and repar. enginecnng and fecnnical
support, trainng and flieel manaagement solutions, and information
managernent seraces. Cuiling Acraspace Systema sclls acrospace
products and senaces o arcraft manufactarers, arlines and other

arcraft operators, the U S and foreign governments. maintenance.
repar and overhaul providers, and noopendont cistrbulors

Tt

2018 vy 217 | 2019 Compared with 2018 '

s e
$ ze,azeT $ 16634 | § 14,8917 $ 9,394 ] 56%

702 123w 1033 6,366 52% |

T 7,326 4.298‘ 3,853 | |

Operating Expens 3,226 1. 1,067 i

Operating Prcfits T T $ 4100 § 2303] § 2.191] $ 1,797 78% |

I e R A i
N )
" "Net Costof | Operating |
Sales ;  Sales Profits
Organic ¢ Cparationat 8% f 6% 7%
For=agn ~urreney tranalaten - {1)% 1% :
Acguisitions and divestitures, net 850% [ 46 % 83 %
Restactunng Lo -, - 3% L
Other ; S B 1. A% | - - % |
Toted ) change e T - B 56% 52% ,  T8% 13 14 s
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2019 Compared with 2018
The organic sales morease of 6% primanty reflects higher commercial
acrospace aftermarket sales 157z and higher miitary sales (27, partially
oflscl by iower commaeraa acrospace OEM sales [17:),

Thie operatonal pront nerease of 756 prmarly reflects:

* higher commersal aerospace margn contribulion 11072 driven oy
the commercal aftermarkel sales growth nated above. parbally
offset by loveer commeraial acrospace OEM margin contabution

* higher mulitary margin controution (401 driven By he saes growth
noted above

This increase was parhially offset by,

* nigher seling. general and administrative cxpenses (dist
* nigher research and development costs (3-of

2018 Compared with 2017
The crganic sales growth of 8% primanrly reflects higher commaercil
aftermarkot and millary sales (comiined, 61 and highar conmereal
aerospace OEM sales (274).

The incroase in coerational profit of 10%, prmanly refiects:

* fighot commercia aflermarkel and miitary profit contnbution
fcomined, 187 prmarly dnven by the cormmiercial allenmarket
sales growth noted above

s fugher commaroial acrospace CEM probit contnbution (3%a)

Theso ncroases woero partally offsct by,
* igher salling. genera, and adminishatng axpenses (750)
® higher warranty costs (7o)

Eliminations and other

Net Sales Qperating Profits
TV 2019 [RE - N
Eirmrations and other  § {1,595)] $ (1,356) | § (1,167)] § 832)] § (2361] & (81)
i \
;

i
|
|

Tae
£

Sprate !
i

{515)"  aTml a4,

Efirnmations and other reflocts the eiminaton of sales, other
ncome and oparaling profit transacted between scgments, as well as
the operating results of certan smaller busnesses. The year-Qvar-year
ncreasa in gales eliminations in 2019 as compared with 2018 reiflects
an increase i the amount of Infer-segment eliminations, principally
between our agrospace businesses. The year-over-year decrease in
operating profit for 2019 as compared with 2018, 15 prevanly driven
by costs associated wath the Company's intention 1o separale ils
commercial Dusinesses, costs assosiatad wiln the Raytheon merger,
and the absance of tha favorable smpact of prior year insurance
settlerments. partially cffsel by lower year-over-year cosls related to the
Rackweil Accuisiton.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL CONDITION

T = 2019§ s
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7378 i $ 6152 |
Total -ttt 43848 2302°
Net debt (total debl iss cash and cash equivalents] 36,270 | 39,985 |
Tl ooty 44,231 1 406
Total capralzation {ictal debt plus total equity} 87879 F 86,147

sapitaiizaton fhotal ok plus toral coairy |

1 stguAlEnts 80,501 Th g
Total debt to total caphalization 50% | 53%
Paixt et o net cepitaheatn 45% . 43

We assess our hqudity nterms of our ability 1o generale cash
to fund our operating. invest.ng and financing actilies, Our principal
source of iguichly 1s cparating cash flows from operations For
2010 owr cash fiows from operations, nel of capial expenditures
was 56.5 billion. The 2019 cash flows from operations reflect cash
payments associated with the Company's portfolio separation costs of
approximataly $400 mition. In addtion to operating cash flows, other
significant factors that affect cur overall management of iquudily include:
capital expendiures, cuslomer inancing reguircments, swvestments in
nusinesses, divdends. comimon stock mpurchases, pension funding.
aceess to the commercal paper markels. adequacy of availatle bank
ines of credit, redemptions ol debt ana e ability to att-act iong term
capital at salisfaciory toerms.

At Decembot 31, 2019, we had cash and cash eounaients of
$7 4 tilien, of which aporoximately 56°- was held by UTCs foregn
subsichanas. We manage our wortichade cash requircments by
reviewing avalable funds among the many subsichianes througn which
we conduct aur business and the cost effoctiveness with which hase
funds can be accessed. The Cormpany no longer intends 1o renvaost
certan undistnbuted earnings of (s nternationai subsidiaries that
have been previoushy taxed i the ULS) As such,in 2018 1t recorded
the internatonal taxes associated with the future rermittance of these
carnings. For the remainder of the Comuoany's undistriboted miternatond
sarnings. uniess lax effectve to repatnate, UTC wil continue to
permanently renvest these earmngs, Wae repatiated $1.6 woilion and
$6.2 bilon of overseas cash for the year ended December 31, 2019
and 2018. respectively.

On accasion, we are required to mantan cash deposits with certain
banks with respect o contractual olzigations related to acquisiions
or divestitures or other legal cbligatons, As of December 31, 2018,
2018 and 2017, the amount of such restricted cash was approximeatety
342 milhon, $66 mullon and 333 milion. respectyvaly.

On Novenibor 26, 2018, we complcted the acausition of Bockwell
Collins. The total aggregate conaideration payalsie in the Merger was
$15.5 bllion in cash ($14 9 billion net of cash acquired) and 62.2 million
shares of Company common stock. In addition, $7.8 bllion of Rockwell
Callins deot was outstanding as of he acquisition date. Refer to Nate 2
ot the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion on
the Rockwell Acquisiticn,
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Our domestic pension funds expenenced a positive return on
assels of 18.8% during 2018 and a negalive ratLim on assets of 5.1%;
durng 2018. Approxsmately 907 of thesc domestic pension plans'
funds are invested N readlily-liguid investments, including eguity, fixed
ncome, assct-backed recovables and slructured products Thea
balance of these domestic pension plans’ funds (107 s invested
N less-ficuid but market-valued mvestments, including real estate
and prvate scuily  As part of the Rockwell Colling acquisition on
Navember 26. 2018, we assumed approximately $3.7 tillien of
projected penson benefit obhigations and $3 2 hition of plan assets.

As part of our long-term strategy to de-nsk our defined benelt pensian
plans. we macie discrotionary contribulions of approximately $1.9 biian
10 our domestic defined benefit pension plans N 2017,

The funded status of cur defined benefit pension plang is
dependent upon many factors. including returng o INvested asseots,
the level of market mterest rales and actuanal moralty assumptons
We can contribute cash or UTC shares to our plans &t our discretian,
subject fo applicable regulations, As of Decernor 31, 2019, tha tolal
rvestment by the glehal defmhﬂ benefit DEHT:POU plans in the Cormpany's
securites was 0ss than 1 of tolal plan assets Qur qualied domestic
defined banoll pension plans ara approxm‘halely 99 fundled on a
orocled pencfit obiigation basis as of Decomber 31, 2019, and we are
not required 10 make addiliona: contriouhions trough the ena of 2625,
We expect fo make tolal contnbutons of approximatshy 5125 aullon 1o
our glchal defined beneht pension plans N 2020, Confnbutons 1o our
global dehinect benelil pension plans n 2020 are expacted ta mect or
axceed Ihe current funding requierrents.

Histancally, our strong debt ratngs and financial positon
have enapled us (o ssue fong-term debl at favorable markel rates
Our abiity 1o obtan debt financing or adatonal credit facklics at
comparanle nsk-dased mlorest rates s partly a function of our exishing
debl to-tolal-capitanzahon leves as wall as our credt § andmg Qur
debt ts-tofal-capiializaton decreased 300 pass ponts trom 537
at Decomibzer 31, 2018 to H0-¢ at Decomber 31, 2019, The average
maturty of our long-lerm debt at Decemiber 31, 2019 5 approximately
10 yaars,

Al Decambaer 31, 2012, we had rovonvng credit agrecments
wilh vanous bianks permitting aggregate borowings of L to
$10.35 billon pursuant tc a $2.20 bilhon revoleng credit agreernent and
a $2.15 bilkon multcurrency revoting cradit agreermiont, bath of which
expire N August 2021 and a $2.0 pilion roveling credit agreement and
a $4.0 bilion torm credit agreement, both of which we entered Into on
March 15, 2013 and which wit exprre on March 15, 2021 or. if earlier, (he
dale thal « 180 days after the date an wihich cach of the separations of
Cilis andt Carner have been consurmmated. As of Becermbper 31, 2019, we
drove down $2.1 bdlon on the term crodil agreement to pay current dalit
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maturities. There were no borrowings on any of the other agieements. The
uncirawn portions of the revolving credit agreemients are also available to
serve as backup faciities for the issuance of commarcal paper,

As of December 31, 2019, our maximum commercial paper
borrowing limit was $6.35 billion. We had no cormmercial paper
borowings outslanding at December 31, 2019, We use our
comumercal paper borrowings for gencral corporate purposes,
ncluding the funding of potential acquisitions, pension contrniputions.
det2! refinancing, dividend payments and repurchases of our common
stock. The necd for commercial paper borrowings anses when Ine use

of domestic Gash {or general corporate purposas excecds the sum of
domebhc cash generation and foreign cash repatrated to the U S,

Wa have an existing universal sheit registration statement filedh with
the SEC for an ndeterminate amount of debt and equity secunties for
futare ssuance. subect o our interaal Inmtatons on the amaount of dobf
10 beissued under tus sholf registraton slatoment,

We had no debt issuances in 2019 and the following ssuances of
debt.n 2018 and 2017,

e -

Issuance Date - Description of Notes 1 Aggregate Principal Balance

August 16,2018 | 3.350% notes due 2021 * $ 1.000 ]
S B net Te 250 | 2,000
‘ 3.950% notes due 2025 ! 1,500
P25 it = 3
l 4, 450% notes due 20380

Soonnton due as
LIBOF! plus 3.65% feating rate
notes dus 2021 '

May 18, 2018 | 1.150% notes due 2024 ° €

A0 nates o PO '

EURIBOR pius 0.20% floating

rate notes due 2020 °

i
Novemnber 13, 2017: | EURIBOR plus 0.15% floating ‘

rate notes due 2019+ € 750

May 4, 2017: | 1.800% notes due 2020 ' | $ 1.000 ]
23000 nates dog K .
| 2.800% notes due 2024 * | 800 |
P3 dn i notes due 227 ! 11a0
| 4.050% notes due 2047 * | 800 |




We made the following repayments of deit in 2019, 2018
and 2017

Il ey

Description of Notes

Repayment Date , Aggregate Principal Balance i

November 15, 2019 | 8.875% notes % $ 271
Novarnber 13, 2019 | EURIBOR plus 0.15% floating

rate notes ¢ 750

I

November 1, 2019: | LIBOR plus 0,350% floating

rate notes $ 350

1500 - notes { ER S
Juy 1502010 1450 notos : CR a1

| 5.250% notes * 1 $ 3w

December 14, 2018 | Varigble-rate 1arm loan due 2020

{1 month UBOR plus 1.25%) $ 482
May 4, 2018 E 1.778% jureor subordinated notes $ 1,100
February 22, 2018 EURIBOR plus 0.80% floating

rate notes € 750
February 1, 2018 | B.80% notes $ 90
June 1, 2017 | 1.800% notes $ 1,500
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We beliove our future operating cash flows will be sufficient to meet
our future operatng cash needs Fuher, we conlinue to have aceess to
Ihe cormmercial paper markets and our exislag credi facihbes, and our
ability ta obtan dobt or equity financing, as wel as the avalability uncler
committed credit Ines, provides additonal potential sources of liauidity
should thay be reguirad or appropriate.

Cash Flow — Operating Activities

IR I 2019 K RO
$ 5,883 $ 63225 5631 )

Net cash flows provided by operating activities

2019 Comparod walh 2018

Cash generated from operating activities In 2019 was approximately
$2.6 talfion higher than 2018, This increase 1s largely drven by

an ncrease n Net Income after adjustrrents for depreciation and
amortizalion, deferred income tax provision. stack compensation

costs. net perodic pension and other postretirement benefit, portiolio
scparation costs. and the gain on the sale of Taylor Company of

$2.4 bilion and working capitas improvements of $0.9 billien, partiafly
offsat by outflows with other iong term assets and labiitios of 50.2 billion.
Reduced factoring activity resulted n a decrease of approximately

$1.6 bilion in cash flows from operating actvities dunng tho year endoed
Decembor 31, 2019, as comparcd (o the pror year. This decrease in
factoring activity was primarily driven from an increase in funcded factonng
levels at Pratt & Whitney partially offset by increased factoring at Collins
Aerospace Syslems. Factonng aclivity does not reflect the factoring of
certain receivables performed at customer request for which we are
compensated by the customer for the extended collection cycle,

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Tha 2018 cash lows provided Dy working capdal were
$175 milion. Accounts recenabe decreased 3419 million primarily
driven by a decrease in V2500 salss and lowger collaborator recevables
at Pratt & Whitngy and an increase in factoring actvity at Colling
Acrospace. Accounls payable and accrued labilles increased
$1.2 pilion. The Accounts payable mcrease 1s pnmarily driven by Pratt
& Whitney duc to an increase n collaboratar payables. The increase
n Accrued habilites was driven by an increase in accrued costs for
the Company's portiolio separaton and various accruais at Colling
Aerospace Systems and Pratt & Whitney. Contract kabidifes, current
increased $359 milion driven oy Colling Aerosgace due to higner
achvanced billngs, These inflows were partially offset by ncreases in
Contracl assceis. current. Inventory anc Other current assets Contract
asscts. current increased $307 millon due to work performed in excess
of bilkngs at Pratt & Whitnay and Coling Aerospace. Inventory ncreased
$1.2 bihon to support higher sales volume at Collins Aerospace
Systams and Pratt & Whithey. Other Current assets increased
$309 mitlion duc to increases N prepait expenses at Pratt & Whitney,

Total cash contibuhons to our giobhal defined benelit penson pians
wore 5118 milion. $147 millon and 32,112 milion dunng 2019, 2018
and 2017, respectvely,

2018 Compared with 2017
Cash generated fram operabing actraties i 2018 was approxmaloly
S5O million hegher than 2017, Cash outflows for working capital
ncreased 3703 millon over the prior perod to support higher top
lIne organic growltn. Factonng actvity resulted in a decrease of
approximately $148 million n cash genarated from operating actvitics
during the year ended. Decenmber 31, 2018, as compared o Ihe prior
vear, This decrease was prmarly drven from lower faclonng levels
at Pratt & Whitney and Carner. Factorng activity dooes nol reflcct the
tactonng of certanm acrospace recaivables performed at customer
reguaest for which we are compensatad by the customer for the
oxtonded collechon oy,

The 2018 cash oulflows from working capital were 3755 milkan,
Accounts recevable increased approximaiely $2.4 ilon due to
an ncrease in sales volumio, Contract assels, currenl increased
$604 millon due to costs In excess of billings primarity at Pratt &
Whitriey driven by military engines. at Otis due 1o progression on imajor
projects. and at Colins Aerospace Systems. Inventary increased
$537 million primanly driven by an increase in production for the Geared
Turbofan af Pratt & Whitney, mereases at Carmer o support highor salcs
voiume and increases at Collins Aerospace Syslerns, This was partially
ctfset by decraases n Other assets of $1671 mllion primarily due to tax
refunds recaved, an increase n Accounts payable and acerucd liabilitas
of approximately 2.4 brlon. drven by higher inventory purchasing
activity at Prait & Whitney and haghar direcl mafenal purchases at Caolling
Aerospace Systems, as well as an increase in Conlract kabilities. current
of $20% milien driven by progress payments on major contracts and
seasonal advanced bilings at Otis.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis

Cash Flow —Investing Activities

e 2018 Ry
Net cash flows used in investing activities $ (3,080 & 116,979

‘2 ED8 I

$ (3.019)1

2019 Compared with 2018

Cash flows used in nvesting activiies for 2079 and 2018 primarily
roflect capital expenditures. cash investments in customer financing
assels. nvesiments/dispositions of businesses. paymenis related to our
collaboration intangible assets and contractual rights to provide product
on new aircraft platfonms, and settlements of derivative contracts, The
$13.9 billion decreass in cash flows used in investing activities in 2019
the compared to 2018 primanly relates to the absence of cash paid

to acauire Rockwell Collins of $14.2 bilion in Novernber 2018 and the
absence of $1 billion 1 proceeds from the saie of Taylor Company in
June 2018 by Carrer.

Capital expenditures n 2019 ($2.3 bdion prmarly reiate o scveral
projects at Colling Acrospace Systems and rvestments in produclon
and aftermarkot capacity al Pralt & Whitncy

Cash investments n busmnesses n 20191856 milkon) primarly
consisted of several acquisitions at Ohs. Dispositions of businessaes
N 2019 ($138 milhony primanly congisted of the businesses sold in
connaction with the Rockwall Colling acquusition

Customer fimancing assels s primaily drven by additonal Geared
Turpofan engmes to support customer fleets and was a Jsc of cash
of 3787 million and $I88 millicon in 2019 and 2018, respectvery. The
decrease i the source of cash refated to customer fnancing assels
of $120 o in 20139 comparad {0 $606 mulon in 2018 s driven
by lower repayments on cusiomer inancing. Al Docember 31, 2014,
we had commerciar agrospace financing and ather contractual
commitments of approximately $15.0 bition refatedc to commercial
arcraft and certan contractual righis {o provide product on new arcraft
piattonms, of which as much as 31.6 llon may be reguired Lo be
chabwursed durng 2020, As discuzsed n Note 1 to the Consolidlated
Financial Statarments. we aave entersc Into certan collaboraton
arrangements, which may nclude participation oy our collaborators -n
theso commitments Al December 31, 2019, our collaboralors' share
of these commitments was approxmately 55.3 biHion of winch as
much as $508 millon may be raguered to ba disbursod 10 us durng
2020, Refor to Nole 4 to the Consoldaled Financial Slaterments for
additional discussion of our commercial agrospace industry assets
and commitments.

In 2019, we increasert our col'aborahion infangible asscts by
approximately $351 milon, which primarly relates 1o payrments made
under owr 2012 agreement to acguire Rolls-Royee's colialzoration
Interests 10 1AE,

As ciscussed 1n Note 14 to the Consoldated Financial Statentents,
we enter into denvative instruments for risk management curposes
oniy, Including denvatives designated as hedging nstruments under
lhe Derivatives and Hedging Tope of the FASB ASC and those ulilized
as economic hedges. We operate infernahionally and. in the normai
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course of business, are exposed o fluctualions n nterest rates, foreign
exchange rates and commodily prices. These fluctualions can morease
the rosts Af finAancing, INvesting anr nperahing the hsiness We Dave
used derivative instruments. including swaps. forward contracts and
options to manage cortain forean currency, interest rate and commaodity
price exposures. During the years ended Decomber 31, 2019 and
2018, we had net cash receipts of approximately $336 milkion

and $143 milion. respectively, from the settiement of these

dervative nsiruments

2018 Comparod with 2017

Cash flows used ninvesting actrties for 2018 and 2017 primarily
reflect cagital nvestments/dispositions of businessoes. axpenditures.
cash nvestmenls iy customor Iinancing assels. payments retated fo our
coliaboration «tangible assets and contractual rights to provide product
on new arcraft platiorms and setlermeants of dervative contracts.

The 514 Gillion increase in cash ficws used 10 nvesting activiies from
the prior year primarly relates to the $14.9 billon of cash paid for the
acauisition of Rockwell Collins {net of cash acaured; and the abscnee of
$536 mullion in net procecds recaived from Camer's sale of nvestnents
N Watsco, Incoin 2017, partialyy oftset by proceeds from he sale of
Taylor Companty m June 2G18 by Camer of §1 0 billkon, a decrease in
customer financing assels of $593 milkon and $143 million n receipts
fram setticments of dorivalive contracts comoared o paymaents of
$317 mulicn in 2017,

Caprtal axponditires 2018151802 mithon) prmaniy ralate 1o
qvestments i produchion capacity at Pratt & Whitney, investments in
producticn capacity and several small projects at Colins Aeraspace
Systems, and new facilihes and investments in products and informaton
technology at Carner, and nvestments in digial and information
lechnology at Ots,

Cash imesiments in businessas (nel of cash acguired) n 2018
(515 4 billion) primarily rolale to the acauisition of Rockwell Collng n
Nowamber 2018 Dispositions of Dasinesses in 2018 of 51 1 bilion
primanly relate to the sale of Taviar Company.

Customner financing activities, nnmanly diven by additional Geared
Turbofan engines to suppor customer fleets. wara a net uge of cash
of $382 mullion and $375 milkon in 2018 and 2017, respectively. At
Decemiber 31, 2018. we had cormmercial aerospace financing and
other contractual commitrmants of approximately $15.5 tillion related
to commercial aircraft and certain contractual nights to provide product
ol new arcraft platforms, of which as much as $1.7 pdlon have been
b reguired 1o be disbursed dunng 2019, Al Decemiber 31, 2018,
our collabarators' share of these cormmutimants was aporoximately
$5.3 hillon of which as much as $488 milon may have boen required o
bo cisporsed 1o us during 2019,

In 2018, wo increased our collaboration ntangible assets by
approximately $400 rmiflion, which primaniy relates to payments mada
under aur 2012 agreement to acgure Rolls-Rovee's collaboration
nterests in 1AE




Cash Flow — Financing Activities

2019, s

Net cash flows {used in} provided by

financing activities $ {4,564): § 7,965 | S (993

2018 Compared with 2018

Cur financing actvities primarly include the 1ssuance and repayment

of short term and long-term debt, payment of dividends and stock
repurchases, Financing actvities was a cash cutflow of $4.6 bilon in
2019 compared to a cash inflow of 38.0 milion n 2018. This change s
driven by the absenca of $13.5 ndlion of long-term debt 1ssuances in the
orior year which was pamanly uthized to fund the Rockwall Acaumsition,
an increase in debt repayments of $0.3 tillion, an increass n drudends
pasd on comman stock ot $0.3 killken, partally offset by an increase n
short tenm borrowings of $1.3 bilken and a recuction In common stock
repurchases of $0.2 billon.

Commarcil paper Dorrowings and rovalvng crect facillies provide
short-lerm guedily Lo supplement operaling cash llows and arc used
for goneral corporale purposas. Meluding the Tunding of potental
acquisit:ons and repurchases of our stock. We haa no outstanding
commetcial paper at December 31, 2019,

At December 31, 2019, management had remaming authornty 1o
repurchase approximately 1.8 bilion of our commen stock under the
October 14, 2015 share repurchase program. Under thus program,
shares may be purchased on the apen markel. in privately negotated
fransactions, under acceierated share repurchiase prograrnss, and
under pians complying with Bules 10685-1 and 100 18 under the
Sacuritios Exchange Act of 1934, as amended W may alse reacaure
shares cutsice of the prograr from time to tme in connection with the
surrender of shares to cover taxas on veshing of restacted stock and
as reguired under our empioyee savngs olan. Our abidity to repurchase
sharos 1s sulzect to apphcable law, ncluding restrictions ansing
from tha pencing merger fransacten with Raytheon. We made cash
payments of approximately $151 million to repurchase approximalely
1. mulhon shares of our cormmicn stock dunng the year ended
December 31. 2019,

W paid aggregate dividends on common stock of approximately
52.4 bithon and $2.2 biliion in 2019 and 2018, respectively, On
February 3. 2020, the Board of Directors declared 2 dwvidend of $0.735
per share payable March 10, 2020 to shareowners of record at the
close of business on February 14, 2020,

2018 Cornparad wilth 2017
Net cash provided by financing activlies increased $8.958 mulien in
2018 compared tc the prior year due to an increase 1IN long-term debt
issuances of $8.5 billion, inclucing the 311 billion ssued In 2018 for
the financing of the Rockwell Coiling acquisition. and a decrease in
repurchases of common stock of $1.1 bilkon, partially offset by an
Increase in repayments of long-term debt ot $0 ¢ bikon.

We had approximately $1.3 billion of outstanding commercial
paper at December 31, 2018.

Management's Discussion and Analysis

We made cash payments of aporoximately S325 millon to
repurchase approximately 2.7 milion shares of our common stock
during the year endec December 31, 2018,

Woe pad aggregate dvidends on common stock of approxmately
$2.2 hithon and $2.* oillon n 2018 and 2017, respectively

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Proparation of our financia statements reguires management 1o make
estmales and assumpl:ons that allect the reported amounts of assals,
nakxlit.es, rovenues and expenses, Noto 110 the Consoidated Financia
Statoments descnbes the significant accounhng policies used In
preparation ot the Consolidatad Financial Slatements. Managerment
beleves the most complex and sens:ilve judygmeants. Decause of thew
significance to the Consolidated Sinanciai Statorments, rasult primarily
from the need to make estimates about the effects of maltors that ars
inherently ancertain, The most significant areas Invohang managaemaont
judgments and estirnates are descrined below Actual results in these
arcas could differ from management’s eshimates,

t.ong-Term Contract Accounting. As cescnbed i Note 1,
several of our businesses use an ovar-time revenue recognition mode!.
Rovenue g recognized on an over-time basis using an snput method
for repar contracts withim Otis and Carner: certain U.S. Government
and commercial agrespace eguizment contracts; and aerospace
aftermarket senice work, We measurae progress toward completion
for these contracts using costs ncurqed Lo date relatve 1o olal
estmated costs at completion. This avar-time basis using an nput
method requires estimates of future revenues and costs over the full
torm of producl and,or sevice detivary  Incured cosls represent wiork
performed. wihich carrespond with and bost depict transfer of control
o the customer Contract costs are incurred over a pariod of bme,
which can be several years. and the esbimalion of thesoe costs requires
management's judgnent.

The long-term nalture ol these contracts. the complexty of the
prociucts, and the strot safely and performance standarcs under wihicn
they are regulated can affect our ability to estimalte costs precisely. As
a resull, we review our cost estimates on signf:cant contracts ona
quanterty basis and for others, at least annually or when crrcumstances
change and warrant a modification to a provious estimate. We record
changes n contract ostimates using the cumulative calch-upe method.

Costs incurred for engineenng and developrment of asrospace
products under contracts with customors arg capitalized as contract
fulfiliment costs, to the extent recoverable from the associated contract
margin, and subsequently amortized as the GEM products are
delverad to the customer. The estimation of contract margm requires
management's judgment.

Income Taxes. The future tax benchl ansing frorm deductible
termporary difforences and fax carmyforwards was $5.2 bition
al December 31, 2019 and $4.7 billion at Decembor 31, 201 8.
Management believes that our earnings during the periods wher tho
tempaorary differences become deductible will be sufficient to realze
the related fulure :ncome tax bensfits. which may be realized over an
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

exlended period of tme. For those junsdictions where the exprration
cale of tax carryforwards or the projected operating results ndicate that
realzation 1s nol likely, a valualion allowance is provided.

In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, we estimate future
taxable income, considering the feasitility of ongoing tax planning
stralegies and the realizabiity of 1ax loss carryforwards. Valualion
allowances related to deterred tax assets can be affecled by changes
10 tax faws, changes 1o statutory tax rates and future taxable income
levels. In Iho oventl we wore o deferning that we would not e abig
to realze all or a partion of our doforred 1ax assets in the future, we
would reduce such amounts through an increase to tax expense in 1he
poriod inwhich that determination s made or when tax law changes are
enacted, Conversaly, If we were (o determine that we would be able 1o
realize our deferred tax assets in the future in excess of the net carrying
amounls, we would decrease the recorded valuation allowance through
a decrease 1o lax expense i1 the period in whieh that determination
is macie.

In the ordinary course of business there 15 iINherent uncertanty
N quantdying our income tax positons, We assess our income tax
positions and record tax benelits for all years sutyoct 1o exarmnahion
based upon managemenl’s evaluab.on of the facts, crcumstances
and information avadable al he reporting date For Ihase tax positions
where il is more Tkely than not that a tax benefit wil De sustancd, we
nave recorded the largest amount of tax benelit with a grealer than
507 ikelinood of being realized upon ulimate settlement with a faxing
authority that has ull knowledge of all relevant informatun. For fhose
income tax positions where it s not more likely than not that a tax
penett will Do sustaned. na tax benchl Nas Doen recogneed in me
financial statemoents In acdition. we have entored mto cortan mtermna
iega enhity reslaactunng transactons necessary to offectuate the
soparation lransaclons, We have accrued tax on these transactions
pascd on our interpretation of the applicalzie tax laws and our
delerminaton of appropnate entity valualions. See Notes T and 11 10
the Consolidated =inancias Statements for further discussion. Also see
Note 18 ior discassion of UTC administrative review procesdings with
tho German Tax Cifice.

Soe Note 11 o the Consolidated Financial Staterments for
additonal tax prowsion iems.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets. Cur snvestrnents in
husinesses net of cash acquired in 20193 totaled $56 rmitlion, The
assets and liabihes of acquired BUSINCSSCSs are recorded undor thoe
acquisiton method of accounting al their estimated far vaiues at
the dates of acquisition. Goodwill represents costs In excess of far
values assigned to the underlying identifiable net assets of acquired
businesses Intangible assets consist of servce portfolios, patents,
trademarks tradenames, cusltomer relationshios and other intangible

assets ncluding a collaboration asset established in connection wath our

2012 agreement 10 acguire Rolis-Royce's ownership and collaboration
interests i IAE AG, as discussed in Nole 2 to the Consondated
Financial Stalements. The farr value tor acquired customer relationship
ntandibiles 1s determined as of the acquistion date based on estimates
and judgments regarding expectations for the future alter-tax cash flovws
ariaing from he llow-on revenue rom cuslomer relationships thal
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existed on the acquisition date over their estimated hves, including the
probability of expected future contract renewals and reveriue, less a
coniribLiory assets charge. all of which s discounted 1o prosent value.
The fair vaiue of the tradename intangible assels were determined
atilizing the relief from royalty method which is a form of the income
approach. Under this method. a royalty rate hased on observed market
royaities is applied to projected revenue supporting the tradename and
discountad to present value using an appropnate discount rate. See
Note 2 10 the Consolidated Financiat Statements for further detalls,

Also included within ofher intangible assets are payments made
to secure certan contractual rights to provide products on new
carmmercial asrospace platforms. Such payments are capitalzed when
there are distinct nghts obtained and there are sufficient incrementa;
cash fiows 1o support the recoverabiity of the asscts established.
Otherwise, the applicable portion of the payments aro expenscd.
Capitahzed payments made on these contractual comemitrients are
arrortized as a reduction of sales. We amortize these mtangible assets
based on the pattern of economic benefit. which typreally results incan
amortization method otier than straight-lne. In o acrospace ndustry,
arnorhizabicn based on 1he patlern of economic benett generally rasults
1 locwer amortizahon expoense dunng the developmant period wath
Inereasing amorlzalon expense as programs enter tull production and
aftermarket cycies If a pattern of economic benefit cannot be reliably
determined, a straight-line amortization method 1s used. The gross
valug of hese contractual commitments at Decemnber 31, 2018 was
aporoximately $12.3 billon. of which approxmately $3.2 nillion nas heen
pad to date, We record these payments as ntangibie assats when
such payments ars na longer condiional The recoverability of these
imtangibles s dopendent upon e futurs success and profitatility o
the underdang arcraft plalforms including the associatod aftormarkat
revenue streams.

Gootwill and intangible assets deemad to have indefinde ves arc
ol amortized, bul are sukject fo annual, o more frequent f necessary,
impairment teshing usng the guidance and critera descnoed N the
Inlangibies —Goodwill and Other Topc of the FASB ASC. A gyoodwill
mparment foss s measured at the amount by which a reporting unit s
carrying value exceeds 1its far value, without excecding the recorded
armount of gocdwill, In developing our estmales for the far vawue of our
reporting units, significant judgment 1s reguired in the determination of
the aporoprateness of usng a gualitative assossment or guantiative
assessment. For Ihese quantitative assessmaents that are performed,
far value 1€ primarnly based on incema approaches using discounted
cash flow models and relief from royalty models, respectively, which
have signiicant assumphons including revenue growlh rates, projected
operating wcome. lerminal growth rates. discount rates and royalty
rates. Such assumphons are subject to varmabilty from year 1o year and
arc dircctly impacted by global market conditions. We completed our
annualimparrment testing as of July 1. 2019 and determined that no
significant adjustments to the carrying value of goodwill or indefinite
wed intangible assets were necessary. Although these assets are naol
currently impaired, there can be no assurance that future imparments
witl not ocour, See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
further discussIon.




Contingent Liabilities. Our opcrating units include busnasses
which sell products and services and conduct opsrations throughout
the world. As described in Note 18 to the Consoidaled Financial
Staternents, contractual, regulatory and other matters, inclucing
asbestos clarns. N the normal course of business may anse tnat subject
us to claims or litigation. Of note, the design, devslopment, production
and support of new aerospace technologies 1s inherently complex
and subjact to nsk. Since the PW1C00G Geared Turbofan engine
entered Inte service in 2016, technical ‘ssues have heen identfied ana
experenced with the engine, which 15 typical for new engines and navs
asrospacs lechnologies. Pratt & Whitney has addressed these issues
through vanous improvements and modificatons. These 1Issues have
resulied in financial impacls, including iNcreased warranty provisions,
customer contract seitlements, and reductions in contract pesformance
estmales. Additcnal technical issues may also anse in the normal
course, which may rasult in financial impacts that coutd be matena to
the Caompany’s Iinancial position. results of operations and cash flows,

Additionally, we have signiicant contracts with the U.S.
Government, subject to government oversighl and aucht, which may
reciure signficant acjustment of contract prices We acerue for labitios
associated with these matters when it s prebable that a liability has
been ncurred and the amount can be reasonably estmated. The most
likely cost 1o ke incurred 15 accrued based on an evaluabhon of then
currently avalable facts with respect to each matter. When no amaount
witrin a range of ostimates 1s more ikely, the minimum 15 accrued. The
inherent uncertanty related to the ocutcome of these mattars can result
n amounts matenally diftcrent from any provisions made with respect to
thair resoluton.

Employee Benefit Plans. \We sponsor domestic and foroign
defined henefit pension and other postetirement plans. Major
assurnphions usad i the accounting for these employes benelit plans
mclude the discount rate, expected return on plan assats, rate of
nerease N employee compensation fevels. mortality rates. and health
care cost Increase projections. Assumptons are detenined ased on
company data and approprnale markel ndicators, and are evaualed
each year at December 31. A change in any of these assumplions
would have an effect on net pencdic pension and postretirameant benefit
casts reported in the Consclidated Financial Stalements.

In the following table, we show the sensitivity of our pension and
alhr postretirermant benafit plan liabilites and nat periodic cosl o a
25 basis pont change in the discount rates for benchit obligations,
mileresl cost and service cost as of December 31, 2019:

Pension plans
Projectod banefit cligation o 1,199
Net pericdic pension {benefif) cost {5 7
Other pustretrement beneit plans
Accumulated postretirersnt bengfit obbgation

(11} 12

Ty Mt or 2@ oot Loiwestraticgrme st benef O ozt o lens oan 31
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These estimates assume no change in the shape or steepness
of the company-specific vield curve used o plot the indvidual spot
rates that will be apphad to the future cash ocutflows for future bonefit
payments in order to calculate interest and service cost. A fatlening of
the yield curve. from a narrowing of the spread between interest and
obligation discount rates, would Increase our nel penodic pensicn cosl.
Conversely. a steepening of the yield curve, from an ncrease in the
spread between interest and obligation discount rates. would docrease
our net penodic pensIon Cost,

Pension expense 15 also sensitve te changes In the expected
long-term rate of asset return. An increase or decrease of 25 pasis
poirts in the expected iong-torm rate of asset return would have
decreased or increased 2019 zenson expense by aporoximaltely
$38 milon.

The weighted-average discount rales used te measure pension
llabities and costs are set by reference to UTC-speaific analysoes using
each pian's specihic cash flows and are then compared fo high gqualbty
bond indices for reasonanieness. For our sigrihcant plans. we allize
a tull vield curve approach in the cstimation of the senace cost ancl
interest cost components by apphying ihe specific spot rates along the
yield curve used in determination of the benefit obligation to the relevant
moected cash flows. Global market interest rates have decreased in
2019 as compared with 2018 and. as a result, the weighted-average
discount rate used lc measuwre pension liabilities decreased from 4.0%-
N 2018 to 3.0% in 2019, The weghted-average discount rates used
1o measure senvice cost and interest cost was 3.67 i 2019, Across
our glopal pension plans, the amendment to our domaesic pension
plans to cease accrual of additonal bencfils and domeshc pension plan
merger, partially cifset by reduction in expected return on assets for
2020, will 1esult in a nel periodic pension benefit in 2020 consistent with
2019 amounts.

See Noto 12 to the Consolicated Financial Statements for
further discussion.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

We extend a varely of financial guarantecs 10 third parties @ support
ol unconschdated affiiates and tor potenhal financing requirements of
commercial acrospace customers. We also have obligations arising
from sales of certain businesses and assels, including mdemnites 1or
representations and warranties and environmental, health and salety,
tax and employment matters, Circumstances that could cause the
contingent oibhigations and habilities arising from thoese arrangemeants
to come to fruhion include changes in an undertying transaction

le.q.. hacardous waste discoveries. etc ), nonperformance under &
conlract, customer requests for financing, or detericration in the financial
condition of the guaranteed party.
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A summary of our consolidated contractual obligations and
commutments as of Becember 31. 2018 is as foliows:

:

e R S O ) .Tﬁlél ' ! T h’_—w.;msu i
Long term dobt . .

principat $41599 | 8 3406 | § 8081 % 6,003 | § 23,940
L ongg-term detit — . ! i i
Hture nterest 16,865 1,440 2A3G . 10,754
Operating leases 3,147 641 saa| 1014 ]
Purchicese obhcgations 15,334 10,8465 ReisTed ST 55
Otber long-term Ybilties 3750  1020] 1215 w1 | 1024 |
Testod comtrac tuef . .
obhicgations $ 80,605 | T 17,402 - F 16813 = 5 3y

Purchase obligatons include amounts commulicd for the purchase
of goods and services under legaily enforceable contracts or purchase
ordars. Where 1t s not practically feasible to detarmine the legally
enforceable portion of cur obiigation under cortam of our ong-torm
purchase agreements, we include additional expected purchase
oblgatons beyond what 1s legally enterceable. Approximatety 19%
of ho purchase obligalions disclosed above represent purchase
orders for products to bé defivered under frm contracts with the ULS.
Government for which we have full recourse under custornrary contract
termmnation clauses.

Other long-toirm dabibnes pemanly ncluds those amounts on our
December 31, 2019 baance sheel representng obiigabons under
product serdce and warranty pokcies. performance and oporating
cost yuarantees, estirmated environmental remechalion costs and
expected contnbut ons under employec benefit programs. The hming of
oxpected cash Hows associated with these obligahons s based upon
mandagement's estimatoes over the terms of these agreements and s
largely basoed unon nistoncal cxpenence.

In connection wilh the acguisiions of Rockwell Colling «1 2018 andl
Goodrich n 2012, weo recorded assumed habilitics of approx matohy
$1.03 billlon and $2.2 billon, respeciively related to custemer
contractual opiigatons on certan pragrans with terms loss favorable
than could be realzed in market transactons as of the acguisition date,
These iabiditios are beng iguidated in accordance with the underying
pattern of obligatons. as eflected by the net cash outflows INncurred on

the conlracts. Total consumption of the contractual obhgatons for the
yoar ended December 31, 2019 was approximaltely $345 millon, Total
future consumption of (he contractual obligations 1s expected to be as
follows: $263 million in 2020, $189 milion in 2021, $148 millicn in 2022,
$118 rmulion in 2023, $127 milkon n 2024 and $563 miliion thereatter,
These amounts are not inciuded in the table above,

The above table also does not refiect unrecogrized tax benefits of
$1.347 mulion. the timing of which 1s uncortan. oxcept for approximatety
$24 milkon that may become payable durnng 2020 Refor o Note 11
to the Consolidated Financia! Statermoents for additional discussion on
unrecognized tax bhenelits,
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COMMERCIAL COMMITMENTS
The teliowing table summarizes our commercial commitments
outstanding as of December 31, 2019:

Avranrt Qo et Do rate g e Do

Curnmitted Ut

R

Cuonraiercial
aerospace
financing
commitments
Othwr
[t Iaa Ty

$ 3937 % om1| $2003| % 863 § 70

SR :
306 | . 1
1110 entks 11,055 b 1.295 i

-
.
m

[ e

Commercial
aerospace
financing
arrangemants 333 11 10 - 2
Porfiman o
IR T ER 48 - : E L

Totel commercial
COMIMiments

$ 15373 ! $16281 $3556) $2197 | § 7992

In connoction with aur 2012 agreement 1o acguire Rolls-Royce's
ownershup and collaboraton interests in AR AG. additional payments
are due 1o Rolls-Royce contingent upon aach how flown through June
2027 by the V2b00-powerad arcraft in service as ol the acquisihon
date These fight nour payments, inciuded in "Other commaorcial
asrospace comimitments” I the lakle above, are Deng caplalized as
collaboraton ntangible assets. Tne collabaration intangible assets are
amortized based upon the pattern of economic benetit as represented
by 1he underlying cash tows,

Ve aiso have other contractug commitments, including
conmyritments o secure corlain contraclual naghts to provide product
on new arcraft platforms, which are inctuded in “Other commicreal
asrospace commiments 1 the lable above Such payments are
capitaized when distinct ngnls are oblamned and there are sufficienl
ncremeantal cash flows lo suppot the recoverability af the assels
ostablished, Otherwise, tne appicaole portion of the payments
are axpensed, Caplitalized payments mace on these contractual
cammitrments are nciuded in intangible assets and are amortized over
the terrr of undertying cconomic benefit,

Refer la Notes 1, 4 and 17 to the Consolidated Financiat
Statermenis for additional discuss:on an contractual and
commercial commitmonts,

MARKET RISK AND RiSK MANAGEMENT

We arc exposcd [o fluctuations in forgign currency exchange rates,
interest rates and commodty prees, To manage cartamn of those
CxXposures. wo usc dervatviy nstruments. including swaps. forvard
contracls and optons. Dersatve nstruments utihized by us in oar
heaging actiilies are viewed as nsk management toals, nvolve relatvely
little complexaty and are not used {or trading or speculalive purposes,
Wi diversify the countarparties used and monitar the concentraton of
risk 1o lirmit our counterparty exposure




We nave evaluated our exposure 10 changes 1o foraign currency
exchange rates, interesl rates and commodity prices in our market nsk
sensit ve nstruments, which are primaniy cash, debt, and denvatve
instraments. using a value at risk analysis. Based on a 95%- confidence
ol and a one-day holding ponod, at December 31, 2018, the potential
loss in far value on our market nsk sensitve nstruments was not
rmatenal m relation to our financal position. resuts of operations o cash
flows, Qur calculated value al nsk exposdre represents an estimate of
reasonaply pessible net losses based on voatities and corre:ations and
15 net necessanly indicative of actuai results. Refer to Notes 1, 9 and 14
to e Congolidated Sinancial Statenrents tor adcitonal discussicn of
toraign curency Cxchange, wierest rales and inancal instruments,

Foreign Currency Exposures. Ve have a large volume
of foroegn carrency exposures that resull from owr internatonai
sdles. purchases, mvestments, borrowings and other internatonal
transactons. International segrent sales, excluding U.S, oxport
salos, averaged approximately 327 billon over Ihe last three yoars,

We actively manage forcign currency exposures Lhat are associated
with committed foragn currency purchases and sales, and other
assets and labilities created in the normal course of business at the
operating unit level, More than insigniticant exposures that cannol be
naturatly offset within an operating unit are hecged with foreign currency
dervatives. We alse nave a signficant amount of foreign currency

net assel exposures. As discussed in Note 9 to the Consalidated
Financial Staterments, at ODecemiber 31, 2019 we have approximiately
€420 billion of cure-denominated «ong term dett, which quaifios as a
nelirvestmen! fecdge against our irnvestments .0 European businesses,
As af December 31, 2019, the net invesimaent hedge is deemed Lo

be effective. Currently, we do not hold any dervalive contracts that
hedge our foreign currency net asset exposures but may consider such
strategies in the future.

Wilhin acrospace, our salos are typrcally denommnated i U.S,
Dallars under accepted industry convention, However, for our non-U.S,
based entiies, such as PEWC. a substanhal portion of thar costs ara
incurredd N local currencies Consequentty, there s a foraign currency
exchange impact and nsk to operatanal results as U.S. Dollars must be
converted 1o local currencies such as the Canadian Dollar in order 1o
meat local currency cost abligations. Additonally, we transact business
N vanous foreign currencies which exposes our cash flows and earnings
to changes in foreign cunency exchange rates. In arder o onimize
the exposwre that exists from changes in the exchange rate of the
.3, Dollar aganst these other currencies. we hedge a ceramn poertion
of saies 10 secure the rates af which U5, Dollars will e converted
The magjordy of this nedging activity occurs at PAWC and Cailins
Acrospace Systems, and hedging activity also occurs to a lesser extant
at the remander of Pralt & Whitnoy, At PEWC and Caollins Aerospace
Systems, firm and forecasted sales for hoth onginal eguipment and
soare parts arg hedged at varying amounts for up 1o 49 months on the
U.S. Dollar sales exposure as represented by the excess of U.S. Dollar
sales over U.S. Dollar denominated purchases. Hedging gains and
losses resulting from maovements in foreign currency exchange rates
are partially offset by the foreign currency translation imgacts that are
generated on the translation of local currency operating results into
U5, Dotlars for reporting purposes. While the objective of the hedging
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program s to minimize the foragn currency exchange impact on
operating results, there are typically vanances between the hedging
gans or Iosses and the translatonal iImpact due to the length of hedging
contracls. changes i the sales profie. volatility In the exchange rates
and other such cperational considerations

Interest Rate Exposures, Our long-term deiot portfolo consists
mostiy of ixed-rate inslruments. From trme Lo trme, we may hedge to
floalng rates using interesl rate swaps. The hedges are designated as
fair value hedges and the gains and tosses on the swaps are reported n
nterest expense. reflecting that porton of Interest expense at a variabie
rate Ve ssue commerciai paper, which exposes us to changas In
nterest rates Currentiy, we do not hold any dervalive contracts that
hedge our nterest exposures, bul may consider such slrateyies
the future

Commodity Price Exposures. We are exposaed 1o volathty i the
prices of raw matenals used in some of our products and from ime 1o
tme we may use forward contracts in linuted circumstances to manage
some of those exposures. In the fulure, |f hedges are used. gans and
losses may affect earmings. There were no signiticant outstanding
commackty hedaes as of Decomber 31, 2019,

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

Our operalions arce subject 1o envirenmental regulalion by federal, slale
and focal authontes in the Uniled Statos and regalatory aulthontios
with jurisdiction over our foreign operalions, As a result. we have
estabished. and continuaily update, policies relating to environmental
standards of performance for our operations worlchwide, We beliove
Inat expenditures necessary to comply with the present regulations
governing environmentat protection wili not have a matenat eflect

upon our competitive position. resulfs of operations, cash Hows or
hnancial condiion.

We have deniified 773 tocations, mostly inthe United Slates, at
which we may have some ahbility for remediating contammation. \We
have resolved our kabilHy at 363 of these ocatons. Wa do not beteve
Inat any ndmduat locabion's expasura wiil have a matenal ellect on our
results of operations. Sites in tho investigaton, romediation or oporation
and mantenance slage ropresent approximately 917 of our acerucd
ervironmental remedahon resarve.

We have been dentified as a potentially responsible party under the
Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability
Act (CERCLA or Superfund at 129 sites. The number of Superfund
sites, ¢ and ol itsalf, daes not represent a rolovant reeasure of Hability
because the nature and extent of environneentat concemns vary from
site to site and our sharg of responsitulty vanes from sole rasponsiolity
o very iflle responsitdity. In estimating our habildy for rermediation, we
consider cur likely preportionate share of the anticipated remediahon
expense and the abilty of other potentally responsible partios to fulfil
their obhgalions.

At Decemiber 31, 20149 and 2018, we had $896 nllion and
SB30 mullion reserved for environmental remediation, respectively.
Cash outflows for environmental romediation were $52 milion mn 2019,
348 milion 1in 2018 and $42 million i 2017, We estimate that ongoing
environmental remediation expenditures n cach of the next two years
will not excead approximately $100 milhon,
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ASBESTOS MATTERS

The estimalted range of total liabilities to resolve alt pending and
unassertcd potential futlve asbestos clams through 20598
approximately $330 nmullian to $400 milion. Where no amount within
arange of estirmates 13 more likaly, the minimurn 15 acorued, We have
recordod the minmum amount of $330 million. which s principally
recorted w1 Other long-term aomhhos an our Consohdasted Bakance
Shoet as of December 31, 2019, This amourt 15 on a pre-lax basis,
nat discounted, and excludes the Company’s iegal fees 1o delend

the asbestos claims (which will cantinue to be expensad by the
Company as they are ncurred). In addibon, the Cornpany has an
insurance recovery recenvable for prababte asbestos related recovanes
of approxirnatety $140 rmullion, which s nciuded pnmanly in Other
assats on our Consolidaled Balance Shieot as of Docornber 31, 2019,
See Note: 18 "Contingent Liabilihes” of our Consolidatac Financal
Statermments for further discussion of this matter.

GOVERNMENT MATTERS

As descrbog in "Crntical Accounting Estimatas —Contingant Liabites,”
our contracts wiln the U S. Governiment arg subject 1o auchts. Sach
audits mav recommend that certan contract prices should He reduced
to comply with vanous governmaent regulahons. or that cortan payments
ha delayed or withheld. We are also the subject of one or more
nvestigalions and legal procesdings mitiated by the U.S. Government
with respect 1o government contract matters. Sec "Legal Procoedings”
irtern 1o this Form 10+ and Note 11 “income Taxeos™ and Note 15
“Contingent Liabilities” of our Consolidatod Financial Statements tor
further discussion of these and othel governement maltors.
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Cautionary Note Concerning Factors That May Affect Future Results

This 2018 Annual Report to Shareowners (2019 Annual Repart)
containg statements which, 1o the extenit they are not statemernts of
nistoncal or present fact, constitute Morward -looking statements” under
the securties laws. From time to time, orar or written forward-looking
staterments may also be nciuded in other information releasea to the
public. Tnese forward-iooking statements are intended to prov.de
management's current expectaticns or plans for our future operating
and fimancial perfarmance, based on assumplions currently believed
to be vald, Forward-looking statements can be identitbed by the use of
wortls such as "beleve.” "expect.” "expoctations.” "plans.” "stratugy.”
“progpects,” "estmate,” "project.” "arget,” "anticipate,” “wal.” “should.”
“see,” "guidance,” "outlook.” "confdent,” “on track™ and other words
of similar meaning. Forward-lacking stalemeants may nclude, among
otner things, statements relatng to fature sales, carmings. cash flow.
resulls of oporations. uses of casn, share repurchases, lax rales, B&D
spend. other measures of inancial performance. potential future plans,
strategics or transachons, credit ratings and net indebtedness. other
antcipaled benefits of the Rackwell Acquisition, the proposedt merger
with Baytheon or the spin-offs by UTC of Ots and Carrier mto scparate
ndependant companies ithe "separation transact.ons’), ncluding
astimated synergies and cuslomer cost savings resulting from the
proposed merger, the expacted tming of completon of the proposed
merger and e separalion transactions. estmated costs associated
with such lransactions and other statements that are not histoncal
tacts, All forward-locking statomeants nvolve nsks, uncetambos and
othor factors thal may cause actual results to difer malcrally from
those exprossed or mplicd 1 e forward-looking statemaents, For those
statements. we claim the protecton of the safe harbor for forward-
looking statements containedd in the LS. Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995, Such nsks, uncertainties anc other factors include.
without limitation:

= the effect of economic condiions i the ndustines and markets in
which we and Baytheon oporats in the U.S. and globally and any
changes theren, ncluding financiai marke! concitions, fluctuations
mcommadily preas, nterest rales and foraign currency exchange
rales, ievels of end markel demand in construction and :n both
the commercal and defense segments of the aerospace ndustry,
levels of air travel. financial condition of comrercal airines. the
mpact of pandemic health issues, aviation satety concerns.
weather conditions and natural disasters, the financizd cond+tian
of our customers and supphers. and the nsks assoomated with
U.S. governmenlt saics (including changes or shiffs in defense
spendng due to budgetary constrants, spending cuts resuiting
from sequestration. a goverament shutdown, or othenwise. and
uncertan funding of programsi;
challenges in the development. production, delivery, support,
performance and reabzation of the anticipated xenefits including
our expected returmns Lnder customer contracts) of advanced
lechnologes and new oroducls and senvices:
the scope. nature, impact or timing of the proposed merger wilth
Raytheon and the separalion lransactions ang otner merger,
acouisition and divestiture activity. including among other things
the integration of or with other businesses and realization of
synergies and oppertunities for growth and innevation and
incurrence of related costs and exgpenses;

» future levels of indebtedness, including ndebtedness that may be
ncurred in connection with tne proposed merger with Ravtheon
and the separation transactions. and capital spending and
researcn and dovelopment spending,

future avalatnlity of credit and factors that may affect such
avalability, mcluding crecit markel condit:ons and our

capital structure:

the tming and sconé of fut.re repurchases of cur common stock,
wihich may ba suspended al any tme due to varous ‘actors.
nciucing markel conditons and the level of other nvesting
actvibos and uses of casn, ncluding in connection with the
proposcd merger with Raytheon:

delays and disruption in delvery of matenats and seraces

fronm suppRhions:

company and cuslomer-directed cost reduction efforis and
restructunng costs and savings and other consequences thereot
{ncluding the potential tormunation of US government conbracts
and performance under undefintized contract awards and the
potenhal nabity to recover terminaticn cosls):

nevy DUSINESs and Investment opportunities:

tne ability to realize the intended benefts of crganizatonal changes:
the anticipated benehits of dversification and balance of
operabons across product nes, rogins and industres;

the outcome of legal proceedings, investigations and

other contingencies:

ponsion plan assumptions and future contributions;

the impact of the negotiation of coiloctive bargaming agrecments
and labor disputes;

the eftect of changes in political conditions n the U S, and other
countries n which we and Raytheon and our businasses each
operate, inclucing the effect of changes in U.S. frade policies

or the UKL s pending withidrawat fram the Furapean Unaion. on
woneral markel conditions, global trade policies and currency
exchange rates in the near tenm and boyond:

the effect of changes in tax (ncluding U.S. tax refonm enacted

on December 22, 2017, which s commonty referred to as the
Tax Culs and Jobs Act of 2017). environmental, regulatory

and other laws and regulaticns including. among other things.,
export and imporl reqguirements such as the International Trafhc
n Arms Regulations and the Export Administration Regulalions.
anti-bribery and anti-corruption requirements, Inciuding the
Foraign Corrupt Practices Act. industrial cooperation agreerment
obligations. and procurement and other regulations) nthe U 5.
and other countries in which we, Raytheon and our businesses
each operate;

negative: effects of e announcemcent or pencency of the
proposed mearger with Raytheon or the separation transactions
on the market price of our and:or Raytheon's respechve conimon
stock and-or on our respective financial performance;

the abidty of UTC and Raytheon to recenve the requirad reguiatory
approvals for the proposed merger (and the nsk that such
approvals may result In the impostion of conditicns that couldd
acversely affoct the combincd company or tho oxpectod benefits
of the transaction) and 1o satisfy the other conditions to the
closing ot the merger on a imely basis or at all;
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* the accurrence of events that may give rise to a nght of one or
boln of UTC or Raytheon {0 lormunate the merger agreament;
¢ risks rclaling to the value of our shares to be issued in the
proposed merger with Raytheon, significant transaction costs
and/or unknown habihites:
the: possibility that the anticipaled benefits from he proposed
merger with Raytheon cannot be realized n full or at all or may
take longer to roalize than expected, including nsks associated
with third party contracts contaning consent and-or other
provisions that rmay be riggered by the proposed transachon;
risks assocaled with merger-related Itigation;
the possibility that costs or difficuities redated 10 the ntegration of
UTC's and Raytheon's operations will be graater than expected;
risks rodating to cormpleted merger, acgusibon and divestiture
actvity. including UTC's mtegration of Rockwell Collns, including

the nisk [hal the integration may be more diticult, ime-consuming

or costly than expected or may Not result n the achoevermer of
cstmatoed synergies within the conlermplated tme frame or at all,

the separation transactions and the combined company to retan
and hiro key parsenniel:

the expected benehts and timing of the soparation transactians,
and the rsk that conclilions to the separation transactions will not
be satished andyor that the separation transactions will not be

cornpleted within the expectod time frame, on the expectad terms

or at all;

the intended qualfication otiij the merger as a lax-ee
reorgarization and (il Ine separation transachons as tax free
1o UTC and UTC s shareownar s, in cach cage, for U.S. fedora
TCOME 18X pUrposes:

the poEshiity Mat aty DPINoNS, CoNSCnls. aporovals o FUINgGs
required in connecton wih the separat:on fransactons wil nat
be recenved or obtaned within the expected tme frame. on the
expectad terms or at all:

proposed merger with Raytheon and the separation ransactions
and rsks assocated with additonal indebtodness;

the nsk that <issynergy costs, costs of restructunng fransachions
and cother costs incurred 1IN connection with the separation
fransacbons will exceed our astimates; and

the impact of the propesed marger and the separation
transactions on the respective businesses of UTC and Raytheon

and the nsk that the separation transactons may be more difficult.

time-consuming or costly than expected, Including the impact
on UTC's resources. systems, procedures and contrgls and the

impact on relationships with customers. suppliers. employees and

other business counterparlics,

N adcition. our Annuai Report on Form 10-K for 2019 inaludes
Imponant Infonmaton as to nsks. unceramties and otner factors that may
calse actual results to ciffer materially from those exprassad or wmphed in
the: forward-tooking statements. See the "Notes to Consolidated Fnancial
Statorments” under the heading "Note 18: Contingent Liabilites.” the
socton btled "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Canaition and Results of Operations” under the headings "Business
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the abilily of each of UTC. Raytheon. the companies resufting from

expected financing transactions undertaken n connect.on with the

Overview,” "Rasuits of Operations,” "Liquidity and Financial Condition,”
and "Cnlical Accounting Estimates,” and the section tited " Risk
Factors.” Our Annual Report on Farmy 10-K for 2019 also ncludes
important information as to these factors in the "Business™ section
under the headings "General,” “Description of Business by Segment”
and "Other Matters Relating to Our Business as a Whaole,” and in the
“Legal Proceedings” scolion. Additional wnportant information as to
these factors is included in this 2019 Annual Report in the section
litled "Management's Discussion and Analyss of Financal Condition
and Results of Operations” under the headings “"Rostructuring Gosts,”
"Environmental Matters” and "Governmental Matters” and in our

Form S-4 Registration Statermments (Registrabion No. 333-220883) and
IRegistration No. 333-232696) under the heading "Risk Factors.” The
forward-lcoking statements speak ony as of the date of this repert o,
in the case of any document incorporatea by reference. the date of that
document. We undeartake no abbgaton to publcly update ar revise any
forward-looking staternents, whether as a result of new nformation,
future: events or otherwse, except as required by applicable law.
Acidinonal snformation as to factors thal may cause actual results to
differ matenally from those expressed or imiplied 1n the forward-iooking
statements s disciosod from trme to time in our athar fings with

the SEC.



Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The managerment of UTC is responsible for estabhstng and mantaining
adequate internal control over inancial reporting. Internal contral
over financial reporting 1s a process designed to prowide reasonable
assdrance regarding the rehability of financiai reporting and tne
preparation of fnancial statements for external repcring cUrposes in
accoraance with accounting principles generally accepted in the Unded
States of Amenca. Because of its inherent limdahons, internar control
over inancal reporting may "ot prevent or detect misstatermeants.
Management has assessed the effectveness of UTC's inlerna
control cver financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 In making
s assessment, managemeant has uliized Ihe crteng set forih by the
Carmmittoe of Sponsonng Organizations of the Treackway Commission
nts internal Control —intagrated Framework, released in 2013,
Management concluded that based onsts assessment, UTC's nternal
conltrol over financial reporiing was effectve as of Decamber 31, 2019,
The effectiveness of UTC's miternal control over financial reporting, as
of December 31, 2019, has beon aucited by PncowalerncuseCoopars
LLP an mndependont regsterad pubhc accountng hom, as staled in their
oper which s incluced nercin,

-

Gregory J. Hayes
Charman, President and Chief Exacutive Officor

t
, }7 W LX
Neil G. Mitchill, Jr.
Acting Senior Vice President & Chizf Financial Officer

(2429 ol

Robert J. Bailey

Corporate Vice Prosident, Controiler

United Technologies Caorporation
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

TO THE SHAREOWNERS AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF UNITED
TECHNOLOGIES CORPCRATION

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over
Financial Reporting
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of
United Technologies Corporation and its substdianes (ine “Company”}
as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the relaled consolidated
statements of operatons, of comprehensive income. of changes
11 equety and of cash flows for each of the thrse years i the penod
ended Docermber 31, 2019, including the related notes (Collectivery
referred to as the “consoldated tnancial statements”). We also have
audited the Company's internai controf over financial reperting as of
December 31, 2019, based on cntena established in nfernal Controf -
integratad Framework (2013] ssued by the Commuttee of Sponsonng
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (GO

I our opinion, the consolidated financial statements reforred to
above present farly. in all matenai respects, the financial position of the
Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its
operatons and its cash flows for each of the threo years i the penad
ernded December 31, 2019 0 canformuly wathy accounting prnciples
generaly accepted in the United States of Amenca. Also #1 our opirion.
the Company mantaned. in all matenal respects, affective ntemal
cardrol over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on
citena eslablished 10 ntermal Contro! - Integrated Framework (2013)
ssued by the GOS0,

Changos i Accounting Prnciples

As discussed n Note 19 te the consolidated financial statements. inc
Cormpany changed e manner in which it accounts for ieases i 2019
andd, as discussect in Nole 1 to the consolidated iinancial statements,
the Compary changsd the manner i which it accounts for revenuc
trom contracts with custormars i 20718

Basis for Opinions

The Company's managemenl ¢ rsponsible for these consolintated
fimancial staterments. for maintaning cltectve mernal contral over
hnancial reporting. and forits assessmaent of the effectivencss of
inlernal control over financial reporting. included in the accompanying
Managament's Repert on Intarnal Contror over Frnancial Reporting. Our
responabiity is 1o oxpress opinions on the Company's conschdated
financal statements and on the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting based on owr audits, We are a public accounling firm
registerad with the Puble Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB) and arc required 1o be ndependent with respect to
the Company in accordance wath the U.S. fedoral secunties taws and
the applicable rules and regulations of the Secuntios and Exchange
Commigsion and the PCACE.

We conducted our aucsts in accordance with the standards of the
PCAOB. Those standards regure that we plan and perfor the audits to
chtan reasonabic assurance aboul whether the consolidated financial
statarments are free of matenal misstaternent. wheother due to eror or
fraud. and whether effective internal control over financal reportng was
maintained n ail matenal respocts.
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Qur audils of the consoldated financial staterments included
performing procedures to assess the risks of malernal rninsstatement
al the cansalidated financiad statements, whethear due 1o error or
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those nsks. Such
procedures mcluded examining, on a lest basis, evidence regarcing
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
Our audis aiso included evatuating the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management. as weil as evalualing
the overall presertaton of the consolidated financial statements, Qur
audil of nternal control over financial reporting ncluded obtaning an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing
the sk that a matenal weakness cxists, and testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of miernal control based on
the assessed sk, Our audits also inciuded porforming such olher
procedures as we considered necessary in the creumstances, We
beteve that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over

Financial Reporting

A company's miteemal contrel over iinancal reporing s a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarcding the reabiity

of tinancial reporting and the proparation of inancial statements for
oxternal purposes N accordance with generaily accepted accouniing
principies. A company’s internal contral over inancial repartng ncludes
those polcas and procedures that i} pertain to the mantenance

of records that, m reasonable detad, accurately and farly reflect the
transactions and disposhions of the assets ol the company: (i} provicks
reasonable assurance that hansactions are recorded as necessary fo
pormil preparation of Enancial statements In accordance with generaily
accepted accounting prncikics, and thal recaipls and expenditures of
the company are being made onfy in accordance with authorizations of
managemant and directors of the company: and i) provide reasonabic
assurance regarding proeventon or imety detaection of unauthanzed
acqjusition. use. or dispostion of the company's assets that coudd have
a mataral effect on the inanciad statorments,

Because of its inhoront 1mitations, intornal contror over financial
eporting may NOt prevent or detect misstatemems . Also. oo chons
ol any evaliaton of effectiveness fo future percds arg subpect (o
the rs- thatl controls may become nadeguate because of changes
in conditions, or that the degree of compnance wath the policies or
procedures may delencrate.

Critical Audit Matters

The cnlical audit matters communicated below are matters ansing
from the current panad audt of the consolidlated financial statemonts
that were communicated or reqguired to be communicated te the audit
comm:ttes and thal it relate 10 accounts or disclosuwes hat are matenal
to the cansoldated financial statements and (I nvohved our especialy
challengng. subjectve, or complax judgments. The communication

of critical aucht matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the
consoldated financial statemenis. laken as a whole. and we arg not,
by communicating the crntical audit matters below, providing soparate
opinions on the aritical audit matters or on the acceunts o disclosures
to which they rofate,



Revenue Recognition - Estimated Costs at Completion for Certan
Long-Term Aeraspace Aftermarket Service Contracts

Ag deoscriced nNotes 1 and 20 to the consoldated finanoa
staternents, the Company recognizes revenue on an over-time Dasis on
certain fong-term aerospace aftermarkat service contracls, A subslantial
portion of the Company's $8.0 biflion Pralt & Whitney segment service
saies 18 derved from long-term contracts providing flest managemaent
sprvices and aftermarket mantenance. repain and overhaul services. As
disciosecd by management, the Company generally measures prograss
tovward completion tor these contracts using costs mcurred o date
~clatnve 1o total estimated cosls at complaton Decauss iranagoment
belioves that measure best deoicts the fransfer of canltrol to the
customer, which occurs as the Conrpany mcurs costs on the contracts
Dug 1o the long-term duration of those contracts and techincal
complexdy of Ihe engines an which the work s reaured to be perdformaod
for many of the performance obligations. management's astimation

of costs at completion s complex and requires ssgnificant judgrment.
Percdically dunng the year. or as necded when crcumstances changc
and warrant a modiication to a provious estimate. cost estimales
retuinng managemeant judgment are updated 1o measure the revenue to
recognize in me wilth progress made on contracts.

The prncipal considerations tor our determination (hal performing
nroceduies relating to revenue recognibion - eshmated costs at
completion for cefdain long-term aerospace aftermarket service
contracts 1s a crtical audit malier are there was significant judgrent
oy management 1o determine the estimated costs al completion. This
n o ied to sigrificant audhitor judgrment. subjectiity and effort in
poerfarming orocedures and evalualing audil cvidence relating 10 the
astimates of the costs to compiele.

Addrzssing the matter mvolved performing procedures and
ovaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall
opuicn on the consolidatad financial statements. Thaese procedures
ncluted testing the effectiveness of contrals relating to the revenue
rocognihon process. spechically as it ratates to controls over signidcant
assumptions usad in the devalopment of estimated costs al contract
completion. These procedures also mchided, among cthers, evauating
anct lesting Management’s process for doeveloping astmated Cosls
at contract completion, which ncluded avaluating on a test bases e
reasonatloness of assumplions consdered by managenient speciic
to acn contract BEvaluabng the assumptions related 1o the estmatea
costs at completon nvolved evaluating whether the assumplions used
were reasonabie considenng (i) management's histoncal forecasting
accuracy, fil current and past service cost and frequency exponence,
fiiry the consistent application of accounting polices, and i) the himely
dentibication of circumstances which may warrant a modification io a
previous estimate.

Gooawil and Intangible Assets Quaniiative imparmoent Assessmaents
Ag descnbed in Notes 1 and 2 1o the consolidated inancial

staterments. the Company's consolidated goodwill and intangible

asset halances werg $48.1 billien and $26.0 elion. respectively

as of Decamber 31, 2019, Intangible assets included unamorized
infangiole assets of $3.9 billon as of December 31, 2019, Goodwill and
unamoertized INtangible assets are subiect to annual impairment testing,
or more froquent 1f a triggerng evenl ocours. In developmg the estimates
for the fair value of reporting units and unamortized intangible assets,
signiicard judgment 15 required by management i the determinahon of
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the appropratenass of using a qualtative assessment or guantitative
assessment. The guanttative imparrment testing comparas carrying
values 1o farr vaiues and. when appropriate. the carmying value of these
assets is reduced to tar value. For these guanhiative assessments
that are pertormead for goodwill and unamortized intangible assets. far
value s prmarly based on income anproacnes using discounted cash
flowy and religt from royaity models. respactively. which have signficant
assumplions, including revenue growth rates, projected operating
ncome. terminal growth rates. discount rates and rovaity rates.

The principal considerations for our determination that pertorming
procedures relating to the goodwill and uniamortized inlangible assets
quantitatve mparment assessmeants s a cnhical audit matter as
there was significant judgment by management when developing the
fair value measurements of these assets, This in lurn led 10 a igh
degree ot auditor judgment. sutyect vity, and effort in performing
procedures to evaluate management's farr vaiue measuremeants and
signficant assumptions for both goodwilt and unamoertized ntangible
assels, including revenue growth rates. proected operating Income,
terminal grow!h rates. and ciscount rates. In additon. the audit offort
mwoived 1he use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge
{0 assist In performing these procedures and evaluating the audt
evidence obtanad,

Addressing the matier involved performing procedures and
cvaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall
opiniEn on the consclhidated fimancial stalements, These procedures
nciuded testing the effectivenass of conltrols relating to management's
goodwill and unamortized intangible assels quantitabive mpairment
assessmonts, including controls over he valuahon of the Company's
reporting urvls and unamartized nlangitle assets. These procedures
also included. among others. testing management's process for
denveloping the fair value estimates: evaluating the approoralenass
of the discounted cash flow and relief from royalty models: teshng
the completeness. accuracy, and relevance of underlying data in
the modeals: and ovalualing the sigrif-cant assumphons used by
management, including revenus growth rates, projected oporating
income. terminal value growth rates and discount rales Evaluating
ANAGIMens assumohons related 1o revenus growth rates. proected
operaling income. and terminal growtn rates nvolved evaluatng whother
the assumptions usced by managemenl wers reasonable considenng
1 the current and past performance of the reporting units and
unamortized ntangible assels. (i) the consistency with external market
and industry data. and Qi) whethor these assumplions were consistent
with evidence obtained n other areas of the audit. Professionals with
specialized skill and knowledge were used to assist in the evaluation
of the Company’s discounted cash flow models and certain significant
assumprons, nclucking discount rates.

PF[MWW&AM LLP

PricewaternouseCaoners LLP
Hartford, Connecticut
Fobruary 6. 2020

We have served as the Company's auaitor since 1947,
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Consolidated Statement of Operations

R A A i St s e e e et IR 2019 : ELON N | ‘
Net Sales: l
Product sales $ 54,004 | S 45434 S 41,367
Senice sales e w042 | zi0e7| 1aare
77,046 i 66,501 53.837 !
Losts and Expenses: o o {
Cost of products sold 42,444 | 36,754 31,224
Cost of services sold 14,821 | 13231 ] 12977 |
Research and developiment 3,015 2.482 2.427
_8eling, general and administrative 8,621 7.066 6,429 ]
o 68,601 50513 | 53057 |
Uthor inoomae, net o i o 1,505 1,950 |
Operating profit i 8,966 8.552 8.128 |
Nun-service pension (henefif) {888) (765} (534)'
Interest expense, net 1,611 1.038 | Bs] i
Income from operations before income taxes 8,243 8,280 7,763 |
_Income lax expense 2,295 ! 2.626 2823
Netincome from operations 5948 | 5654 | 4,920 |
Less: Noncontroling interest in sutsidiares’ earmings from operations 411 385 368
Net income attributable to common shareowners $ 5,537 | § 5.269 [ $ 4,552 |
Earmings Per Share of Commaon Stock — Basic:
Net income attributabie to common shareowners $ 648 } $ 658 l $ 576 ‘
Earnings Per Share of Comvmaon Stock —Dilutect ' %
Net income attributable to common shareowners $ 641 f § 650 | 5 570 ‘
Weighted avorage number of snares outstanding. . ! i
Basic shares 8548 | 8004| 7900 ‘
Diluted shares 863.9 | 2101 - 799 1|

Bt LTy g N e L e T g S e
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

I 2019 LG
Net incame from operations $ 59488 5654 | $ 4.920 |
Cther comprahensive toss) incaime, net of tax ‘
Foresgn currency ranslation achustments ! ,
Foregn currency transiation adjustments ansng dunng penod 266 | 5164 620
Less: Reclassification adjustments for gain on sale of an investment in a I
foraign entity recognized in Other incoma, net 2 2) {10)
T 268 B 18 G0
Tax expanse 43) @) — |
225 i522) 610 |
Pension and postretirement benefit plans i
Net aciuarial (loss) gam ansing durnng percd 543), (1.819 241
Prior service (cost) credit arising during period {6} (22)! 2
Amortizaticn of actuanal loss and prior service cost 228 244 529
Other 93) 105] (118
(414} (1.392) 656
 Tex benefi fexpense) L _97] 3] (263
(317} (1.086 393
Unrealized (Ioss) gain on available-for-sale securities | |
Unrealsed holdng gan ansmng durng pened - - 9
Reclassification adjustments for gain included in Other income, net - | — 1 {566)
ASU Z016-01 adoplon imgact {Note 10 —_ 13 —
- ® e
axbonott e - -2
i e = &)@
Change in unrcallized cash flow haedoging 1
Unrealized cash flow hedging (foss) gain arising during period (33)I (SOT)J 347
Loss [gany reclassified into Product sales 51 {16 139;
- 18] @23 o8
laiexpense benett (11) 78, o
1l peml 23
6?1(:4 conyrchensive (loss) income. ret of tax ) ) :; o {85) it ‘83&‘ 829 1
Eomprehernsive income o S 5,863 ‘ 3.8186 f 5,809 ‘
Less: comprehensive income attnbutable o noncontrolling interest (3_9&)__ . 13551 M

Comprshensive incaome attributable 1o common shareowners

$ 5464 | S 3.461 | $ 5361 |

Seeeetneety g Motes L Coesarlatio - evane s Stiterents
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

AT L LR e A VL e e e 2019 | sod
t
Assets ’
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,378 |5 6.152
Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtiul accounts of $389 and $488) 13,524 14,271 |
Contract assets, current 4,184 3.486
Invertory, net S 10,8607 10,083
Other assets, current 1,461 1.511
Totat Current Assets . - 97,497 35,503
Customer financing assets T 3,477 3,023
Future incorne tax benefits 1,611 1,646
Fixad assets, net 12,765 12,297
Uperating lease right-ot-use assets 2,509 -
Goodwill 43,063 28112
Intangible assets, net 26,046 26,424
Other assels 7,668 7,206
Intal Acsets T o FARTIA | § 148014
Liabilities and Equity
Short-term borrowings $§ 2364 | $ 1,484
Accounts payable 10,809 11,080
Accrued labilitins 11,737 | 10,723
Contract labiites. current 6,180 5,720
Long-term debt currently dus o E,iSEL 2876 J
Total Current Liabities e o - 34,586 31,368
Long-tarm ekt 37,788 [ 41,102 !
Futwre pension and postretirement borcht obligations 3,502 S.018
Qperating lease liabiities 2,144 i — S
Contract habdties. long -term 5,732 5069 -
Cther long-tefm liabilities 11,638 l 14,845 |
V i(ﬂal Lf;;bfﬁ?m 95,390 43,102

Commitrents and contingent fiabiities (Notes 4 and 18)

Redeemable noncontialling inlerest 95 109
Sharcowners™ Equity: } f
Capital Stock. ‘
Preterred Stock, $1 par value; 250,000 shares authorized; None issued or outstanding - — |
Common Stock, S1 par valee; 4.000.000 shares authonzed, 1,430,845 and 1,146,961 shares issued 23,019 22,514
Treasury Stock-— 586,479 and 585,479 commaon shares at average cost {32,626) ‘ (32,482)‘
Retanod carmings 61,594 : 57,823
Urleartied ESUP sharés 4| (o)
lutal Accumulated other comprehensive loss {10,149); 19.333;
Total Shareowners’ Equity ' ‘ T ' 41,774 I 306,446 ‘
Noncontroling interest 2,457 ! 2164
Tulal Eyuily - #2311 | 408510
Total Liabiltes and Equity ST $ 139,716 ' S 132211

B T [ R I T I B N R AU I R R TS TS
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Y 2019 NS L3t
Operating Activities: 1 l {
Net income fram operations $ 59485 5634 5 4920
Adjustments to reconciie income from operations 1o net cash flows provided Dy operating activities: i |
Depreciation and amortizaton 3,183 2,433 2140
Deferred income tax provision 35 ] 735 | 82 |
Stock compensation cost 356 ¢ 257 192
Net periodic pension and cther postretirement benefit (525)1 (393)| {1 58)!
Forttolio separation tax cost 634 - -
Gain on sale of Taylor Gompany - [ (799)! — i
Change 3
Accounts receivable 419 | (2426) (448,
Canfract agsets, current {307), B0 —
inventory w218)  san| (074!
Other current assots {309]3 161 (10
Accounts payable and accrued liabilties 1,229 I 2,446 | 1,571
Contract llabiltes, current 359 } 205 -
income taxes @08) (195 1579
Globai pension contributions (118) [147) 12.112)
Canadian government ssttlement (33); (429)I (285}L
r Qperahngqc@whe& net (961); 33) 6551

ot cash flows p'r'ovided by opergting activities

Investing Activities:

2258

8883 |  B32] 5631,

Capital expenditLres (1902 (2,014
herease n custamer financing assets (787): 985 1,197
Decrease in customer financing assets 129 I 806 l 222 ;
Inyastments i tusinesses (Nota 2) (56) (15.398). 231
Dispositions of businesses (Note 2} 138 ! 1,105 1 70 ‘
Froceeds from sale of investments in Watscao. Inc - ‘ - 596
increase in collaboration intangible assets {851) (400) (380}
Racaipts tpayments) from settlements of dervatve cortracts 336 143 1!
Other investing activities, net (245)! {139) 232 |
Net cash fiows used nawvesting actvihics (3,092) 116,973 RERSARC)]
F_iﬁancmg Activitios: |
Issuance of long-term deb 88 13,455 4,954
Repayment of long-term debt (2,830}| (2,520) (1,804}
increase [dacreasea) N sharnt-tenm Darrowings. not 927 (356) (271
Proceeds from Common Stock issued undar employes stock plans 27 | 36 31
Dredends pad on Common Stock (2,442) 2,170 12,074
Repurchase of Common Stock {1 51)‘ {325) (1,453}
Other fingncing activities, net (183}. [135) 576
Net cash flows (uUsed in} provided by financing activities (4,564)! 7.965 {993}
tifect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and casn equivalents 19) 1120 216G
Nat increase {decrease} in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash - 1,208 | (2.806) 1,829 I
Cash. cash eyuivalents and restncted cash. beginning of vear 6,212 9.018 7,189
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of year 7,420 I 6,212 9,018
Less Restncted cash. included in Other assets 42 . 60 33
Gash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 7,378 | § 6152 F 8,985
Suppiemental Disclosurg of Cash Flow Infarmation: |
Inferest paid, net of amounts capitalized $ 1,801 1 $ 10271 & 974
Income taxes paid, net of refunds $ 1,768 |5 1714 S 1.326

SEubUAT S TN L St
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

R [ O I e e ], W e 2019 so18 0 KRN
Feiity at faniiary £ § 40,810 (€ 31,401 [C 09160
Cammon Stock | i
Balance at January 1 22514 | 17574 17,285 |
Common Stock 1ssued under employee plans 525 - 423 331
Gomemon Stock repurchased - - 1
Comimon Stack issued for Rockwell Colins outstanding commaon stock & enuty awards - 4.523 | —
{(Purchase) sale of subsidiary sheres from noncontroiling interest, net (20) i af
Redeemable noncontroling interest faw value adjustmen - -~ [*7)
" Balance at Decermber 31 ) o sama| oRA1a] 17,574
Treasury Stock | i
Dalarce &b January 1 [, aM) {.‘ih‘hqh')i (f_wl'lbf.i)l
Common Stock ssued under employee plans 7 6 7
Gomon Stock repurchased {151) (3201  (1,453)]
Cammon Stock issued for H_(Jcku'f()\l Collins outstancing common Siock’& equity awards - 3.437 . —
Balance at December 31 N ©82.626) (32482)] (36.595)]
Retained Earnings : { !
Batance at January 1 57,823 | ob242| 52873 |
Net income 5,537 | 5,268 1552
Divigends on Common Stock (2,442)‘ @R170)  (2,074)|
Bractends on ESOP Common Stock {70) (71} (7211
Redeemable noncontrolling interest fair value adjustment 4 | 7 E (42)l
ASU 2018-02 adoption mapact (Ncte 10) 745 — !
New Revenue Standard adopbion impact - [ {480) {
Oiher o (3}, 26
Balance at December 31 . o o ~ 61,504 l 57,823 l
Unearned ESOP Shares 7 o
Balance at January 1 (76)| 85
Comnon Stack issued undar employee plans 12 9
" Balance at December 31 ) o ___ - G
) Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income B ‘
Balance at January 1 @333 (7525 ©334)
Othiear comprehensive toss) income nef of tax ) o (816) {1,808, 809
Belance at December 31 o o - (10,149)  ©333)] (7525
Noncoentrolling Interest
Baldnee HL JdnuEry | 2164 181 | 1590
Net Income 411 385 ° 368
Redeemable noncontroling interest in subsidiaries’ earnings 7| @] (17)]
Other comprehensive (oss; ncome, net of tax (12) 1304 3
Umdends attibutable to noncontroling interast (268 15 (336)
Sale (purchase) of subsidiary shares from noncontralling merest. net 70 23 —
{Disposition) acquisition of noncontrofing interest, net (23)} (8)\ 14
Capital contribitions 108 | 342 135
Uther , B o - | 5 | 1
Balance at December 314 o . _ 2,457 2,164 1811
Equity ot Uccombek 1 $ 44,231 |5 4081018 s140
Supplemental share information o [ l
Snargs of Comimon Stock issucd under employee plans 3,883 i 2775 3.206
Shares of Common Stock repurchased 1438 | z2727| 12900
Dvidends per share of Commaon Stock $ 294 & 2.84 .8 272

Sear qoeermitadtging NoTas L Ooraniliated =R Al Storaminen
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

The preparation of financial statements requires managemeant 1o maka:
sshimates and assumptions that aflect the reponed amounts of assets,
liatkhes, revenues and expenses. Actual results could affer from those
estimatcs. Ceran reclassfications have boen made to the pr.or year
amounts o conlorm to the current yoar presentation,

Consolidation. The Consoldated Financial Staterments nclude the
accounts of Undted Technologics Gorporation (UTC) and ifs controlled
subsiciarices. Inlercompany transactions have beaen cimmated,

Cash and Cash Equivalents. Cash and cash equivalenis inciudes
cash on hand. demand deposits and short-term cash investments that
are highly lauid i nature and have onginal matunies of thiee months
O less.

On occason, we are required 1o mantan cash deposits with cortan
banks vath respect to contractuai obligatons related fo acquisitions or
divestitures or other legal obhgations. As of December 31, 2019 ana
2018, the amount of such restnctedt cash was approximately $42 miilon
and S60 million, respectively.

Accounts Receivable. Accounts recevable are stated at therr net
ostmated realized value. The allowance for doubtful accounts s based
uporn an assessment of customer creditwortniness. historical payment
exporence, and the ago and slatus of oulstandng recevables. Current
and iong -lerm accounts recenvable as of Decoembior 31, 2019 includes
retanage of $111 millon and unbilled receivables ar $522 milion,
which primarhy ncludes unblled recevables with cormmercial
aerospace customers. Current and long-term accounts receivahle as
of Decermber 31, 2018 inciude refainage of $116 mulion and unbilied
recevabies of $678 milion, which pamarily includes unbilled recevables
with commercsal asrospace cuslomers. See Note 4 for discussion of
commercidl acrospaco ndustry assels and commlments,

Retanage represents amounts thal, pursuant Lo the applicable
contracl, are not duc until project compiehon and aceeptance by the
customer Unbilled recevables represent revenues that are nal currently
biianle to the customer undler the terms of the contract. These items are
expectad lo be ited and collecied n the normal course of Dusiness.
Unilled receivables where we have an unconditional nght to payment
are mcluded In Accounts recewable.

Contract Assets and Liabilities. Coniracl assets and habilities
represent the difference in the iming of revenue recognition from receint
of cash from our customers. Confract assets reflect revenue recognized
and performance ohligations satisfied in advance of customer bitling.
Perormance obligations partially satsfied n advance ot customer
tulings are included 1in contract assels.

Contract habdites rejate to payments receved In advance of the
satisfaction of performance under the contracl, Woe recoive paymonts
from custorrers based on the terms established in our contracls. See
Note & far further discussion of contract assets and liabilities.

Inventory. inventory s stated at the lower of cost or estimated
reaizable value and are primarily based on first-in, first-out (FIFO) or
average cost methods: however. cortan Coling Acrospace Systems and
Carner enitios use the last-in, first-out (LIFQ) method. Ifinventones that
were valued using the LIFC melhod had beer valued undor the FIFG
mefhod. thay wold have boen higher by $126 mifion and $119 milion
al December 31, 2019 and 2018, respechively.

Valuation reserves for excess. oosolete. and siow-moving mventory
are estimaled by comparng the inventory levels of indrdual parts to
both future saes forecasts or production requrements and histoncal
usage ratos in order (o identify inventory where the resale value or
replacement value 1s less than mventonaole cost Other factors that
management considers in determaning the adequacy of these reserves
Inclide whatner ndividual irvventory parts meot curreat speciiicalions
and cannot ba subshtuted for a part current'y boing sold or used as a
sercce part, overall markat conditions, and other inventory managamaont
nitatives. Manufacturing costs are allocated to curqent produchon and
firm contracts.

Equity Method Investments. Investnionts in which we have
the abiity tc exercise significant antluence, bul do Not cantrod, are
accounted for under the eguity method of accounting and are ncluded
in Other assets on the Conschdated Batance Sheet. Under this methog
of accounting. aur sharg of (he nel carmings or losses of the nvestee
13 included i Other mcame. net on the Consolidated Statement of
Operations smce the activities of the nvestee are closely aligned
with the operatons of the business segment holding the mvestmenl,
Weo evaluate our egudy method nvestrents whenever events or
changes n circumstance indicate that the carrying ameounts of such
mvestments may be impared. If a dedline in the value of an eqimly
method .nvastment 15 determined 1o be otaer than tempordary, a l0ss 15
recorded n earmings in the current perod. UTC salls preducts to and
purchases praducts fromns unconsoldated sntties accountod for ancdor
the eouty method. which are considered related parties, This actnaty is
prodarmimantly within our Carrier segment and 1s not considerad matenai
to lhe Consoldated Slatemant of Ooerabions nor Consohdatea Balance
Sheet of UTC.

Customer Financing Assets. Customer Financing Asscts {CFA]
primanly reiate to the agrospace business In which we prowvide financing
to arline custormers. The most cormmon types of fmancing include
products under fease. notas recerablo. long-term accourts recavabic
and lease recewvable. We record rovenue from lease assels by applymng
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASBI Accounting Standards
Caoditicahon (ASC) Topic 842, Leases, and from intarest on the notes,
accounts and lease recevanles. interest from notes and financiny
leases. rental income from operating lease assets and gans or l0sses
on sales of operatng lease assots is aggrogated under the caption of
"Other income. nel” ntne Consohdated Slatement of Operations The
current portion of these financing arrangemenls are aggregated under
the caption of “Olher assels, current” and the non-current gortions
of these financing arrangements are aggregated under the caplion of
“Customer financing assets” in the Consgoldated Balance Sheet. The
increases and decreases N CFA from funding. receipts and certan
other activty. are reflected as Investing Activities In the Consalidated
Statement of Cash Flows, The product under leaso asscts are vaiuod
at cost and reviewed for impairment when circunmistances ndicate that
the related carrying amounts may not be recoverabie. Notes, accounts
and lease recewvable are valued at cost and revicewed for impairrmnent
when it 1s probable that we will oe unable 1o collect amounts due, As of
December 37, 2010 the reserves related ta customaer financing assets
are not materal.
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Business Combinations. Wo account for transactions that are
classifiec! as business combinatons N accordance with FASE ASC
Topic 805, "Busmess Combmations.” Once a business 1s acyuired. the
farr value of the dentfiable assets acquired and liabilibes assumed is
determined with tha excess cost recorded 1o goadwill, As rogured, a
preiminary far valueg is determined once a busness is acquired, wilh the
final determination of the fair vaiue being completed within the one year
measurement period from the date of acquisition,

Goodwill and Intangible Assets. Goodwill represents costs n
excess of far values assigned to the underlying net assets of acquired
businesses. Goodwill and ntangible assets decmed fo have ndefinite
Ivess are not amortized. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibic assets
are subject to annual impairment testing or when a tnggering cvent
ccours using the guedance and crtena doscribed in the ntangibles -
Goochwill and Other Topic of the FASR ASC Thes testing comparcs
carrying values (o far values and, when approprate. the carrying value
of these assets s reduced to far valug.

Inlangitle assets consist of service portfolios, palents, rademarks:
tradenames, customer reiationships and other intangible assets
nclucing collaboration assels. as discussed funther in Nete 20 Acquired
nlanginle assets are recogrezed at far value in purchase accounting
anct than amortized to cost of sales and selng. gonaral & adnunistralve
CxXpensas over the applicana useful ves, Also indudad within other
infanagible &ssets arg commercial asrospace payments made o secure
certan contractual rights to provide protuct on new arcrafl platforms.
We classify amortization of such payments as a reduction of sales Such
nayments et captalizec when thore are distinct rghts obitaned and
there are sufficient incremental cash flows to support the recoveratlity
of the assets established. Otherwise. the apoicable partion of the
payments are expenscd. Considoralion paid on these contractuat
commilmentsa s capitalized when i is no longer condiional.

Usetr wes of finite-wed intangible assets are estimated based
upon the nature of 1he infangble asset and me ndustsy nwhich the
ntangibie assclis Lsen. These ntangble assets are amorized based
on e patternan which the econonie benefits of the intangic assets
are consumed. For poth our comnmigrgal asrospace colkaboraton
assels and exclusiaty arrangements. The pattern of cconomic benel t
gonerally results 0 lower amortization during the devalopment penod
with wncreasing amortization as programs enter full rate production and
aftermarket cycles. If a patiern of econamic benefit cannot be reliably
determined or il straght-ne amortzation approximates the pattern of
economic benclit, & straight-line amortization method may be uscd. The
range of estrmated useful lives 1s as follows:

Coliaboration assets

Costorer refaticnstues and seladx ) pongrims
Purchasecd service comtracts

Patents & tragdemarks

Exzclusivity assets

510 25 vears ‘

4t AU years

Leases. We account for leases in accordance with ASC Topic
842 Leases. Under Topic 842, the right-of-use model requires a lesses
to record a nghi-of-use assel and a lease liabllity on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet for all lsasos with torms longer than 12 menihs, Leases
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are classfied as ether fimance or operating. witn classification affecting
the pattern of expense recognition in the Consolidated Stalement of
Operations. In addition. Topic 842 roquires a lessor o classify leases
as either sales-type, finance or operating. A lease wilt be treated as
a saleif it ransfers all of the nsks and rewards, as well as conirol of
the undertying asset. to the lesses. If nsks and rewards are conveyed
withoul the transfer of control. the lease 1s treated as finanang. If the
lessor doesn’t corvey nsks and rewards or control, the lease 1s treated
as operating

Wer ontor inle lease agreerments tor 1he use of real estate space,
vehicles. information technology equiprment, and certain other
equipment under operating and finance leases, We determine if an
arrangemaoent confainsg a lease at ncoption. Operating leases are
ncluded i Operating lease nght-of -use assels, Accrued labiihes. and
Operating lease lalltes in our Consoldated Balance Sheet Finance
eases are nol considared significan! to our Consolidated Balance Sheet
or Consalidated Staterment of Operations. Finance lease nght-of-use
assols at December 31, 2019 of 555 millon are includoed in Other
assefs inour Consolidated Balance Sheet. Finance lease habilities at
Decambier 31, 2019 of $84 milion are mcludedt .0 Long-term debt
surrently due, and Long-term debt in our Consolicated Balance Sheet.

Rignt-of-use assels represent our nghl 1o use an underly:ng
asset for the lease lerm and lease labilites represent our obligahon
to rmmaka lease payments ansing from the lease. Lease nghl-of-use
assets and iaiihtes are recogreded al commencemoent date based
on he present value of lease payments over the leaso lerm. As most
of our leasas 2o not provsde an -molicit rale. v use odr Nncroment a
borrowing rate basea on the informabon avalatic al commencement
date in determininyg the present value of ease payments, and use the
impheit rate whon roadly determnanle, We deteaning our ncrenienila?
porrowing rate through market sources micluding relevant industry ratcs
Qur lease nght-of-use assets also nclude any

ase pre payments

ano exciude lease incentives, Cortain of our leases nclude variable
payments, whch may vary based upon chandes in facts or
crrcunistances aftor the start of the lease We exoude vanable paymants
from lease nght-of-use assets ana lease apilitics, (o Ihe extent not
considared fixed, and inslead, expense variable paymeonts as incurred,
vanable sase expenss and lease expense for short duration contracts
s not a material component of lease expense. Our lcases generally
have remaning fease lerms of 1 1o 20 years. some of which ncludc
options to extend leases. For the majonty of our leases with aptions to
extend, those ophons are uE 10 & years with the abdity to terminate the
lzase within 1 year. The exercise of lease renewai options is at our solo
discretion and our lcase nght-of-use asscls and habities reflect only the
optons we are reasonaniy certain that we will exercise, Lease expense
1S recognized on a straght-line basis over the lease term.

Ir ivted INS1ances we act as a lessor. primarily for conmmerel
acrospace engines and certain heatmy. ventlation and air conditicning
HVAC) systems and commercial eguipment, all of which are classilied
as operating leases. These leases are not significant to cur Cansolidated
Baance Sheet or Consolidated Staternent of Operations.



Other Long-Lived Assets. We evajuate the patential \mparment
of other long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances
nchicate that the related carrying amounts may not be recoverable. If the
caryng value of other iong-lived assets held and used exceeds the sum
of the undiscourted expecled future cash flows. the carmang value 1s
writton down to far value.

Long-Term Financing Receivables. Cur iong-term fnancing
recenvables primarily reprasent balances relaied to the asrospace
businesses such as long-term trade accounts recenable. leases. and
notes recevabic. Wae aiso have othar long-lerm recemvables in our
commercal tusnesses: however, both the ndmiduat and aggregale
amaunts of those othar receivables are not significant.

Long-lerm trade accounts recenvable are principaily amounts
ansng from the saie of geods and seraces with a contractual matirity
dalg or realizaticn period of greater than one year and are recognized
as "Other assets” In cur Consolidated Balance Sheel. Notes and
leases recevable are recognized as “Customer financing assets” in
o Consolidated Balance Sheet. These exclude recevanles related
to operatng leases. The following table summanzes the balance
by class of acrospace busmness related long-lerm recervables as of
December 31, 2C19 and 2018

' R N 2019 R
Leng-tenm trade accounts receivable $ 251 | $ 269
Motes and leases reca 1hle 265 25¢
Total long-term receivabies $ 516 | 8 8§27

We determine a recavable 1s imparced when, based on curnrent
informahion and cvarts, 1t s probable thal we will be unable to collcet
amounts due according 1o the contractual terms of the recevable
agreement. Faclors considerad in assessing collectatnlity and nsk
nclude. but are not irited 1o, examinabion of credit guality :ndicators
and other evaluation measures. underlying value of any collateral or
seounty ntcrests, sigrl cant past due balances, historcal losses, and
eashiyg coonomic conditions,

Wer detormine oroait rahings tor cach customer in our portfolo
based upen publc intormabon and information abtained direcily
from our customers. We conduct a revew of customer credit ratings,
published historical credit default rates for different rating categones.
and multiple trird-panty aircraft value pubilications as a basis to vakdate
the reasonableness of the allowance for losses on these balances
guarerly or when ovents and circumstances warrant. Customer credt
ratings range ftom customers with an extremely strong capacity 1o meact
financial abkgatons. to customers whose uncoliateralized recevable
150 default. There can be no assurance that actual results will not
differ from estimates or that consideration of these factors in the future
will not result in an increase or decrease to the allowance for credit
lossas on long-tenm recevables. Based upon the customer crocht
ratings, approximately $150 mithon of our long-term recewvables were
considercd to bear high credit risk as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.
See Note 4 for further discussion of commercial aerospace industry
assels and commitments

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Reserves for credl losses on recenvables relate to specifically
dentified recenables that are evaluated indivicually for impairment.
For notes and leases rocavable. we determing a specific reserve
for exposure based on the difference belween the carryeng value of
the recevable and the estimated farr vatue of the relaled coltateral
in connaction with the evaluaton of credit nsk and collectabilty. For
long-term trade accounts recevable, we evaluate credit nisk and
collectabibty ndvidually 1o determing if an allowance s necessary.
Our iong-term iecaivables reflected in the table above, which nclude
reserves of $17 milkon and $316 millon as of December 31, 2019 and
2018, respechvely, are individually evaluated for impairment. Al both
December 31, 2019 and 2018, we did not have any significant baiances
that arc considarcd to be dolinguent, on non-accrual status, past aue
90 days or more, or considerad to be mpared.

Income Taxes. In the ordinary course of busness there is
inherent uncertainty in quantifymg our ncome tax positions, We assess
cur income tax positicns and record tax benefits for all years subject
to examination based upon management s evaluation of the facts,
circumstances, and information avalable at the reporting date. For
those lax posiions where it 1s maore-likely -than -not that a tax benafit yalt
be sustaned, we nave recorded the largest amount of 1ax benefit wiin
a groater than 3074 Ikelihood of bomg realized upon ulimate settliermeant
wath  teang authonty that has full knewledge of all relevant nformation.
For those ncome tax positions where s nat more-lkely-than-not that
a fax benefil will e sustaned, no tax benefit has been recognized n
the financial slatements Where applicable, associated nterest expensae
has also been recognized. We recognize acerued interest refated to
unracogrized tax henefits 1n interest expense. Penalties, i incurred,
would be recoynized as a componunl o nceme tax expense.

On Deceimber 22, 2017 the TCJA was enacted. The TCUA
contans a new law that subjecls the Company to a tax on Global
Intangpble Low-Taxed Income (GILTY, begmning n 2018. GILT! s a tax
on foraign income N excess of a deemed retum on langible assets ol
foreign corporations. The FASB has provided (hat comparies subject to
GILTI have the option to account for the GILTI tax as a penod cost if and
when incurred. or to recognize deferred taxes tor temparary differences,
ncluding outside basis dilferences. expacied to reverse as GILTIL We
nave clected to accound for GILTI as a period cost. as incurred.

Revenue Recognition, VWe account for revenue 1in accordance
with ASC Topic 606 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. We
adopted ASGC 806 effective January 1, 2018 and elected the modified
retrospectve approach. The results for ponods before 2018 were not
adjusted for the new standard and 1he cumuiative clicet of the change
i accounting was recognized through ratained carmings al the date
of adopton. Under Topic 606, & performance obhgation 1s a promise
N a coniracl with a customer to transfer a distinct good or service to
lhe: customer Some of our contracts weth customers contain a single
performance obligation, while others contain multiple performance
obligaticns most commonly when a contract spans multiple phases of
the product Iife-cycle such as devetopment, production, mantenance
and suppor. A contract's transaction prce 1s aliccated to each distnct
performance obligation and recognized as revenue when. or as. the
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porformance obligation 1s satisficd. When there are multiple performance
obkgations within a contract, we allocate the transaction price 1o each
pertormance obligation based on its standalone selling price.

We consider the contractual consideration payabie by the
customer and assess variable consideration that may affect the
total transaction price, including contractual discounts. contract
ncentive payments. aslimates of award fees. unfunded contract value
undler U.S. Government conlracts. and olher sources of variable
consideration, when determining the transaction price of each contract.
Ve nclude vanapie cansideration in the esbmaled transaction price
when there 1s a basis to reasonably estimate the amount. These
ashmates are based on historical experience, anticmated porformance
and our best judgment at the tme. We also consider whother our
contracts provide customers with significant financinyg. Generally, oy
contracts do not contain signf:cant inancing.

Timing of the satisfaction of performance obligations vares across
our businesses due ta our civerse product and serice mix, customer
base. and confractual terms.

Foit i tyne rovenue recogration Porformance otbhgatons are
satishied as of a pont n time for heating, ventilating, ar-conditioning and
reingerabion syslems, certan alarm and hre detecton and suppression
systoms, and coramn acrospace components, enginaes, and spare parts
Reveriue 1s recognized when control of the nroduct transfers to the
customer, generally upon product shipment.

Over-time revenue recoghition. Performance obligahons are
sabisfied over- time f the customer recern es the benehts as we perform
work, if the customer controls the asset as it 1s bang proauced. or f
the product beng produced for the customer has no alternatve use
and we have a contractual rght to payment. Revenue 1s recognized
for our construction-lype and certain production-type contracts on
an ovar e basis We recognize revenuc on an over-time basis an
certain 'ong-term acrospace aftermarket contracts and aflermarkael
scrvice work; development. fixed price, and other cost rarmburserment
contracts n our aerospace businesses: and elevatar and escatator
sales. installation, service. modernization and other constructicn
contracts 1 our cominarcial busnesses, For construction and
installation contracts within our commercial businesses and aerospace
perormance obligations satishicd over time, roevenue s recognized using
costs incurred to date relatve 1o total estmated costs at completion
te measure progress  Incurred costs represent work performed. which
correspond with and best depict transfer of control 10 the customer.
Confract costs nclude labor, matenals, and subcontractars’ costs,
or other direct cosls. and where apphcatie on government and
commercial contracts, indirect costs.

For certam of our long-term aftermarket contraclts. revenue 1s
recognized over the contract period. In the commercial businesses,
rovenue -3 primarily recognized on a straght-ling basis over the contract
period. In the asrospace businesses, we generally account far such
confracts as a serigs of dally obligations (o stand ready to provide
spare parts and preduct mantenance and aftermarket services. These
arrangements include the sale of spare parls with integrat services
to our customers. and are generally classified as Service sales, with
the corresponding costs classified in Cosi of services sold, within the
Consoliciated Statemaent of Operations. Revenue is pnimarily recognized
w1 properion to cost as sufficient historical evidence indicates that the
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cost of performing services under the contract 1s incurred on an other
than straight-line basis. Aerospace contract modhcations are routine
and contracts are often modified to account for changes in contract
specfications or requirements. Contract modifications that are for
goods or services that are naot distinct are accounted for as part of the
existing contracl.

We incur costs for engineering and development of aerospace
proclucts directly related to existing or anticipated contracls with
customers, Such costs generate or enhance cur ability to sahisfy our
cerformance cbligations under these contracts. Wa capitalize these
costs as contract tulfilrment costs to the extent the costs are recoverablc
from the associated contract margin and subsoguently amortize
the costs as the original eqguipment {OEM) products performance
obgatons are satisfied. ininstances where iIntclicctual property does
nol transfer to the customer. we defer the customer funding of OEM
product engineenng and development and recognize revenue when
the OEM proaucts performance obligations arc satisfied. Capitaiized
contract fuffilmeant costs were $1,519 milion and 3914 milhon as of
Decembear 31. 2019 and 2018, raspoctvely and are recognized in
*Other assots” in our Consclidaled Balance Sheet and are included in
Other operating activitics. net in our Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows. The ncrease n capitalizeda net contract fulfiltment costs 1s driven
Iy current yoar actmity at Goling Aorospace Systems. Costs to abtan
contracls are not matenal,

L.oss provisions on OEM contracts are recognized 1o the extent
that astirmaied contract costs exceed the astimated considoration
from the products cantemplated under the contractua arrangsment.
For new commitmaenis, wo genarally rocord 1oss provisions at the
earlar of contract announcement or contract sIgning excent for
certain contracts under which osses are recorded upon receipt of the
purchase order that obligates us to perform, For existing commutrents,
anticipaled losaes on contractual arrangements are recogniZed in
the panod nowhich 1esses become avident. Products contermplalcd
under contractual arrangements inciude irm guantities of product
sald unicler contract and, in the commercial engine and wheeis and
brakes businesses, future highly probable sales of replacement parts
required by regulatron that are expected to be sold subseaquently for
Incorporation into the ongmal equpment. In the commeraial engine and
wheels and brakes businesses, when the combined onginal eguipment
and attermarket arrangement for each individual sales campaign are
profitable, we record onginal equipment product fosses. as applicable.
at the time of delivery

We revicw our cost estimates on significant contracts on a
quarterly basis and tor others. no less frequently than annually or
whien circlenstances change and warrant a modification (6 a previous
estimate. We record chanyes in contract estimates using the cumulative
calch-up maethod, Operaling profits included net unfavoratle changas n
aerospace contract estimates of approximately $69 riwthon, $50 milion.
and $110 milkon in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. pnmarly the
result of unexpected Increases N estimated costs related to Pratt &
Whitney long-lerm aftermarket contracts.

Callaborations: Sales generated from engine prograrms. spare
parts saies, and aftermarket business under collaboration arrangernents
are recorded consistent with our revenue recognition policies in our
Gonsolidated Financial Statements. Amounts attnibutable to our



collaberators for ther share of sales arc recordedt as cost of sales in our
Consclicated Financial Statements based upon the terms and naiure
of the arrangement. Costs associated with engine programs under
colaberatve arrangements are expensed as ncurred. Under these
arrangements, collaborators contribute their program share of engine
parts. incur their own procuchcon costs and make certan payments to
Pratt & Whiney for shared or joint program costs  The reimbursemant
from coilaborators of ther share of program costs s recorded as a
reduction of the refated expense iterm at that ime

Cash Payments to Customers. Carner customanly offers is
customers incentres o purchase preducts 1o ensure an adequate
suppky of ts products in the distsbution channels. The princigal
Incentive program provides reimbursements to distrioutars for offenng
promational pricing for our products. We account for incenhve
payments made as a reducton in sales. In our agrospace businessas,
wo offer customers certain incentives 1o purchase our products,

These mcentives may result in payments made to customers. In
addition, we may make parficpation payments 1o certan aerospace
customers lo secure certan contractual nghts. To the extent these
nghits arc incromental and are supportad by the incremental cash
flows obtamned, they are capitalized as ntangible assets. Otherwise
such payments are recorded as a reduchon in sales, We classity the
subsequent armortzation of he capitahzed acguired intangiole assets
from our cuslomers as a reduction in sales. Contractually staled prices
n arrangements with owr customers that include the acouisition of
ntangible nghts within the scope of the Intangibles - Goodwll and
Other Topc of the FASEB ASC and deliverables within the scope of the
Rovonue Recognition Topic of the FASE ASC are not oresumoed to be
representative of farr value far determminimg the amounts 1o allocate to
cach alomrent of an arrangement.

Remaining Performance Obligations (RPO). RPO roprosants
Ihe aggregatc amount of lolal contract fransaction pnce that 15
unsatshied or partially unsahsfied. As of December 31, 2019 owr tota
RPO was approximately $S132.7 billon compared to $115.5 billon as
of December 31, 2018, Of the total RPO as of December 31, 2018, we
oxpect approximalely 45%: will be recogrized as sales over the followng
24 monlihs,

Research and Development. Roscarch and development costs
nol specifically covercd by contracts and those refated to the company
sponsored share of research and developrment activity in connection
with cost-sharing arrangements are charged 10 expense as incurred.
Government research and development support, not assocated
with specilc conlracts, 1s recorded as a reduction 10 rescarch and
developmont expense n fhe period sarnod.

Research and development costs incurred under contracts
wilh custemers are ncluded as a contract cost and reported as
a component of cost of products sold when revenue from sucn
contracts 1 recogrizec, Research and developrment costs i1 excess of
contractual consideration are expensed as incurred

Foreign Exchange. We conduct business in many different
currencies and. accordingly, are subject to the inharent risks associated
with foresgn exchange rate movements The financial positicn and
results of operations of substantially all of our foreign subsidiares
are measured using the local currency as the funclional currency.

Notes to Consclidated Financial Statements

Foreign curency dencminated assets and labilites are translated into
U 'S Dciars at the exchange rates existing at the respective halance
sheet dates, and mcome and oxpense items are translated at the
average exchange rates dunng the respective periods. The aggregate
affects of translating the balance sneets of these subsidiarics arc
deferred as a separate component of shareowners’ equity.

Derivatives and Hedging Activity. \We have used dervalive
nstruments. ncluding swaps., forward contracts and cptions. o nelp
manage certam foraign currency. interest rate and commodity proe
cxposures Dervative instruments are viewad as nsk management
tools by us and are not used for tracing or speculatve purposes, By
their nature, all financial mstruments involve market and credit nsks.
We enter into derivative and other financial instruments with major
nvesiment grade inanciat institutions and have policies 1o monitor the
credit nsk of those counterparties. We lnt counterparty exposure and
concentration of risk by diversitying counterparties. YWhile there can be
no assurance, we do not antapate any material non-performance by
any of these counterparties. We enter into fransactons that are subject
to enforceabie master netling arrangements or similar agreenents wilh
varcus counterparties. However, we bave not clectod to offset multiple
contracts with a single counterparty and. as a result, the far value of the
Cenvative nstrurments In ajoss posiion 1s not olfset aganst the fair value
of dervative nstruments in a gain positon

Dervatves used o hedging purposes may be designated and
cifeclive as a hedge of the wlenthed nsk exposure at the inception of the
confract All derivative instruments are recorded on the balance sheet
at taw value. Dernvatives used to heage foraign currency denaminatoed
halance sheet items are reported directly m 2armings alony with
oftsetting transaction gans and lossaes on thoe iterms bong hedged
Denvatives usad (o hedge forocasted cash Hows associated withy
foreign currency cormmitrmants or forecasted commochty purchases
may be accounted for as cash flow hedges. as deemed appropnate.
Gains and losses on denvalves designated as cash flow hedges are
recorded n other comorehensive incame and reclassified to camings
as a component of product sales or expenscs. as applicable. when the
hedged transaction aceurs. Gans and losses on derivatives designated
as cash flow hedges are recorded in Other operating activities. net
within the Consoldated Statement of Cash Flows. To the extent thal
a previously designated hedging transaction 1s no longer an effective
hedge, any neffectiveness measured N the hedging ralationship s
recorded currently in earnings in the penod 1t occurs, As discussed In
Note 14, at December 31, 2019 we have approximately (4.20 bilion of
auro-denominated long-term debt, which qualies as a net investment
nedge aganst cur investments i Eurapean DUsinessss.

To the extent the hedge accounting cniteria are not met. the
faroign currency forward contracts are utiized as cconomic hedges
and changes in the fair value of these contiracts are recorded currently
N earnings in the perod in which they occur, Additional information
pertaining to foreign currency forward contracts and net investment
hedging s included in Note 14,

Environmental. Ervironmental investigatory. remadiation,
operating and mamntenance costs are accrued when 1tis probable
that a raoihty has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably
estimated. The most kely cost 10 be incurred 15 acoruad based on an
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evaluation of currently available facts with respect to each individusd
site, including existing technology. current laws and regulations and
prior remediation expenence. Where no amount within a range of
estimates is more likely. the minimum s accrued. For sites withy multiple
responsible parties, we consider our hikely proportionate share of the
anticipated remediation costs and the ability of the other partics to fulfil
their obligahions in establishing a provision for those coslts. Liabilities
with fixed or reliably determinable future cash payments are discounted.
Accrued environmental labihlies are not reduced by potential msurance
reimbursements. See Notc 18 {or additonal detais on the environmental
remechation activitics.

Pension and Postretirement Obligations. Guidance undar the
Compensalion - Relrement Benafits Tooic of the FASEB ASC rouires
balance sheet recogmtion of the ovorfunded or underfunded status
of pension and posiretrement bencfit ptans. Under this guidance,
actuanal gains and losses, prior service cosls ar credits. and any
remaining transition assets or obligations that have not been recogrized
under previous accounting standards must be racogrized in other
comprchensve ncome. net of tax effects, untl they are amontized as a
component of nel pernodic benekt cost.

Product Performance Obligations. \We extond porformance
and operating cost guaranices beyond our normal service and warranty
polices for extended penods on saime of our products, particularty
cormmercial arcraft engines. Liability under such gaarantses is based
upor future product performance and durabity, We accrue for such
cosls that are probable and can be reasonably astirmated. In acichtion,
we ncur discretionary cosls 1o service our products in connechion wilh
product performance 1ssuas. The costs associated with those product
performance and oporating cost guarantees require astimates cver
tne full terms of the agreements. and reguire management lo consider
factors such as the extent of future mantenance requirements and the
future cost of materat and labor to perfora the services. Thase cost
cstmates are largely based upon histoncal expenence. Soe Note 17 for
further discussion.

Collaborative Arrangements. In viow of the risks and costs
associated with developing new engines, Pralt & Whithey has entered
nte certain collaboration ar-angements in which safes. costs and nsks
are shared Sales generated from engine prograrns, spare parts. and
aftermarket business under collaboration arangorments are recognized
i1 our financial statements when earmned. Amounts attributable to
our collaborators for their share of sales are recorded as an expenise
nour financiar statements based upon the lerms and nature of
the arrangement. Costs associaled with engine programs under
collaborative arangaments arc aexpensed as ncurred. Under these
arrangeiments, coilaborators conlnbute their program share of engine
parts. incur their own production costs and make certan payments to
Pratt & Whitney tor shared or joint program costs. The remmbursemaont
from the: collaborators of their share of program costs is recorded as a
raduction of the related expense iterm at that time. As of December 31,
2018, the collaborators’ interests in all commercial engine programs
ranged from 13% 16 49%, inclusive of a portion of Pratt & Whitney's
interests held by other participants. Pratt & Whitney is the principal
participant i all existing collaboratve arrangements. with the exception
of the Engine Alkance (EA), a joint vanture wilh GE Aviation. which
markels and manufactures the GP7000 engine for the Airbus A380

52 2019 Annual Report

arrcraft There are no indwidually significanl collaboralive arrangerments
and none of 1he collaborators individually excoed a 31% share in an
individual program. The following 1able illuslrates the Consolidated
Statement of Operations classification and amaounts atinbutable to
transactions arising from the collaborative arrangerents belween
participants for each period presented,

L e ow 2019 | | 7
Coflaborator share of sajes: l
Cest of products sokd $ 2,097 | $ 1633 |3 1.739
Cost af services sold 1674 1765 o20|
share of program costs | ‘
rsiraburserent of expenses mourredy | '
Gost of products sold poo)]  @omy] (4
Rezenrch a .pment {219} 220 [RET oI
Selling, general and administrative wonl  @nl o4l

Accounting Pronouncements. In June 2016, the FASB 1ssucd
Accounting Standards Updale (ASU) 201613, Financial Instruments -
Credit Losses (Topic 3261 Measurement of Credit _osseas on Financial
Instrurments, This ASU and its related amendments modifies the
mparment medel o ullize an expected loss methodology n place of
the ncurred l0ss methodology for financial instruments, iNcluding trade
recerables, contract assats, long-term recevables and off-balance
sneet crecl exposures. The amendment requeres eniibes (o considar
a hroader range of nfonnation 1o estimate expaected crouit lasses,
miclucing histencal nformaton, current conditons and a reasonatic
lorecast penod. whech may result in carlior recognition of certain
losses, The pravisions of s ASU are offective for years beginning
after Decarnber 15, 2019, with carly adoplion permitted. A modified
retrospective aporcash s required vith a cumulative ofoct ndjustmont
o refained canings as of January 1, 2020 We are still guantifying the
mpact of this ASU and 15 related amendments on our Consoidated
Financial Staterments whieh s not expectad to be materal

In August 2018, Ihe FASE ssacd ASU 2018-13. Fair Value
Measurement (Tomc 8201 Disclosure Framework —Changoes 1o the
Disclosure Requirements for Fair Vaiue Measurement The nesw standard
rermoves the disclosure requirements for the amount of and reasons
tor ransiers between Level 1 and Lovel 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
Thig standard did not have a matenal impact on our inancial statement
disclosures. We early adepted this standard effectve January 1. 2019,

In Augusl 2018, the FASD issued ASU 2018- 4. Compensation—
Retrement Benetits — Defined Benefit Plans —Genoral (Subitopic 715-20).
Drsclosure Framewaork —Changes 10 the Discicsure Roquirerrents
for Delined Beneht Plans. The new standard includies updates to the
cisclosure reguiraments tor defined Densft plans ncluckng sevoral
addifions. defetions and modifications 1 the disclosure redguirenents.
The prowis:ons of 1his ASU are effective for fiscal years ending after
Decembor 15, 2020, witn early adoption permmtted. We are currently
evaluating the mpact of this ASU.

In August 2018, the FASB 1ssued ASU 2018-15. Intangibles —
Goodwill and Other — Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40):
Custlomer's Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a
Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contract. The new
standard prowdes updated guidance surrounding Implementation
costs associated with cloud cormputing arrangements that are service



contracts. The provisions of this ASU are offectve for years begnning
after Decermber 15, 2019, with early adopton permitted. We adopted
the new standard prospectvely efective January 1. 2020, We do

not expect this ASU 10 have a matenal .mpact on the Consolidated
Financia: Statements.

In Cctoner 2018, the FASE ssued ASU 2018-17. Consclidation
Topc 810): Targeted Improvements 1o Related Party Guidance for
Varaple Inlerest Entities. The amendments in this update for determinng
whetner a dacision-making fee is a varabie interest require reportng
entities to consider indirect nterests held through related parties under
common contrel cn a proportional basis rather than as the equivalent
of a direct interest in ts entirety (as currently required in generally
acceppted accounting principles IGAAR). These amendments also wil
create alignment behween determining whether a decision making
fee 1s a variabie interest and deternining whether a reportng entily
within a related party group s the primary beneficiary of a VIE, This
will sigrificantly reduce the nsk that decision makers with nsignihcant
dirzel and indirect interests courd be deemed the primary benebciany
of aVIE. The provisions of this ASU are effective for years beginning
atter Docempar 15, 2019, with cany adoption poerrited. We adopted
the new slandard effcclive January 1, 2020, This ASU did not have an
mpact on the Consolidated Financial Statements

I Nevember 2018, the FASE issucd ASU 2018-18. Collavoratve
Arrangements (Topic 808): Clanfying the Interaction between Topic
206 and Topic 606, The amendments in this update make fargelecd
improvements to GAAR for collaboratve arrangenents as follows: clarify
that cenan transactions bhetween collaborative arrangement participants
should be accounted for as rovenue under Topic 806 whon the
collaboratve arrangement participant 1s & custormaor n the context of a
urat of account, In those situations. all the gudance in Topic 806 should
pe applied. Including recogrihon, measuremenl, prasentation. and
disclosure requirements, add unit-of-account guidance n Topic 808 o
akgn with the guidance in Topic 606 (that 15, a distinct good o senice)
when an enbity 1s assessing whether the collaborative arrangement or
a part of the arrangement 15 within the scope of Topic 806; and reguire
that in a fransaction with a collaborative arrangemoent participanl tnhat i
not directly related 10 sales to third parties. presenting the transaction
together with revenue recognized under Topie 806 is precluded if the
collaboralive arrangerment participant 15 not a customer. The provisions
of tus ASU are effective tor years beginning after December 15, 2019,
with early adoption permitted. We adopled the new standard eftecltive
ganuary 1. 2020, This ASU cd not have an impact on the Consolidated
Financial Statemerts,

In December 2019, the FASE ssucd ASU 2018-12. Income
Taxes (Topsc 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes The
amendments n this update remove cortan exceohons of Tome 740
ncluding: exceplion to the Incremental appreach for intrapenod tax
allocabon when there w5 a loss from continung cperations and income
or gain from octher items: exceplion to the requirement to recognize
a deterred tax liability for equity method investmeants when a foraign
subsidiary cecomes an equity method investiment; exceplion 1o the
ability not ta recognize a deferred tax liapdity for a foreign subsichary
when a foregn eguity method invesiment becomes a subsidiary;
excephion to the gencral methodology for calculating income taxes in
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an interim period when a year-to-dale ioss exceeds the anhcipated
loss for the vear. There are also additional areas of gudance in regards
to: franchise and other taxes partially based on income and the intenm
recogniton of enactiment of tax faws and rate changes. The provisions
of thus ASU are effective for years begmning after December 15, 2020,
wilh early adoptan permified. We are currently evalualing the impact of
this ASU on gur consoldated financial statcments.

NOTE 2: BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS, DISPOSITIONS, GOODWILL AND
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Business Acquisitions. Our investrants 1N Susinesses net of cash
acquired in 2019, 2018 and 2017 totaled 356 mihion, $31.142 mullon
{inclscing debt assumed of $7.784 mihon and stock issued of

$7.960 millior). and $231 mthion respectivery. Our nvestments in
pusinesses N 2019 pnmarnly consisted of several acquisitions at Otis.
Our nvestments in businesses N 2018 primanty consisted of the
acguisition of Rockwell Collins. Inc. (Rockwali Colinst. Our investments
N busmesses 1N 2017 consisted of a numbel of smal acquisions,
prmarnky n ow commercial busmesses,

On June 9, 2019, UTC ontered nto a mergoer agroomaent witn
Raytheon Company (Baylheon) providing for an all stock merger of
equals transaction. The Raytheon merger agreement provides, among
other things, that each share of Raytheon common stock issued and
outstanding mmediately prior 1o the closing of the Raytheon merget
{excepl for shares held by Raytheon as treasury stcck) will be converted
into the: nght to receve 2.3348 shares of UTC convmen stock. Upan the
closing of the Raytheon merger, Raytheon will became a whally owned
subsidiary ot UTC, and UTC will change its name to Raytheon
Technologies Corporaton. On October 11, 20149, the shareowners
ol each of UTC and Raytheon approved the proposals necessary (o
complete the Raytheon merger. The Ravtheon merger 15 expected to
cinse early N the second quarter 2020 and 15 subyect 1o customary
cosing conditions, inciuding receint of required regulatory approvals. as
well 28 the compiction of UTCS proviously announced scparaton of 1s
Otis and Carnier businesses,

On November 26, 2018, we compicted the acquisition of Rockwell
Coiling {the "Rockwell Acguisition”), a leader in aviahon and high-mtegnty
solutions for commercial and mitary customers as well as leading-edge
avionics, flight controls, arcraft mterior and data connectivity solutions.
Under the terms of the Rockwell acquisition agreement. each share
ol comimon stock, par value $0.01 per share, of Rockwell Calling
ssued and oulstanding immediatcly prior to the offcctive time of the
Rockwell Acquisition tother than shares held by Rockwell Collins. the
Company, Riveter Morger Sub Corp or any of thair respective wholly
owned supsidianes) was converted into the right 1o receve (1) $93.33
i1 cash. without interest. and (2} 0.37525 shares of Company commaon
stock {together, the “Acquisition Consideration™), less any applicable
withholding taxes. with cash paid 1n heu of fractionat shares. The total
aggregate consideration payabie in the Rockwell Acquisition was
$15.5 lion in cash ($14.9 bilon net of cash acquired) and 62.2 millon
shares of Company common stock. I addition. $7.8 bilkon of Rockwell
Caollins debt was outstanding at tho time of the Rockwell Acguisiton,
This equated 10 a total enterprse valug of $30.6 billon. including the
$7.8 billion of Rockwell Colling' outstanding debt.
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B -4 N At

Cash consideration paid for Rockwelt Calling outstanding
common stock & equity awards

far value of UTC comimon stack
sudstanding carmmon stock & oouity awards TR0

$ 15,533

ssued for Rechwell Coliins

Total consideration transferred $ 23,493

The cash consideration utilized for the Rockwelt Acquisition
was parbially financed through the previously disclosed issuance of
$11.0 billon agyregale principal notes on August 16, 2018 for net
proceeds of $10.9 vilicn. For the remainder of the cash consideration,
we ufilized repatnaled cash and cash equivaients and cash flow
generated from operating activiies,

Final Allocation of Consideration Transferred to Net

Assets Acquired:

The table below represents the final delermunation of the fair value of
clentifiable assels acouirad and habillics assumed from the Rockwell
Colling acquisihion afler uhilizing the one year measurement oenod
allowed by the FASB ASC Topic 805, “Busmess Combmatons.”

AL

Cash and caah equivalonts g
Accounts roccivatAc

Inventery
Conbact as

Other assets, current

Me cunrent

FLIMIS Wi Lax e

Fined aanets

Intonygible ans2ts,
i wramer raiatlaeshing
Trwdenames t=dsrarks

Developed technology

Vthes 1ssats 21,
Total identifizhle assets acauired 17,344
Short-term borrowings 2254
SUCGUNTS Pty able A0
Acorued fiabiides 1.663
Contesct Ballities. surrant 246
Long-tesm debt 5530
Futurs: pension and postratirarient leneg'it obzinpaticn L2
Qther long-term liabilities 3,614
Noncanticling mnterest )

Total liabifitiss acquired

14,388
Total wlentriable net assety E

Goodwilt . 20,537

Tt consideration transtrred 5 24430

In arder 1o allocate the consideration transforred for Rockwell
Colling, the far values of all ideniifiable asscis and habilites were
astabhshed. For accounting and tnancial roporting purposes, far value
1s defined under FASB ASC Topic 820, "Fair Value Measurements
and Disclosuros™ as the price that would be receved upeon sale of an
asset or the armount pad o fransfer a liability 1n an orderly transaction
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betwaen market participarts at the measurement date. Market
partcipants are assumed to be buyers and sellers in the principal (most
advantageous) market far the asset or laiity. Additionally. fair value
measurements for an asset assume the highest and best use of that
asset by market participants. Use of different estimates and judgrments
could yeld different results. Far value adiustments 1o Rockwell Colling
dentificd] asgels and habilifies resulted in an ncrease in inventory

and fixed assets af $282 millon and $244 milion. respectvely. in
determining the fair value of identfiable assets acouired and labites
assumead. a review was conducted for any significant contingant
assets or labihes existing as of the acquisition date. This assessimeant
did not note any signficant contngencies related (o exsting legal or
government action.

The fair values of the customer relationshup and related program
ntangible assets, which include the refatad aerospace program onginal
equipment {(OEM) and aftermarkat cash flows, were determined by
using an “mcomac approach.” Under this approach. the nel carnngs
attnbutable to the assel or labilly being measured are 1salated using
the discounted projectod net cash flows. These proected cash flows
arce soladed trom he projected casn fows of the combned asset group
over the remaining economic life of the intangible asset or kability neing
measured. Both the amount and the duralion of the cash flows are
cancidorad from a madaot participant parspectio, Our ootimatos of
market parbapant nel cash flows considered hislorcal and projected
prcing. remaming desclopmentod cffort, opcrational performance.
NCluding company specinc syneryies, afllerrmarkel retention. product
e eyeleas materal aned labor prcing argd ather retevanl coastorie
contractual and rearke! factors. Whaere aporopr-ate. the net cash flows
are probagility-adiusied to refiect Ine uncertainies assgoaied wilh (he
underiyving assumphons as walk as ina nsk profile of the net cash flows
utlzedt e valuahon. The protabiity-adusted futuare cash fiows
are then discounted to present value using an approphate discoutit
rate. The customer relationsnip and related program intangible assets
are peing amortized on a straight-ine basis iwhich approxmates the
econonuc pattern of benefits) ovar the estimated economic fife of the
underlying programs of 1010 23 years, The doveloped technology
ntangible assel 1s bong amortized over the ccononic paltorn of benefit.
The far value of the tradename nlanaible assets were deltermined
uliizng U veshied Doosn royatly it oo wbichos g o ol g inoorng
approach. Undor this method, a royally rate based on obscrved market
royalties 1s applicd 1o projected revenue supportng the vailuation of
the tradlename and discounted 1o prasent value using an appropriate
agiscount rate. The Iradename ntangible assets havoe beon determned
to have an indefinte ide. The mtangible assets included above consist of
the forowing:

! Estimated |

. cN A e Fair Value Life

Acqguired customer relationships & 8720 [ 10-23 vears 3
Accuired tradenames trademiarks 1870 incenmte

Acquired developed technology 600 15 years !

S 11,130 !




We also identfied customer contractual obligations on certan
contracls welh economic returns thal are lower than cowa be realized
i market ransact.ons as of e acguston dale. We measured these
nabites under the measurcment provisions of FASE ASC Topic
820, "Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, ™ which 1s based
on the price to transter the obligat:on to a market participant at the
measurement date. assuming that the liabiity wilt reman outstandng
N the marketpiace. Based on the estimated net cash outfows of
the pragrams plus a reascnable contracting orofit margt reguired to
transter the contracts to markel participants. we -ecorded assumed
labilites of agproximately $1.02 billion 0 connecton with the Rockwell
Acquistion. These labiitios will be hguidated in accordance with the
underdying patiern of obligations, as reflacied by the expenses ncurred
on ihe contracts, Total consurmption of the contractual obkgation n
2019 was 5129 mithen. Tolal consumption of the contractual obligatior
for the next five years 15 expected to be as follows: $104 nulon n 2020,
S104 million in 2021, $112 milion in 2022, 396 nullion n 2023, and
5101 milhon in 2024

Acquisition-Related Costs:

Acquisition-related costs have peen expenscd as incurred, In 2019,
2018, and 2017 appioamalely $40 milion. $112 muillton, anc $39 milkon
respoctively, of transaction and ntegralion costs have been ncurred,
These cosls were recorded in Seling, genaral and admirustrative
expanses within the Conscondatad Stalement of Oporakons.

Supplemental Pro-Forma Data:

Rockwell Colling results of cperations have been included i UTCG's
financial statements for the peacd subsequent (0 the completion

of the acquisiton on November 26, 2018, Rockwell Colling
contributed sales of approximately $778 milion and operating profit

of approxemately $11 mullon for lhe yoar onded Decembor 31, 2018
The toilocwing unaudited supplamental pro-forma data presents
consolidated nformation a3 1 1he acgusihon had been completod an
January 1. 2017 The pro-forma rosulls were calculated Dy comiiming
the results of UTC with the stana-aione results of Rockwelt Collins for
the pre-acquisition perods, which were adjusted to account tor certain
costs thal would have been incurred durning this pre acquisition period:

Teoa Lol ] i a1 o !

Lot . =

R B A - P | 218 207

Net safe $ 74136 | § 68.033 |

Piest inccme attabaatatme o sommon shzareownars from | .
Sortinung operations TB06G TS 400

. I3

Basic earnings per share of common stock from

continuing eperations $ 682|% 545

Dift e ssrmngs par share 5 curmon stach rom ! '
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The unaudited supplemental pro-forma data above includes the
followsng signifcant adiustments made to account far cenan costs
which would have been incurred 1f the acouisition had oeen competed
on Jatwary 1. 2017, as adjusted for the applicable tax impact. As our
acguisition of Rockwell Colins was completed cn Novernber 26. 2018,
the pro-torma adustrments in [he table below only inclucie the requred
adjustments through November 26. 2018:

LSS I T (AR PR ] |

. S- N 20t8
Amortization of inverdory and fixed !
asset fair value adjustment * 58 £ {192}
Aevortzation o acauirad Rockel Cothins
intangik rest 119, e Ed]
Utilization of cortraciual customer obligation * 16 116
T Rockwed] faes for adwann, legal SITHL) 560, 3 St 1212
Inferest expense incured on acguisition financing, net (199 234)'
Eliminahon of capitalzed pe-pesodod ion
COOINCLRING Aretisation 34 -
Adjustrnent to net pericdic pension cost 7 42 34 |
Adqustrnent to redect the adophon of A3 GO6 1536
Ekmination of entities held for sale * {47} (35}"
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The unaudited supplemental pro-forma financial information
does not reflect the potential realization of cost savings related to the
integration of the two companies. Furtner. the pro-forma data shouldd
not be considered indicabve of the resulls that wouid have occurred
if the acquisition and rclated financing had been consummated on
January 1. 2017, nor arc they indicative of Tuture results.

Dispositions. Gash inflows related to dispositions durnng the
2019 were $138 milion and primanly consisted of the dispositions
of husinesses held for sale associated with the Rockwell Coling
acquisihion. In accordance with conditions imposed for regulatory
approval of the acguwsition, Rackwell Collins was required 1o dispose
of cortain businesses. Thaese businesses were held separate from:
UTCs and Rockwell Collins' ongoing businesses pursuant to regulatory
recparciments. Definitive agreerments to soll each of the businesses were
entered INto prior to the completion of UTCs acquisiton of Rockwell
Callins. The related assets and liahilities of these busnesses had
been ascountad for as held for sale at far value less cost 1o scll. As of
December 31, 2018, assels hold for sale of $175 rrullion were included
within Other assets, current and labilites held for sale of $40 mulon
were included witnin Accruec iahnltes on the Conscoldated Balance
Sheet. Tha major classes of assets and habilties primarly included
net Inventory of $51 milion and net Fixed assets of 337 milion, In
the: first guarter of 2019, Rockwell Coiling completed the saie of all
buginesses which were held for sare as of Decemper 31, 2018,

On November 26, 2018, the Company announced 1its intention 1o
separatc into three independent companies. Following the separations,
the Company will operate as an acrospace Company comprsca of
Collins Nerospace Sysloms and the Pratt & Wiatney businesses.
and Otis and Camer will become independent companies. The
prooosed separalions are expected lo e effectod throudh spin-oms
of Otis and Garncr that are imended 1o be tax-free tor the Companys
snarcownors for ULS, federal income tax purposes, and are expocted
to be complatad n the frst halt or 2020, Scparation of Obis and Carrier
from TS wia spin-off transactons will e subect e tne satsfacton of
custamary conditions. inclucing, among others, final approval by the
Company's Board of Directors, recaipt of tax ruings and a lax opinion
from external counsel, the ing with the Secunties and Exchange

Commission {SECH and efficcivenass of Form 10 registration stalements,

and satisfactory completion of financing (sutyect to UTC's agreement to
consummaie the distributions pursuant to. and subjecl 1o the terms and
conditions of. the Raytheon merger agreement). As of December 31,
2019, approxmately $600 millon of charges have been incurred related
to the separation actvities which are predorminantly recorded in Solling
gereral and administrative costs and approxmatety 5730 milion of tax
charges have een incurrad,

On June 21, 2018, Carner complated 1its sale of Taylor Company
for procesds of $1.0 billon resulting n a pre-tax gain of $739 mition
%591 milion after tax).

On January 20. 2020 the Company reached an agreement with
BAE Systems, 1c. on a proposed sale of assets related to the Collins
Aerospace Systems military global posilioning system business for
$1.93 bithon, The proposed sale 1s required as a regulatory condition to
the Raytheon merger, and 18 subject to the completion cf the Raytheon
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merger. as well as the satistaction of other customary closing condiitions,
ncluding receipt of reguired reguiatory approvals. Due to thoese closing
conditions., the cntena for held for sale accounting treatment were not
met as of December 31, 2014,

Goodwill. Changss In our goodwill balances for the year ended n
2019 were as follows:

Balance as of |
|
|

| December 31,
A=t N el i 209 i
Ofis 5 60] 8§ 1847 |
Carner 9 9,807 !
Pratt & Whitney @] 1,563 ‘
e Systern 35001 | e &0 35025
Total Segments 48091 ) s2]  pen|  4snez|
Ehminations and other 1y - - . 21
Total $ 48.112 | $ o2 "3 0a1)] § 48,063 |

The $75 mullon increase in Gaodwil at Colling Aerospace Systems
reflects @ $475 milkon net ncrease in Goodw!ll resulting from severas
ndividually insignificant purchasc accounting adjustrnents related to
the Rockweil Acguisition, partially offset by a $400 mulion decrease n
Goodwill related to adjustments to the customer relationship ntangible
assel assocated with the Rockwail Acguisthon,

intangible Assets, ldentfiable intangible asscis are comprised of
ther fallowang:

2019 '
Grossri Accumulated ‘ )
. EF IR Amount - Amortization
Amortized: | i
Seruin pratfoliog $ 2105 $ (1,626) | 37154 e 1.:’3(‘)8-:
Patents and tradamarks 356 | (250} 361 | (236 |
C saborticn neanagitde . E '
st 4,862 (920} 30 £,
Custorner refationships I !
and other 2210 {5,607) 22,525 {4.560) ’
30,533 | (8,403) 29,599 o
Unamartized: l I !
Tiademearks and other 3,916 - 5918 - -
Total $3a4da | $®403)] 5 aaar7| $ (7053

In adailion to acguired customoer rofattonship intangible assels.
customar relationship intangible assets include payments made to our
customers ta secure certan contractuatl rights. Such payments are
capitaszcd when distinct nghts are obtained and sufficient incramental
cash flows 1G support the recoverability of the assets have beon
estabished. Othenvise, the appicable portion of the payments i3
oxpensed. We amorbze these intangible assets based on the undertying
pattern of economic benefit. which may result in an amortizat.on method
other than straight-lne. In the acrospace industry, amortization based
on the pattern of econonic benefit generally results in lower amortizahon
oxpense during the development perod with amortization expanse
ncreasing as programs enter full production and attermarkel cycles it
a patlern of cconomic benefit cannol be reliably determined, a straight-
Ine amortization method may be used, We classify amortization of such



payments as a reduction of sales. Amorlization of ntangibic asscts was
51,452 million. 3876 million and $834 milkon in 2014, 2018 and 2017,
respectively The collaboration intangible assets are amaortzed based
upon the pattern of economic benefits as represented by the underying
cash flows The following 1s the expected amortization of total intangile
assoels for 2020 through 2024, which reflects the pattern of expected
cocnomic benelit on cerlain acrospace mtangible asscts:

1 .
R f 2020 2021 ; 2022 | 2023 | 2024

$ 1438 |3 1,420 | § 1420 1S 1,411 1381 ¢

Amortization expense

Other Matters. In January 2020, Boeng announced Lhat 11
exnects the 737 Max fleet to rermain grounded untii nud-2020. In
addition, Bosaing has alsc announced the temporary suspension of its
production of the 737 Max. The Company considered the potental
mmpact of these developments on goodwill and intangible asset
badances that could be impacted by this situation and cancluded thal
the balances remam recoverabic and no adjustment was required

NOTE 3: EARNINGS PER SHARE

T " o T 2019 | EntE NI
Net income atiributable to common sharsowners $ 5537 | & 5269 ‘ $ 4,552 |
Basiw aeight=d] pvsigs nomiben of shuess cotstandie) 854.8 00 4 T
Stock awards and equity units (share equivaient) 9.1 a.7 9.1 |
Bilited weighter yurrage b of } .
sheres autstandine 863.9: 3101 IS TR
Earnings Per Share of Common Stock: i i |
Sk $ 648,3 ©48.3 uo3)
Dituted $ 64t|s 850]3 570

The computation of diluted earnings per share excludes the effect
of the potential exercise of stock awards, inciuding stack appreciation
nghts and stock options, when the average market price of the comman
stocx 1s lower than the excraise pnce of the related stock awards
during the perod becauss the effoct would be anli-dilutive. Inaddiion,
the computation of dilutedt carmimgs pe- shars excludes the offect of
the polantial exercse of stock awards when the awards’ assumed
proceeds exceed the average markat price of the common shares
durng the pericad. For 2019, 2018 and 2017, there were 8.3 milkon,
5.1 miliion and 5.9 millon anti-dilutive stock awards excluded from the
computation, respoctivaly,

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 4: COMMERCIAL AEROSPACE INDUSTRY ASSETS
AND COMMITMENTS

We have receivables and other financing assets with commercial
acrospace Indusiry customers tolalng $11.334 milion and

511,695 miilon at Decemoer 31, 2019 and 2618, rospechvely. These
include customer financing assels refated to commarcral acrospace
industry cuslomers. consisting of procucts uader lease of $3,185 mition
and 52,736 million. and notes and leases receivable of $308 mdion and
$299 milion. at Decembear 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Agrerafl financing commitments, in the form of debl or lease
fimancing. are provided to commercia: aercspace customers. The extent
to which the financing commitments wil be atihized 1 not currently
known, since customers may be abie o oontan more favorable terrs
from cther financing sources. We may also arrange for third-party
investors 1o assume a porion of these commitments. f financing
commilmenlts are exercised, debt financing s generally secured by
assels with far market values equal to or exceeding the financed
amcunts consistent with markel tenms and condhions. We may also
lease aircraft and supseguently sublease the arcraft o customers under
Iong-term non-cancelable operating leases. Our financing commitments
wiath customiers are contingent upon rmauntenanca of certain lovels of
financial conaion by the customeaers,

We have also mmado residual value and other guarantecs rerated
to various commercial aerospace customeor iNancing arrangoments
The estimated far market values of the guaranteed assets equal or
excecd Ihe value of the related guaranteeas, net of existing resarves.

We have residual value and othor guarantees of $333 milon as of
Decomier 31, 2019 Partner share of these guarantees s $132 milhon,
Refer to Note 17 to the Consolidated Financra Statoments for additonal
chscussion on guaranteas.

We also have other contraclual commitments, ncluding
comrritmeants 1o secure cortan contraclual nghls to provide product
on new arcraft platiorms, wiich are included In "Other comimercial
acrospace commitments™ n the fable below. Payments made on those
contractual commitmeants are included within other intangibie assels and
are to be amortized over the term of underlying cconomic benefit. O
commercial acrospace hnancing and other conlraciual comnmutments
as of Daecomber 31, 20190 ware approximately $15.0 bilion. We have
entered Into cartan collaboration arrangements, which may include
participation by our collaboration partners in these commitrments.

The following is the expected matunty of cormmercial acrospace
industry assets and commitments as of December 31, 2019,

R Y T S Committed S EMER I e e 2z 1 Tt
Notes and leases receivable $ 308! % 308 233 4] $ 220 % 3B|$ 181
Corunersial gersspace iNanding Cemmitirients $ 3937 5 3N 1 S 11190 S 374 £ 513 S A0S 7
Other comeercial aerospace commitments 11,055 702 ‘ 738 l 17 | 668 627 7,605
Cotlatoation partners” share (5.284) ol 1 BeS f=ra b D3R, Ry u sty
Totat commercial commitments $ 5708 $1105| $1232| $1120| ¢ oa0| ¢ 478|3 4.804]

In connect:on walh our 2012 agreement to acquire Rolls-Royce's
ownership and collaboration intarests in IAE AG, addilional payrments
are due to Rolis-Royce contingent upon each hour flown through
June 2027 by the V2500-powered aircraft in service as of the acquisition

date These fhght hour paymoents, mncluded n "Cther commercial
aerospace commitments” in the table above. are being capitalzed as
collaboration intangible assets.
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We have long-term aftermarket maintenance contracts with
commercial acrospace mdustry customers tor which revenuc 1s
recognized over-time in proportion to actual costs incurred refative
to total expectaed costs 1o be ncurred over the respechive contracl
perods. Billings. however, are typically based on factors such as
arcralt ar ongina fight hours. The timing differences betwean the
billings and the manienance costs INcurred generates both Contract
assels and Contract liabilities. Additionally. we have other contracls
wilth commercial agrospace Incustry customers which can result in the
genarabon of Contract assets and Contract labdities. Contract assots
totaled $2,741 milion and $2,247 milion at December 31, 2019 and
2018 respectvaly, and are ncluded in "Contract assats, current” and
“Other assets” in the accompanyinyg Consohdated Balance Sheet.

ANlowance for doubtful accounts was 3248 millon and $245 million
al December 31, 2019 and 2018, respachvely. Besaras refated 1o
financing commitments and guaranlees were $7 milkon and 315 million
al Decermber 31, 2019 and 2018, respechively.

In addition, in conncction with the acquisition of Rockwell Colling
N 2018 and Goodnch n 2012, wo recorded assumed habilies of
approximately $1.02 oillion and 32.2 billion, respectvery related 1o
customer contractual obhgatons on centain programs with terms
loss favorabie than could be reabzed n market transachons as of the
acquisiion dale. These liabilities are being guidated in accordance
with the underlying pattern of obigabons. as rallecled by the not cash
outflows mncurred on the contracts, Total consumption of the contractual
onligations for the years ended Docombor 31, 2019 and 2078 was
approximately $345 rmallon and $252 srillon, respectvely. The balance

of tho contractual oblgations at Decembar 31, 2019 was 51,408 millon,

with fulure consurmpbon expected to be as follows: $263 mifian n
2020, $1849 milion in 2021, $148 nuillon in 2022, 3118 meshon in 2023,
S127 mulkon in 2024 and $5663 milion thereafter

We also have intangible assets associated with commercial
aergspace. Refer to Note 2 for aiscussion of mtangible assots Refor
10 Note 1 for discussion of contract fulfillment costs. Refor to Nole
19 tor chscussion of ieases. including those that wore disctosed as
commitrrents pnor Lo the adoplion of ASC 842,

NOTE 5: INVENTORY, NET

RN R 2019 Sl
Raw materials $ 3357 | & 3052
YK AN et 2,726 R ATaC]
Firished grncds A PRY PR
$ 10,950 | § 10000

Raw malerials, work-n-procass and finished goods are naf
of vatuation roserves of $1.377 million anag $1.270 million as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018. rospoctvely.

NOTE 6: CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Contract assets reflect revenue recognized and performance obligatons
salisfied N advance of customer biling. Conlract liabilites relate to
payments recesved n advance of the satistaction of performance undor
the contract. We receive payments from customers based on the terns
estaplished in our contracts. Total contract assets and contract habilites
as of Decemper 31, 2018 and 2018 are as follows:
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S N s 2019 PRI
Cantract assets, current $ 4184 | 3486
Contracl sssele noncurrent included wathin Other assets) 1,338 1,142

Total gontract assets L 5,522 4,628
Contract liabiities. current {6,180} 19,7200
Contract kabilities, noncurent {5,732} 5,069

Total contract habilities {11,912}, (10783

Net contract liahilties $ {63901 § (5,161)

Contract assets increased $894 million dunng the year ended
Decembber 31, 2019 due to revenus recogniion in excess of customer
bilings, prmarty on Pratt & Whitney military and commeraal aftermarket
service agreements and vanous programs at Collins Acrospace
Systerms. Contract labibties increased $1.123 milion dunng the
year ended December 31, 2019 prmarnly due to customer tillings
in excess of revenue recogrzed on Pralt & Whitney commercial
gitermarket senvice agreornents and vanous programs af Collins
Aerospace Syslems. We recognized revenue of $4.9 billion during
ther year ended December 31, 2019 related to contract habilties as of
December 31, 2018

NOTE 7: FIXED ASSETS

A R e R 2019 R
Land s aar|s 405
Bruletinggs and iepsrovemients 17 A0 iz 6,673 436 !
Machinery. tools and equipment 3-20 years ' 16,353 ! 15,419 i
Cittier e luddirmg s ander conahahiun 2,213 ' o __'

25686 | 2408
Avcurnulated deprooation (12,931) (11,787

Tl 1,58 [ 5 Az00r

Depreciation expense 15 recorded predorminantly ubilizing the
straght-line method and was $1.506 mikian 1 2019, $1.240 milllon n
2018 anct $1,178 milion in 2017,

NOTE &: ACCRUED LIABILITIES

s e 2018 o |
Accrued salaries, wages and employee benefits $ 2407 | $ 2074 |
Soryiee G esaranty acsrual 734 7od |
Interest payable 608 637 |
Litigation and sontract matters 502 51 :
ncome taxes payable o928 460 |
Acuiued propoly. salus andd use Laagy 320 A
Canadian government settierent - current portion - 34 |
Accrued restructunng costs 208 244
Accrued workers compensation 157 142 :
Liabiies held “or sale - =0
Operating lease llabilties, current 544 —
Other 5,329 S5

$ 19,797 | $ 10,223 ]

The ncrease N Income taxes payable s primarly related to income
taxes associated with the Company's portfolio separation fransactions.
Refar to Note 19 for discussion of leases.



NOTE 9: BORROWINGS AND LINES OF CREDIT

Notes to Consohdated Financial Statements

Long-torm debt consisted of the following as of Decarrber 31:

G Ne 2019 I L T A 2019
Short-lerm borrowings: ] | Uibor plus 0.350% fioating rate notes due 20197 $ -8 38301
o - P P 1 5307 notes due 2019 - AL
Crrrmercial papert $ = 3125 1.950% notes due 2619 ¢ -1 300 {‘
Other borrowings 29364 i 212 | Eunbier plus O 15" 1oahing rate notss dus 2019
Total shar ter Lerwigs $ 2364 T 12157 €720 milicn poncipal sehe, - 8
5.250% notes due 2019 * - 300 {
At Decernber 31, 2019, we had credit agreements with vargus BETS Y notes dua 2013 - 2ol
i - ‘ 1035 4.875% notes due 2020 ° 171 | 171 |
banks permiting aggregate porrowings of up 1o $10.35 bilhon 4555 notos dus 5600 1.250 1550 |
inciuding a $2.20 bilion revoiving credit agreement and a $2.15 bilhon 1.900% notes due 2020 ¢ 1,000 | 1,000
muiticurrency revohsang credit agreement, both of which expire in August EUF”BOE prhus 0,20 ‘ f.r,l g e notus due 2007 o1
. N ', oo rrhion [_,I'H Il vale:
2021; and a $2.0 billon revorving cradit agreement and a $4.0 bilion 8.750% notes due 2021 250 |
term credit agreement. both of which we entered inte on March 15, 3100 et 250
— 04 N
20189 and which wil expre on March 15, 2021 or i earher, the clate 3.350% nm‘?s,d,ue 2021 1.000 i
LIBOR pius O 5007 cating rate nates due 2 750
that is 180 days alter the date on which sach of the separalions of 1.950% notes due 2021 750 |
Otis and Camer have been consurnmated. As of December 31, 2019, $12ER, notes due 2027 09573 eillien prinogal ol 1,053 1,066 |
Ihare were borowings of 32,10 hillion under the 34.0 bilion term cradit 2‘:_;'0?% nates due 2622 ° 500 | 500 ‘
N 280507 notes dus 2022 1,100 | 1100
agreement. The undrawn porlions of the revolvag credit agreemonts 3.100% notes due 2022 2300| 2300 ‘
arc also avalable to serve as packup taciines for the ssuance of 1,200 netes due 2073 10 7HC eulhen pring pal L aluog 831 Ao
o .
commercial paper. 3.860% notes due 2023 2280 | 2250 |
A0 nates dus 2024 400 U
As of Decomber 31, 2079, our maxemurm corrmiercial paper 2.800% notes due 2024 ' 800 | 800
borrowing limit was $6.35 killan. We had ne commercial papor 327000 astes due 2020 950 I A0
borrowings as of December 31, 2019, We use o COMmmercial naper 1.150% notes due 2024 {€750 million principal vaius) ! 831 858 ‘
) 3,950 notes doe 0o 1,500 15056 1
barrowings for general corporate purposes, includng the funding of 1.875% notes due 2G26 (€500 milion principal vaiue) * 554 | 573
potential acouistions, pension contnbutions. debt refinancing. divicend 2 820" Nngtes due 226 1,150 1150 |
o .
payments and repurchases of our common stock, Tho noed for 3 125"’ notes due 2027 1,100 | 1',1?9 ‘
Ll notes dus 202 1,300 1,500
commercial paper Dorrowings anses when the use of domestic cash 7'100% notes due 2027 141 | 141 |
far general corporate purposes oxcesds the sum of domestic cash G0, sty due 2024 400 A
I
generabon and foreign cash repatnated to the ULS. i"?\S% notes due 2028 3,000 } 3000 |
a “ . . TEL0 Y nutes dus 2029 550 s
At December 31, 2019, approxmaie\y §2 3 bition was avalable 2.150% notes due 2030 (€500 million principal vaiue) ' 554 % 573 ‘
uncler short-term lings of credit wih local Danks al our vanous 3A30% . agtes due 2035 600 £00
damestc and international subsidiarics. The weaighted-average interesl ?‘(_)52% no:‘:s C:UE ‘?“0?6 ?g:" ??G ‘
A0 ngtas due PURE R
axpense rates applicable to short-term borrowngs and total debt were 7.000% notes due 2038 159 159.‘
as follows: Gol2on netes duc PG4 1,000 1200
4.450% notes due 2038 ° 750 750 |
2019 - i S.000, notes due 2048 1,000 1,000
A10rago inforoct Oxponce 1alo AVorago 4‘5003{’ ngies due 2042 3'233 3'??2 ‘
outstanding borrawings during the year: A4 8007 notes due 27343 00
Short 10 B s g% 1 1 &150% nules duy 2045 850 | 850 |
SHOrt term borrzmngs i T S FA0 . notes due 2046 1,100 1100
Total debt 3.7% ' 3.5% | 4.050% noles due 2047 ' 600 800 |
Muerage nterest expense rate - | : 4 350 'z nstes due 2047 1,000 1,000
sutstanding borroaings as of Do embor 31: i i 4 625% notes due 2048 ' 1,750 1.750 |
Short-lerm borrowings 3.1% 1.2% | Project financing obligations 308 285 ‘
Totul debt 3.7% 35, Other (inciuding finance leases) 331 28? :
| Total princapal long-term debt 41,599 AL
Other (fair market value adjustments. discounts and debt ;
issuance costs) {315} (348) i
Totel long-tenm dabt o o 41,264 | 40,068
Less: currert portion 3,496 2,876 1
Long-term debt, et of cunent portion $ 37,788 | 3 411G
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

We had no debt 1ssuances during 2019 and the following
issuances of debt i 2018:

D I |

i

T

Aggregate Principal

Issuance Date Description of Notes Balance

August 18, 2018; 3.350% notes due 2021 * | $ 1.000 |
340 notes due 2023 , 2254
3.950% notes due 2025 ° | 1,500 |
A1z nates due 2028 3000
4.450% rotes due 2038 * | 750 |
16250 nates due 2048 - 1.750
LIBOR pius 0.65% floating rate ‘ E
notes due 2021 ' 750 |

May 18, 215 150" notes due £ el
2.150% notes due 2030 * | 500 l

Notes dhue 2020

EJRIBOR plus § 207, deating rate

o,

We made the fallowing repayments of debt in 2019 and 2018:

Fe oL o=

Aggregate Principal :
Repayment Date | Description of Nates Balance '
November 15, 2019 1 8.875% notes § ort |
L ECRIBOR plus 0 15 Hleating
Nowarbor 13, 2015 Lorte notes i R
LIBOR pius 0.350% ficating
November 1, 2019: rate notes $ 350
too00: s notes AR
July 15, 2019 | 1.850% notes i & 300 |
D 2507 notes $oal
Variable-rate term loan due 2U2U
December 14, 2018 {1 month LIBOR plus 1.25%) $ 482
Maw 4L 20618 1,775 s unior subordinated notes EIR R
5 | EURIBOR plus 0.80% foating ;
February 22, 2018 I rate notes € 750
Februay 1, 2018 LR A notes 3 33
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The percentage of total short-term borrowings and long-lerm debt
al variable interest rates was 9% and 10%: at Decemiper 31. 2019 and
2018, respactively. Interest rates on our commerciad paper Dorrowings
are considerad variable due to ther shorlterm duration and high-
frequency of turnover,

The average maturity of our long-term debt al December 31, 2019
is approximately 10 years. The schedule of principal payments required
on long-term debl for the next five years and thercafter is:

S B N

2020 $ 3,496
JEER 21
2022 3919
2025 G.ai
2024 2,592
Thereator ERIB L]
Total $ 41599

On Seplember 27, 2013 we filed a universal shell registration
statement with the SEC for an indeterminale amount of detbt and equity
secuntas for future issuance, subject to our interneal imitations on the
amount of debt to be rssued under the shoif regstration statement



NOTE 10: ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Notes to Consoclidated Financial Statements

Asummary of the changes 0 each cemponent of Accumuiated other comprehensive (loss) ncome, net of tax for the years ended Decernber 37,

2019 and 201815 provided bolow:

Balance at December 31, 2017 § 72| & (7529
the comprehensye moome Letore reclasate ations net 307, [egvin
Amounts reclassited, pre-tax (16)' 326 \
Tav expanse, hanet — A 407
ASU 2016-01 adoption impact $ {5 3 - | $ 5]

Balante At Decart.ar 51, 2018 - 173 S A3
Other comprshensive foss before reclassifications, net - 3| @3n;
Amaunts reciasified pre o - 51 223
Tax {expense) benefi - o 43|
ALl 201300 adopton impact e {8) (737’ - - {745)

Balance at December 31,2018 - $ (3,211) $ 8,772 $ - $ (166§ (10,1401

In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02. Roclassification
of Cortarn Tax Effcets from Accumuilatod Other Comprehensive income
fTopic 220; The new standard allows companies to reclassify 1o retancd
earnings the stranded tax effects in Accumulated other comprehensive
income (NG from the TCUA. We elected fo reclassify the income tax
eftacts ot TCJA from AQCHof $745 minon to retamed earnings, aefectve
January 1, 2019

N January 2018, the FASE issued ASU 2016 01, Financial
Instruments - Overalt: Recogniton and Measurement of Financial Asscets
and Frnancial Liabiities. Tris ASU maodifies how entitos measure aguity
nvestments and prasent changes M the far value of financial habihties,
Lpon adopton. investments thal do not result i consolidaton and are
nol accounted for uncler the equity method generally must be carried at
far vawe. with changes in far value recognized 1 net iIncome. We had
approximalely $5 midlion of tnrealized gains on these securities recorded
N Accunmuated other comprehensive loss in our Consolidated Balance
Sheot as of Docermper 31, 2017 We adopted this standard cifoctive
January 1. 2018, with these amounts recorded directly Lo relained
carrungs as of thal date.

Amounts reclassified that relate to our defined benefit pension and
nostretirernent plans include the amoertization of prior service costs and
actuanal net losses recognized dunng each period presented. These
costs are recorded as components of net penodic pension cost for each
penod prosented. Addiionally, durng 2013, we recorded a curtailment
gan of $38 milion in tne Consalidated Statemenl of Operations which is
included wittun amounts reclassified related 10 our defined pension and
postrelirement plans (see Nole 12 for additional detaits),

All noncentrolling interests wath redemption features, such as pul
options. that are not solely within our control redesmable noncontroling
nterests) are reported N the mezzanine sechion of the Consohdatoed
Balance Sheot. between labilities and eguity. at the greater of
redemption value or iniial carrying value

NOTE 11: INCOME TAXES
Income Before Income Taxes. The sources of ncome from continuing
operatons belore moome taxes ac:

: T 2019 LA R

Unitedt States $ 3207 |3 3630 |% 2.9

Forsagn N 5,036 J6a0” R
' $ 8,243 § 8280 | § 7,763 ]

On Decermber 22, 2017 Public Law 115-97 “An Act to Provido for
Reconciliation Pursuant to Titles i and vV of the Concurrent Resoluhon
o the Budget for Fiscal Yoar 2018" was cnacted  This law 1s commoniy
referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (TCJAL

The Comparwy no tongar ntends 1o renvest certain undistnbuted
carmings of its nternatonal subsidianes that have been previously
taxed -0 the U 5. As such, in 2018 it recorded the internatonal laxes
associated wath the future remittance of these earnmggs. For the
remander of the Company's undistabuted ntermatonal carmings, unless
lax effective to repatriale, UTC will continue fo permanently reinvest
these earnngs. As of Decembor 31, 2019, such undistriouted camings
were aporoxiyiately $21 bilhon, exciuding other comprehensive Incorne
amounts. s not practicable to estimate the amount of tax that might
be payagks on the remaining amounts.
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Pravision for Income Taxes. The income tax expense (benefit)
for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 consisted of
the tollowing components:

PR 2019 | B 201
Current:
United States: !
Federal $ 1883|3442 | % 1577
State 48 211 Al
Foreign . 2024 | 1238] 1140
2,260 1,841 2.751
Future: o - T
onrted States
Federal m 57 7]
Srate 52 54 gl
Foreign {128} 816 5
o - ] 35| 7ar ) el
Income tax expense " $ 2,205 ﬁ $ 2626 | § 2.8434

Attributable te iterms creclited] (chargect 1 eguily $ 40 15 518 1Pa

Reconciliation of Effective Income Tax Rate. Differonces
hetween effectve ncome tax rates and the statutory S, federal
nceme tax rate arc as follows:

2019 R R
Statutory U.S. federal income tax rate 21.0% 21.0% I 35.0% !
Tan related peparation o frahes 8.8 % ! - -
“fax on international activities 19% | 09% | Gam
Tox At sottiemants {3.5)% - L
LS. tax refom - - %] 9.0%]
Ot ©4% | ur .
Effective income fax rate 278% | 31.7% L

Tne 2019 offective tax rate ncludes $729 milicn of ncorme taxes
associated with the Company s portfola separation transachons, offset
n part by amounts asscciated with the conclusion of the audit by the
Examingtion Dwision of the Internal Revenue Service for the UTC 2014,
2015 and 2016 tax years, the filng by a subsidiary of the Company o
participate N an amnesty program offerad by the ltakan Tax Authiority,

Tne 2019 ncrease in the cost of U.S, and foreign tax on
nlernathonal activities is pnmanly attributable Lo the full prase-in of
the TCJA provisions on the Company's international subsidianas,

The increase N the benefit of other activities 1s primanly related
o addiionai research and development credits and ocouity
compensation deductons.

The 2018 effectve tax rate reflects anel lax charge of $744 mifkon for
TCJA relatect adustrents. The amaount 15 prmarnly assocated wih non
LS. taxes that will becomie dus when pravousty reinvested earnings of
cerfain nternatonal subsdianes are remittod. The 2018 and 2019 effoctve
tax rate reconciliation reflects the corporate rate reduction cnacted by the
TCJA. The decrease n nlermnational activities 1s pnmarily related to higher
nlermnationai lax costs compared to the U.S. federal statutory rate
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The 2017 effective tax rate reflects a net tax charge of
3690 milion attnbutable to the passage of the TCJA. These 2017
provisional armounts, recorded as descnbed In SAB 118, relate o U8,
ncome lax attnbutable to previously undistnbuted earmings of UTC's
international subsidiaries and cauity Investments. net of fareign tax
credits, and the revaluation of U.S. defored income taxes.

Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities. Future income taxes reprasent
the tax effects of transactions which are reported in different perods for tax
and financial reporting purposes. These amounts conaist aof the tax offects
af temporary differences belween the tax and financidl reponting baiance
sheets and tax carryforwards. Future income lax benefits and payablos
within the same tax paying cormponent of a particular jurscction are offset
for presentation in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

The tax cffects of lemporary differences and tax carryloreards wihich
gave rse 10 Tulure incorke lax benehits and payables al December 31,
2019 and 2018 are as foliows:

e 2019 | s

Euture income tax benefits: I ‘
% 1,205

Insarance aned crmphkayee banenty

Other asset basis diflerences 829 |
Other liabality diffareng; 2,153 !
Tax loss carnyforwards 622 [
Tax arsddit cany'ooeeads 1,021
Valuation alawances _ _@16)]
) $ 5214 |
Future incorme taxes payable: i
Intangible gneets % 4,293
Qther asset basis differences 2904 |
 Other teris. vet _—_‘ ) ) — 143 i
- - 7340 6744 |

faluabion alowances nave been established primanly for tax credn
carrylorwards, tax 10ss canytonvards. and cortan foreign femporary
afferences 1o reduce the future incorme lax benefits O oxpected
reanzabie amounts.
Tax Credit and Loss Carryforwards. At December 31, 2019,
lax credit carryforwards. principally state and foreign. and tax loss
carnyforwards, principally state and toreign. wors as follows:

T S S o F 4
Expiration period:
20902024 EE N
2026 2029 27 |
20 3 338
Indfinite o ) ) 599
Tolal S 1021

Unrecognized Tax Benefits. Al Decomber 31, 2019, we had
gross lax-effacted unrecognized tax penalits of $1,347 millon. of which
$1.338 million, if recognized. wouid impact the effective tax rate. A



reconciliation of the beginning and ending amournits of unrecognized tax
penefits and interest expense related 10 unrecognized tax beneits far
the years ended Decorrber 31, 2019, 2018 and 201715 as follows:

— N 2019 ) Lo
Balance at January 1 $ 1,619 i $ 1,189 | § 1,086 i
Adihens o tax posihiong r2atad 2 the ourent e 13 192 147
Additions for tax positions of prior years 78| 34s 73 |
Redurtions for ta positions O [ v {101) Bk Ah
Setflements @] 05 el

Balance o December 31 $ 1,347 315193 1150

Gross interest expense related to unrecognized
tax benefits $ 57|85 3Fi& 34
5

$ 249 35

2551

Tor i acoried interest balance af December 31 215

The 2018 amoeunts above include amounts related to the
acguestion of Rockwell Colfins,

We conduct busness globally and, as a resutt, UTC or one or maore
of our subscharnes files mcome tax roturms in the ULS, fadoral jJursdiclion
and varous state and foreign junsdictons. In the normal course of
Dusress we are sulzjcct 1o cxamination by taxing authonties throughout
he world, mcluding such mayor junsdictions as Australa. Belgium, Bragi,
Canada, China, France, Germany, Hong Kong, India, taly, Japan, Mexico,
Netherands, Poland. Singapore, South ¥orea. Spam. Switzertand. the
United Kingetorn and tne United States, With fow axceplions, we are no
fonger subject 1o LS. tederal, state and local, or non-LLS. incoma tax
exammnations for years before 2009,

Dunng 2019, the Company recognized a net gan of appraximatcly
3307 muthion, including pre-tax nterest of approximately $56 millan as a
asult of the concluson of the IRS audit of the Company's 2014, 2015
and 2016 tax yaears as woll as an amnesly filing in Haly made 1o resolve
cedan tax sligation. The Sompany alse recognized a non-cash gan
of approximately $40 million. primarily tax. as a resull of the closure
of an IRS audit of the 2014 tax year of a subsichary acquired as part
ol UTCs acguisition of Rockwall Collins, Tras gan was partially offsat
by the unfavoranle pre-tax impact of a reversal of a related indemnity
asset of approxemately $23 mullion. Finally, the Company recogrized net
non-cash gans of approximatoly 318 millon, including pre-tax nterest of
approximately $5 mition, as a rosult of vanous toderal. state and non-US
statute of limiations expirations and settlemeants with tax authonties.

Durng 2017, the Company recogniced a noncash gan of
approximately $64 milion, ncluding a pre-tax nterest adjustment of
S0 millon, as a result of lederal, state and non U.S. tax year closures
retated to audit resclutions and the expiration of applicable statutes of
amitation. meluding expiration of the ULS federal income tax statute of
wyntations for UTC's 2013 tax yoar,

The Examinaton Dwision of the Internal Bevenue Service {IRS) 18
curently auditing Rockwell Colling fiscal tax years 2016 and 2017, prior
toits acquisition by UTC, which wilt conlinue into 2020. Separalefy. the
Exarmination Division of the IBS has notifed the Company of s intention
to commence an audt of UTC tax years 2017 and 2018 dunng the first
haft of 2020

It 15 reasonably possible that a net reduction within the range
ot $50 mitkon fe $650 milhon of unrecognized tax benefits may occur
aver the nexi 12 months as a result of the contempiated separaticn
of Carrer and Otis, additional worldwide uncertam tax pasitions. the
revaluation of current uncertain tax positions ansing rom devetapments
In examinations, in appeais. or I the cowrts, or the closure of
tax statutes

Notes to Gonsolidated Financial Statements

See Nate 18 "Contingent Liabitics” for discuss.an regarding
uncertain tax positions, ncluded in the above range. related 1o pending
litigaticn with respect to certan decuctans clamed i Germany.

NOTE 12: EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
We sponsor numercus domestic anag foreign employee benefit plans,
which are discussed below,

In March 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-07, Compensation-
Retrement Benefits (Topc 7151, improving the Prasenlation of Net
Fenodic Pension Cost and Net Perindic Rostretrerment Benefit Cost.
This ASU requires an employer to report the service cost component
of net periodc pension benafit cost In the same Ine demis) as other
compensanon Costs ansmg from seraces rendered By the periinent
employees during the panad, with other cost components prasented
separatery from the servce cost component ana outside of INncome
from operations. This ASU also allows only the service cost component
of net periodic pension benefit cost 1o be eligible for capitalization
when applicable. This ASU was effective for years beginning after
December 15, 2017, The Company adopted this standard on
January 1, 2018 applying the presentation requirements retrospectively,
We elected 10 apply the practical expedient. which ailows us ta
reclassty armounts disciosed praviousiy m 1he employee ceneil plans
nota as the basis for applying relrospective prescentation for comparatve
perods as it s impracticable o determing the disaggregation of the cost
components for amounts capilalizcd and amortized in those penods.
Provisions related to presentation of the service cost component
eligibility for capitalization were apoled prospectively.

The effect of the retrospectve presentation change related
to the net penodic tenafil cost of our defined benefit pension and
postratremaent plans on our Consollidaled Statement of Operations was
as follows:

i
i
|
1
!
|

[T T | A R

I

Cost ot product soic 3 31,027 | 3 31,204
Crst ot services sold 1026 =) 1249477
Research ang development 2,387 [ 40 2,427
Solling. general and adesristratrec 6,834 ERI S 6,429
Non-service pension {pbenefit) — l {534) {534)

Employee Savings Plans. \We sponsor varnous employee savings
plans. Cur contrbutions 1o emplayer sponsored defined contribution
plans were $549 million, $403 milion and $351 mikion for 20149, 2018
and 2017, raspactvely,

Cur non-union domestic smployee savings plan uses an Empiayoc
Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP) for ermployer malching contnbutions,
External borrowings were used by the ESOP to fund a portion of its
purchase of ESOPR stock from us The external borrowings have been
extinglshed and only re-amortized lnans remain between UTC and
the ESOP Trust. As £S0F debt service payments are made. comman
stock 1s refeased from an unralsased shares account. ESOP debt may
be prapad or re-amortized o edher increase or decrease the number of
sharos released so that the value of released shares equals the value of
plan beneflit We may also, at our gption. contribute additional commaon
stock or cash to the ESOR.
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Shares of common stock are allocated to employees’ ESOR
accounts at fair value on the date earned. Cash divdends on
common stack held by the ESOP are usad for dobt service payments,
Participants may choose to have therr ESOP dividends ranvested or
distrbited in cash. Common stock allocated to ESOP participants is
includedt in the average number of common shares outstancing for
both basic and diluted earnings per share. At Docembor 31, 2019,
23.4 million commen shares had been alocated to employees, leaving
7.9 miion unallocated commorn shares in the ES0P Trust, with an
approximale far vaiue of $1.2 bilion.

Pension Plans. We sponsor both funded and unfunded
domestic and forcign defined benefit pension plans that cover a large
numbper of our employecs, Our largest plans are generatly closed to
aew partcipants, Our plans use a Decomber 371 maeasuremsent date
conaistent with our fiscal year,

R Y 2019 . et
Change in Benefit Obligation: [ [
Bagmnning balce $ 37,795 I 6% .
Service cost sse} a2
irsteroat ol 1,340 1117
Actuarial Toss gain) ags1| o
Teaal benehts pacd (2,174) HBseR
Net settlernant, curtailment and special termination benefits (267” {38y
PR amandments 6 o)
Busingss combinations 6) [ 3,694
(b 127 1
Ending balance T T$ a1ga1 1§ 37,705 |
Change in Plan Assets:

Beginning balance $ 35253 E $ 35689
Actnal retuen on plan aszets 6,311 e
Employer contributions 207 | 238

Benstits proucd {2,174) g
SRS o i 5
Business oimbinations {10} 238G
Other 188]  @on
fncing balance $ 39689 3 3 3
Funded Status: .

Faiw walue of glan assets $ 39689 3 35.7273
Benefit chigations s @rres)
Fundled status of plan $ (2142} & 2542
Ar ts Recogriized ini the G lidated Halan | '

Sheet Consist of:

Noncirent assets kS 817 'S £E6
ratrrant labilty | ‘ gaa;| iam
Nancurent bty (2,671}, 13,1200
Netamounttecogized § 2140]3 (254D
Amounts Recognized in Accumulated Other i
Gomprehensive Loss Consist of:

Met actuarial loss $ 89103 8608
203 130
et amevit ranagnizan . $ 8113 |3% AT45
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in September 2019, we amended our domestic pension plans to
cease accrual of additional benefits for future service and compensation
for non-unon participarts effective Docember 31, 2019. Beginning
January 1. 2020, these participants will carn additonal contributions
under our domestc savings plan. We utilized the practical expedient and
remeasured plan assets and pension bonalit obhgations for the affected
pension plans as of the nearest month-end, August 31, 2018, resulting
in a net actuanal loss of $425 millon. This reflects a benefit obligation
gain of 3180 rmillion resuting from the benefit plan change that was
offset by remeasurement losses of $605 million. The remeasurement
tosses are driven by a reduction of 124 basis points in the projected
benefit obligation (PBO) discount rate as of the remeasurement date
comparad to December 31, 2018, partially offsel by actual asset returns
of approximatoly 1776 as of the remeasurement date

i September 2019, wa recorded a curlaldment gain of 398 mliion
in the Consolidaled Staterment of Operations, due to the recognition of
oreviously unrecogriized prior service credits for the affected pensian
rlanz. Additionally. a3 a rcault of Ihc remcadurcment, ponaion Incoma
jexcluding cunadment] decreased by approxamatecly £30 nlkon tor tae
yea ended Decembzer 31, 2019,

The amounts ncluded n "Cther™ in the above table prmanty reflact
the impact of foreign exchange transiation, prmaniy for plans in the LK
and Lanada.

As part of Ihe Bockwelt acquisibon on Novemizer 26, 20138,
we assurmed approximately $3.7 wihon of pension projectec Denefit
chligations and $3.4 bilion of plan assats.

Qualfied domestic pension plan benefits comprise approxsmately
757 of the projected benefit obligation. Benafts for union empioyens
are: generally based on a stated amount for each year of service.

For non-union employees, benefits for service up to Decombor 31,
2014 are generally pased on an employee’s years of sernvice and
compensation through December 31, 2014, Benefils for serece after
Lcember s g hrough Docemiber 310 20 1o gre Lased an b
axisting cash bajance tormula (hal was adooled in 2003 for newly hired
non-union empltoyees and for other non-union employees whe made a
one bme voluntary clechon to have future benefit accruals determmod
under this formula. Cerfan foreign slans, which comprse approximatchy
244% of the projected benefit obligation, are considered defined beneft
plans for accounting purposes. Nonqualied domestic pension plans
provide gulgler ety jetrer gt beneiits 1o Cetl | ernployucts dnd
are not a material component of the projected beneht obhigation,

We marte 25 million of cash contributions to our domeslic defined
DeNEMT PENSIoN PrEns dnd macke B3 rron OF Cash SOnEBULGHS 10
o faren defined haenafit pensinn plans in 2010 In 2018, we macde no
cash contributions to our domestic defined benefit pension plans and
made $147 mulbon of cash contibutions to our foreign defined bencit
pension plans.



Informatien for pension plans wath accurmulated benefit abhgations
n axcess of pian assets:

e e, 2018 o
Frojected benefit chiigation $ 39,267 ‘ § 25884 |
Accumulntec benedit chagotion 38,816 ' 153

Fair value of plan assets 36,530 l

Infarmation for pension plans with projected beneft obligations in
excess of plan assets,

I I 2019 . i
Projected benefit cbligation $ 39,680 [ $ 28591 |
A umulated benefit cbhgaticrs 39,478 0 20008 i

Fair value of plan assets 36,921 l 25,362

The accurmulated banett cbigaton for all defined benefit pension
plans was 541 3 bilion and $37 O billon at December 31, 2019 and
2018, respachvety.

The compaonents of (he net penodic pension benefit are as fotlows:

o ad 2019 RN o

Pension Benefits: E |
Sarvice Sost $ 359 | 3 Acs 8 374
Interest cost 1340 | 1117 ] 1120
Expactor iidurm on plan sssets {2,430) 2en (SR
Amortization of prior senvice cost {cradit) 17 41 l {36; !
Reconioed actudrial net joss 265 40 RFaS!
Net settiement. curtailment and special ' ‘
termination henefits (gain} logs 54} ! 3

et pencors pensicn benatt - smiplower $ (803} S 105 5 1T

Ciher changes in plan asscets and bonehit obligations recogrized in
olher comprahensive 1oss N 2019 are as follows:

N
Current year actuanial loss $ 553
Arertization of ac tael ks {265)
Current year prior service cost 3]
A ortization of pror sorace © (17)
Net settiemnent and curtailment 57
Other 34

Tot recognized in other comprehensiveloss & 368 |

Mt recognizec n net pencdic pension benetit and other

comprehonsve loss $ {135)

Tne amount included in "Cther™ in the above 1able primarily reflects
the impact of foregn exchange translabon, primarily for plans i the UK,
and Canada.

The estimated amount thal will be amoertized from accumuialed
other comprenensive loss Into nel pencdic pension {benefity cost in
202015 as follows:

S Ees INE
Net actuarial loss $ an
Frriar sendc =1

$ 422
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Major assumphions used in determining the benefit obligation
and net cost tor pension plans are presented in the {ollowing table
as weighled-averagoes:

Disconrd rale i
PBO 3.0% ' A0 39% 3. 5B
Interest cost ' - — | se% | s0% | saw]
Sene o5t - 36% @ 55a . 3AT.

Salary scale 42% | 42% | 43%{ a2% | 4.1%]

Fxpectad retuin on plan assefs - 6.7% | 83, Coadt i

Moe

In determining the expected return on plan assels, we consider
the relative woighting of plan assets, the histoncal performance of total
plan assets and indradual assel classes, and economic and other
incecators of future pedorance. [ addinon. we may consult wih and
consider the opmions of financial and other professionals n developing
appropriate capital market assuniplions. Return projections are also
validated using a simulation model that incorporates yeld carves, credit
spreads and nsk premiums to proect :ong-term prospective returns,

The plans” Investmeant managament objectives nclude providing
the iguidity and assel levels needed to meet current and future benett
payments, while mantaining a prudent degree of portfolie drersitication
corsidering interest rate nsk and market volatiity. Globally, investment
strategies target a mix of 45% to 5040 of growth sccking assets and
075 10 557 of Income generating and hedyging assels using & wide
sot of diversified asset types. fund strategies and investmeant managers.
The yrowlh seeking allocahen consists of glohal public equities in
developed and emerging countries, private equity. real estate and
mulli-assel class stralegies. Growth assels include an enhanced
alpha strategy that nvests I pubsecly traded cauity and fixed ncome
secunties. dernvatves and foragn curency. Invesimants in private equity
are primanly via irmited partnerstip inlerests in buy-out strategies with
smaller allocations o distressed debt funds. The real estate strategy 1s
principally concentrated in directly held U .S, core investments with some
smaller imvestments ininternahonal, value-added and opportunistic
strategies. Withn the income generating assets. the hixed income
portfelio consists of manty government and broadly dwersifiod high
quality corporato boncts.,

The plans have continued thar pension nsk management
technigues designed 1o reduce their interest rate risk. Specifically,
tha plans have ncorporated diability hedgng programs that include
the adoption of a risk reduction chijectve as part of the long term
nvestment strategy. Under this objective the interest rate hedge s
intended to increase as funded status improves. The hedging programs
incorporate a range of assets and investrient tools. each with varying
nterest rate sensitivities. As result of the improved funded status of
the plans due o favorable asset returns and funding of the plang. the
interest rate hedge increased significantly during 2017, The investment
portfolios are currently Nedging approaximalety 65% to 70 of tha
interest rale sensithaty of the pension plan lakblihes.
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As a result of the shift in the target asset mix to higher Income genecrating and hedging assels and lower growth sceking assets, combned with
reduced capital market assumplions for most asset classes. we will reduce the expected return on plan assels assumplion for 2020 including the
assumption of a 6.5%: return on plan assets for our qualfied domestic pension plans, down from 7.0% in 2019,

The farr values of pension pan assets at December 31, 2018 and 2018 by asset category are as follows:

Total

3 R T
Asset Category: .
Public Equities
Global Equities % - $ 35893
Global Equity Commingled Funds ' — 1,734 |
Enhanced Global Equities * - 715
Global Equity Funds at net asset value ® 8,318 6,318
Private Equities 3 1,230 1,432 |
Fixed [ncome Securities
Governments - 1,085 ‘
Corporate Bonds - 13,065
Structured Products - 17|
Fixed Income Securities ° 6,262 6,262 i
Real Estate ** arz 1,849 ‘
Other *# 2,834 3177
Cash & Gash Equivalents 52 i | 78 1zsj
Subtotal $ 4.880 $ 15,727 $ 1,671 $ 17,092 38,370 |
Other Assets & Liabilities ’ ) - I 319 |
Total at December 31, 2019 ) : $ 39,689
Puplic Equities ! i | ’ ‘
Gloskal Foyunties 52817 3 I 3 i 2 - 3
Giobal Equity Commingled Funs - 185 | 426 | - | - 811 |
Frnancad Global Foutien e F - e |
Global Equity Funds at net asset vahis * — i — l 7,386 ‘ 7.386 ‘
Freare Bouite. 3 - . 110540 1500
Fixed Incorme Securities l l 1 i
Zoveinments 1740 165 ! 1.931
Corporate Bonds -1 11527 | 29 ‘ 11,574 |
Pz e oime Secunties : - as RISl
Real Estate *7 - I
(ther
Cash & Cash Equivatenis **
Subltctal B ” 313219
_ Other Assets & Liabibties - - )
Total at December 31, 2018 -
Nester ! SR ABET g TS RN NGBS ey P eten St ICKS
Nt Seprane s e W e g les d Lo [N At N A P

St et [

et 4 I R ATLES RREEAANE

[ P M

Nt o fo mny pobd by wh e tr s

Nt LRt Pz Londs e e 5
Motz 7 ey S BT e AR A pedie LR At drs 10T B, at
N_ore 3
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Dervatves in the pian are primarily used to manage nsk and
gan assel class exposure while still mantaning liquichty. Dervative
nstraments rmamly consist of equity fitures. interest rate ful ures, interest
rate swaps and curency fornward contracts.

Cur common stock represents less than 1% of total plan
assels at December 31, 2019 and 2018, We rovicw our assets at
least quarterty to ensure we are within the targeted asset al'ocation
rangas and. f necessary. assel balances are adustod back wehin
target allocations. We emipioy a broadyy grversit ed investmant
manager siructure that includes dversihcalion by active and passive
managemeant. style, capitaization, country, sactor, Industry and number
of mvestmeant manager s,

The far value measursment of plan assets using significant
unobservable npuats (Level 3) changod due to the following:

—e | :
LN TR Cogter, . [ Tt
Balance, December 31, 2017 $ 467 5 — [§1.446 | 1,402 |
Flan 15 acquired 33 - s
Realized fosses) gains - | 10 9|
whrsalzeg gans relating i
mstrurenis sl bl d e ! 1 )
the reporing penad 2 B L
_Purchases, sales, and settiements, et _ 87, __ (8 E {07 (36} ’
B, Decembn 31, 2013 135 13 ‘ 1,387 1500
Reatized losses - -1 w @]
szl <d s ralatimeg ' |
fnta = sl held i the ' !
e g penod ¥ ) o o
Purchases, sales, and setttements, net 37 ) 7(13) B §2 B z(j !
Balance, December 31, 2019 $202] $ 5% 1,464 |5 1,671

Quicted market prices are used to value investrments when
avalable. Investments in secunties traded on exchanges, including histed
futures and ophions, are valued at the last reported sale prices on the
last business day of the year orf not avalable, the last reportod Did
prices Fixed incorme socanlias are primarly measured using & markgat
apoach pricing methodology, where absetvable prces are chtaned
by market transacthions invoiving dentical or comparable secunties
of issuers with similar credit ratings. Mortgages have boen vadued on
the bass of ther future principal and interast payments dscountod al
prevailing interest rates for sirmilar nvestments. Investmenl contracls
arg valued at far value by discounting the relaled cash flows basced on
current yields of similar instruments with comparahle durations. Real
estale invesiments are valued on a quarterly basis using discounted
cash flow maodels which consider long-term lease estmates. future
rental recoints and estimated resicdual values. Valuation ostimates arc
sanplemented by hird-parly appraisals an an annuai basis.

Private souity iroted pannerships are valued quarterly
using discountod cash Hows, earnings mulliples and market
multicles. Valuation adjustments reflect changes m operating results,
financiai condition, or prospects of the apehcable portiolio company.
Over-the-counter securities and government obligations are valued
at the bid prices or the average of the bid and ask prices on the fast
business day of the year trom published sources or, if nol available. from
othor sources considered reliable, generally broker guotes. Temporary
cash investments are stated at cost, which approxmates fair value

Notes to Consclidated Financial Statements

As aresult of the $1.9 bilkon contributon in 2017, we are not
requred 1 make addtonal contrnbutions to our domestic defined
bencfit pension plans through the end of 2025 We expect to make total
cordnbutions of approximately $125 mallon to our glabal defined benefit
pension plans i 2020, Contributons do not retlect benetits to be pad
direclly from carporate assets.

Benefit payments. «ncluding amounts to be paid from corporale
assets, and reflecting expected future senvice, as appropnate, are
expacted to be pad as follows: 32,428 millon in 2020, 52.230 mition in
2021, $2 263 milkon in 2022, $2,289 millicn in 2023, $2,303 millon n
2024, andd $11.537 millon from 2025 tnrough 2029,

Pastretirement Benefit Plans, We sponsor a numiser of
postretrernent benefit plans thal provide health and He bencfits to
chepble retireas Such benefits are provided primarly from domeshc
plans, which comprise approximatealy 84% of the benefit obligation. The
postretircrment plans are primarily unfunded. The assets we hold are
invesled m approximately 507 growth seeking assets and 50% income
generaling assets.

Y 2019 e
Change in Benefit Obligation: i
B Balanen $ 810 | = a7 ‘
Service cost 2 2
Intes ot H s
Acluariad gaie {11} they
Totad henelits paid {69) [
Busmess combinations - 186
Flan amencments — Ao
Othex 2 6]
Fnching bilince $ 765 |3 813 |
Change in Plan Assats:

Bagnning takinee $ 20 & -
Employer contributions 69 & |
Benanits poar 169) o
Business combinations - E 20 ‘
ther - t

L'ncling balance s 08 20

Funded Status: .
Fair value of plan assets $ 20 | § 20|
Benefit obligations (765} (B0

Funded status of plan $ (ra8)| & (7o)
Amounts Recognized in the Consclidated Balance Sheet

Consist of: .
Current abifity $ unls ol
MNencurrent Hakliy (698), i

Net armount recagnized $ 745 5 (700

Amounts Recognized in Accumulated Other Comprehensive

Loss Consist of: .
Net actuarial gain $ (80| 5 (184
1 -

Prior serdce sredit {4

$ 855 (231)]

i
i
1
t

Net armouni recognized
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As part ol our acquistion of Rockwell on November 26, 2018,
we assumed approximately 3188 million of postretirement benefit
oblgations and $20 rmullion of plan asscls.

We modified the postretrermaent medical benelits prowvded to legacy
Rockwell salaned employees by eliminating any conwany subsidy from
retirarnents that occur after December 31, 2019, This resulted ina
343 milkon reduction i Ihe benefit obligation as of November 26, 2018,

The components of net penadic benefit cost are as follows.

TR 2019 oa oo
Other Postretirement Beriefls: ! !

Service cost s 2 521 I

Interest cast 31 l 26 r 29 I

Frepestad return on plan assets {1): - :

Amortization of prior service credit {42) ’ ()] l )

Recognized actuanal net gan (12); 10 1%
Net perladic other postretirement (benefit) cost s$z) s 2] s21

Other changes In plan asscts and benefit cbligations recogmzed in
other comprahensive loss in 2019 are as follows:

KR

Current year actuanel gain $ (10)]
Arertzation of pncr serace oot 42 ‘
Amortization of actuarial net gain 12 ‘
Lther 2
Tota recogﬂize-{;ﬁ-atﬁer comprehensive loss. o § 46 }
Nt raconiz o et penode sther posti=tiverent penetit _ost and Sthe ,
Lol Trehensl. g 1w $ 24

The eshroated amounts that wil be amortized from accumulated
olher comprehensive loss into net periodic nenetd cost N 2020 Include
actuarial nel gans of $13 millon and prior service crodite of $3 million.

Mayor assumphions usad in determinimg the tenctt cbligaton ana
net cosl for postretiroment plans are presented in the folowing tabie as
weghtod-averages:

Discount rate 3.4% 3.8%

Expectad retuin on o

EESE | YN

Assumied heaith care cost trond rates are as foliows:

2019 | s |
Health care cost trend rate assumed for pext year 85% 7.0% |
Fate that the cost trend rate graduall, declines to 5.0% | SOy,
Yegr that the rate reaches the rate it s assumed to remain at 2026 i 2026 }

Assumacd health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on
the amounts reportad for the health care pians A one-percentago-
point changa in assumed heallh care cost trend rates would have the
fallowing effects:

2013 |
One-Percentage-Point |
———————— e

SNy Increase | Decrease |
Effect on total service and interest cost s 1 E
i fract on postretrement beneit sblgalen 25 A

Benefit payments, includng net amounts to be paid from corporata
assets and reflecting oxpected future serice, as approprate, ars
oxpected to be paid as follows. 367 mulkon in 2020, 564 milion
2021, 360 milion n 2022, $56 mution in 2023, $5.3 rrulion in 2024, and
210 mullion fram 2025 through 2029

Muitiemployer Benefit Plans. We contribute to varous dormastic
and taroign mulhemployer defned benatit ponsion plans The nigiks of
participating in these multerrployer plans are cfferent from single-
ernpioyor nlang in that Assats contributed are pocied and may be used
1o provide neneits lo employees of other participating employers. If
a panticpabng employer stops conlrbuting o the plan, the unfunded
chiigations of the plan may be bormne by the remaming parhcipalng
cmployers. Lastly. if we ¢hoose o stop participating in somre of
our muihemployer plans. we may be reguired (o pay those plans a
watndrawal iaoility based on the underfunded status of the plan.

Cur parlicipation 11 these plans for the annual porods ended
Decambor 2115 outhned m the fable below. Unloss otherwise noled. the
maslt recent Pension Proteclion Act (PRA) zone stalus avadablie n 2619
ana 201815 for the plan's year-end at June 30, 2018, and June 30, 2017,
respectively. The zone status 1s based on information that we rocenved
from the plan and w coentiied by the plan's actuary. Our sigraficant plan
15 11 the green zone whch represants a pian that is at least 80% funded
and does not require a financial impraverment plan (FIP) ar a rehabilitation
plan (RP). An extended amortizatan provision of ten years is utiized to
recognize Invesiment gams or losses for our signimicarit plan.

i [T (P
i ;
[ 1 ! 1 Haoota

Pongion Fud [ TR : 2019 ey I T i I

NANGHE ERVEL IrwdIsIry

Pension Plan 23-2654201 Green Green No $ 127 $ 120 ¢ 114 No

Other fuivds ; 32 Ie)l 31

| i $ 159 | 3 151 | $ 145 |

For the plan years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respoctvely,
wa were listed in the Nahonal Etevator Industry Pension Plan's
Forms 5500 as providing more than 5% of the total contributions for the
plan. Al the dale these financial statements were issued, Forms 5500
wore not available for the plan year ending June 30, 2019,
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in addition, we particpate in several multhiemployer arrangerments
that provide postretrement benefits other than pensions, with
lhe National Elevator Industry Health Bonefit Plan being the most
significant, These arrangements generally provide medical and life
benefits for eligibie active employees and retirees and tharr dependents.



Contributons to multemployer plans that provide postretirement penefits
other than pensions were 521 sillon, $20 mullion and $*2 mihen for
2019, 2018 and 2077, respechively.

Stock-based Compensation, UTC's long-term incentive plans
autharze varous types of markel and performance pased incentive
awards that may be granted to officers and emplaoyees, The UTC
2018 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the ~2018 LTIP" was approved by
sharcholders on April 3C, 2018 and s predecessor plan (the "Legacy
LTIP™ was last armended on February 5. 2616 A total of 184 milion
snares hawve boon authonzod 'orissuanco parsuart 1o awards under
these Plans. Thore are 252,000 shares cutstanding that were 1ssucd
under the: RBockwed Colling, Inc. 2015 Long-Term Incentive Plan. No
news cguaty awards wil' bessued under that plan. As of Decemier 33,
2019, approximatoly 32 milion shares remain avalable for awards under
the 2018 LTIP. No sharcs reman avatabla for luture awards undor the
Legacy LTIP Neither plan containg an aggregale annual aveard imel.
however, gach Plan scts an annual award Imit per participant. We expect
that the shares awarded on an annual basis will range from 1.0% to
1.5 of shares outstanding  The 2018 LTIP will expire aftor all authonzed
snares have been awardead or Apnil 300, 2028, whichever 18 sooner.

Under both Plans. the exercise price of awards is set on the grant
date anct may not e less than the far market valug per share on that
date. Generally, stock appreciation rights and steck options have a
lerm of ten years and a threc-yoar vesting perod, subject 1o imited
cxrouptions, I the ovent of retroment,. annual stock appreciation nghts,
slock oplions. and rostreted stock urls neld for maore than one year
rmay become vested and excrosable, subject to certan terms and
condiions LTIP awards with performance-based vesting generally
have a mmimurm three-year vesling period and vest based on actual
nerformance aganst pre-established metnes. in the event of retirermrent,

Notes te Consolidated Financial Statements

peformance-baset awards held for more than one year reman
eligible 1o vest hased on actual performance relative to target metnes.
We have histercally repurchased shares of our common stock inan
amount at least equal to the namber of shares 1Issucd undor our equity
compensaton arrangements and will continue to evaluate this policy m
comgunction with our overall shars repurchase program.

We measure the cost of ail share-Dased payments. Incuding stock
cplions. at fair value on the grant date and recognize this cost = the
Consoldated Staterment of Operations. net of expectaed forfetures,
as follows:

2019 el :
$ 3561 %251 |5 190 |

Total compensation cost recagnized

The assooated fulure sncemie tax benelit recognized was
E66 million, $42 million and $38 milion for the vears ended
December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The amounts have
been adiusled for the mpact of the TCJA

For the vears ended Decermber 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, the
amounit of cash recarved from the exercise of stock options was
$27 mihon, $36 mullon and S29 milion, rescectively, with an associated
lax benefit realeod of $75 millkon, $59 milion and 3100 milkon,
respectively, In addition, for the years ended December 21, 2019,
2018 and 2017, the assoclated tax benelit realizad from Ine vesting of
performance share units and other restricted awards was 336 million,
$12 milbon andg $12 mulon. rospectively,

At Decomber 31, 2019, there was 3291 millon of total
unrecogniZed compensalion cost rélalad 1o non-vested equdy awards
granted under long-ferm ncentive plans. This cost s expacted tc be
recognised ratably over a weighted-average period of 2.9 yoars.

A surmmany of the transactons ander all long -toam incentve sans for the yoar ended Decemoor 31, 2013 falkows.
¥ 2 ¥

R U I

-
B

At e 4 }
P R S R Stones St st | Fooe Jt
Qutstanding at: [ I
Decerber 31, 2918 1603 & 3989 37 i S 9393 1804 S 1162 354,
Granted 338 124.72 | 8,091 ' 123.54 839 121.22 1,223 !
Aneillary ** — — - - 101 | 95.28 -
Exercised / earned 317 8861 l |6.843)l 8444 (758) 85.28 (818]:
Cancelled {57) 121.69 ] (591} 122.76 {69) 118.21 (135)
December 31, 2019 1,588 | $ 106.75 | 32,713 | § 108.61 1,919 | $ 120.04 3,319 |
e T LEATE UL T BRETL e TR
[ R ol L RO P LT R I Y L T PR T S T o T R T S B IR AR I T

The weighted-average grant date tar value of stock optons and
stock approciaton nghits granted durng 2019, 2018 and 2017 was
$20.81. 820.24 and $17 .22 respectively, The waighted-average grant
date fair value of performance share units, which vest upon achiewng
certan performance metncs, granted during 2019, 2018 and 2017
was $117.87. $131.55 and $111.00. respectively. The total far vaiue
of awards vested during the years ended Decembder 31, 2019, 2018
and 2017 was $211 million, $149 milion and $*138 million. respectvely.

The total intrinsic value (which) s the amoeunt fry which the stock price
exceaded tha exercise price on the date of exercise) of stock options
and stock apprecation nghts exercised during the years ended
December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 was $383 milkon, $283 million and
$320 milion, respectively. The tolal intrinsic value evhich 1s the stock
price at vesting) of performance share units and other restncted awards
vosted was $188 million, $74 millon and $49 mmillion durng the years
ended December 31, 20149, 2018 and 2017, raspectively,
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The following table summarizes information about equity awards outstanding that are vested and expected 10 vest as well as equity awards

outstanding thal are exercisable at December 31, 2019;

R T B s S T R T S I o

W e At

Stock Options/Stock Appreciation Rights
Performance Share wnits:Restricted Stock

$ 1,424 | 5.9years 19,285

- 826

2 1 vears

Al dges RSTL NS 0P L [

Ve g 20 a gz - LT T Tl ] BT T e

The fawr value of each option award 18 estimated on the date of
grant using a binomial lattice model. The folowing table indicates
the assumptions used in estirmating fair vatue for he years ended
Oacambor 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, Lattice-based option nodels
incorporate ranges of assumphons for mpuls: those rangos are
as follows:

2019 ; R
Expectec volatiity 18.8% - 19.7% | 17.5% - 21.1% | 19% |
Wt o -auerage wolatinny 20% . 150 10 1
Expected term {in years) 6.5-66 1 6566 65|
Expren i cpagdend victkd 2.4% ! 22 AR RS

Risk frae rats 2.3%-27% | 13% -27% | 05%-25% |

Expected volatillies are based on the returns of our stock,
nclading impliec volauhties from traded ophons on our stock for the
binomea lathice model, We use histancal data to estinate equity awand
exerc:se and employoe termmalion behawnor within the valuat-on model,
The expected tarm sepresents an cstimate of the penod of ime ooty
awards are expocied 1o reman oulstanding. The risk-free rate 1 based

on e kerm structung of snterest rates at the lime of eguity avard grant,

NOTE 13: RESTRUCTURING COSTS

Durng 2019, we rccarded net pre tax restructunng costs totaing $425
nulion for acw and ongaing restructunng actions. We recorded charges
In the segments as follows:

Otis § 54
Carner Ty
Pratt & Whiney 134 |
Cobmg Asrospace Systems 108

Total $ 425 |

Restructunng charges ncurred in 2019 pramarily relate to achons
indiated dunng 2019 and 2018, ang were recorded as follows:

REEE S St ‘

Cost of saleg g 231 ‘
Setlng. general & adewmstrative 130

Nan-senice pengion (benefit) 4 [
Total $ 425 |
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2019 Actions. During 2019, we recorded net pre-tax restructuring
costs totaling $321 milion for estructuring actions indted n 2019,
congishng of $168 million m cost of sales and $153 millon in selling,
general ancl achmiristrative expenses. The 2018 actions relate to
ongoing cost reduchion offorts, includng workforce reduchons ana
consolidation of field oporations

We are targeting to compiete in 2020 and 2021 the magorty of
the remaning workforce and all faciity related cost reduction achons
imtated n 2018, No speciic glans for signidicant olher actions have
beon inalliZzed at thus tme. Thne following taple summanzes the accrual
halances and utilizalion by cost type for the 2014 restructuring actions.

SRR S [

Net pre-tax restruciuring costs $ 298‘ 3 QSE $ 321 ‘
17 SISESR P AT [ i :

A B , {

$ 105 | $ 13| $ 118 |

Tne foliowing table summarzes expected, ncurred and remaining
costs for the 2019 restructuning actions by segment:

Remaming
Costs at
i CostlIncurred | December 31, .
S, . I -2 -r  During 2019 | 2019 |
Otis % 5 $ (48] $ 20|
Carisr 16 (110) 10|
Pratt & Whitnay 133 (1233) - |
Colling Asrospacs Systers 120 {27)! 93
Blirinations and other . 6 (6)! —-[
Total $ 444 3 (321) $ 123




2018 Actions. Dunng 2019, we recorded net pre-tax restructanng
costs totaling $46 milion fo restructunng actions nhiated m 2018,
consistng of 3271 million in cost of sales and $25 mison n selling.
goneral and adminestrat ve expenses, The 2018 aclons relzte to
ongoing cost reduction efforts. inciuding workforce reductions and
the consoldation of fies'd operations The following taole summarizes
the accrual balances and utlization by cost type for the: 2018
“estructuring actons:

| o, Bt
. - .- S sl i “‘ T
Restructuring accruals at January 1, 2019 § 115 1 $ 23 | 3 138
boet pre-fax Estructiumg Lot GE | 3 At
Utilization, foreign exchange and othercosts (1 §2}L _(ZQ}J______ _gsn
Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 21 .| Ty 2 s 23

The following table summarizes expecled. ncurred and remaining
caosts for the 2018 programs Dy segment.

Remainng
! Costs Costs at
" X Incurred  December 31,
Lo Zoewey s . During 2019 2018
Ot & (g $ s 2
Conner el (16} _
Pratt & Whitney (3}‘ - l -
Collins Aptospace Spatems jtaral (23): 1
Bimnanonsandover 7| @l = 2]
Tostal $ 258 200 $ (46) $ 5

2017 and Prior Actions. Dunng 2019, we recorded nel pre-lax
restructunng costs totang $58 millon for rastructunng actions irmhatod
In 2017 and pror. As of December 31, 2019, we have approximately
367 rmiflion of accrual palances remaning related to 2017 and
pror actions

NOTE 14: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
We enter into dorivalive nsiruments prmarnly for nsk management
purposes. including denvatves designated as hedging instraments
under the Denvatwes and Hedging Topic of the FASE ASC and those
utilzed as economic hedges, We operate internationally and in the
nomal course of business, are exposet to fluctuations in interest rates,
foreign exchange rales and comenodity prices. These flucluations can
ncrease hoe costs of financing. investing and opceratmg the business
We have used darvaltive instruments, nciuding swaps. forward
contracts and optons 10 manage certain foregn cunency, interest rate
and commadity price exposuras.,

The four quarter roliing average of the notional amount of
lorcign exchange centracts hedging foreign currency transactions
was $17.8 biion and $20.1 tillion at Decamber 31, 2019 and 2018.
respectvely. Additional information pertaning to foreign exchange and
hedgng activiies 15 included in Note 1

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The following table summarzes the far value and presentation
in the Conschdated Balance Sheets for dervative nstrumients as of
Decemlzer 31, 2019 and 2018.

P T N Sl 4 s BTRLT LT i 2019 E
Derivatives designated ' i
as hadging instruments: \
Foreign ex.hange i
contracts Aesrt Dernatres,
Other assets, current l $ n $ 10 \
Othier | 13 12
T Total asset derivatives | % 26| & 27/
Liabslty Derivatves, )
Accrued liabilties | o2 83
Other long ten= habilies (98) ERRE
o o tal bty deriatves | $ (1701 § (194,
Derivatives not ’ .
designated as
hedging instruments: . 1
Foreign exchange l !
contracts Asset Derivatives: i
Other aw st cunent 27 44 i
e Cther assets l 5 10 l
Total asset denvittiyes X $ 32 B {',.’3‘-,
Liability Derivatives: |
A criead liabihtes {116) sl
Gther long-ierm liabilities l |11 I
Total hability derratves $ (117) g 87

The effect of cash llow hedging relationshins on accumulatea other
comprenensive Inceme for the years ended December 31, 2019 and
2018 are presented o the table below. The amaounts of gain or dass) are
attnbutable to foreign exchange contract actvity and arc recorded as a
component of Product sales when reclassified fron accumulaled ofher
comprehensive iIncome.

H s WAL e M

Loss recorded in Accumulated other
comprehensive loss
Lons (Gain reckassiiad nom Acrurilated ather
coimprehensye lass nte Procuct sales

§ @on]

$ 51 3 13

The table above reflects the effect of cash flow hedging relationships
on the Consolidaled Statement of Operattons for the years ended
Decermbier 31, 2019 and 2018, The Company utiizes the cntical
lermms match method in assessing denvatives for hedge efectiveness
Accordingly, the hedged doms and donvatives designated as hedging
nstruments are highly effectve,

We have approximately €4.2 bikon of curo-denominated long-term
debt, which gualties as a net mvostmant hedge aganst our mwecstments
N European businesses. As of December 31, 2019, the net investrnent
hedge is deemed o He effective.
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Assurming current marker condilons continue, a 332 milion
pre-tax loss s expected 1o be reclassfied from Accumnulated othar
comprehensive loss mto Product sales 1o reflect the fixed prices
obtained from foreign exchange hedging within the next 12 months. At
Decermber 31, 2019, all denvative conlracts accounted for as cash flow
hedges will mature by January 2024,

The effect of derivatives rot designated as hadging mstrurmernts
wilhin Other income, net, on the Consolidaled Statement of Operations
was as follows:

se e () i A
R R 2019 o |
Foreign exchange contracts $46 | 3 315 |

NOTE 15: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

In accordance with the provisions of ASC 820, the following tables
provide the valuation hierarchy classihcalion of assets and labiblics that
are carned at far value and measuwred on a recurnng and nonrecurring
basis i owr Consohdated Balance Sheot as of Decomber 31, 2019
and 2018

December 31, 2019
P =T
Level 1| Level2 '

R I Totai '

Level 3

PRt ueng meawr sallie: 200 enty B .
Available-for-sale securitios $ s7 ‘ $57] $ -— $ - |

Derbvati e assots 56 | - 56 -
Derivative liabilities

Al . e Tby
- v J

Recuring fair vaiue measurements:

Ayiilabd s FRUN{S RS | EE I ' H
Derhvative assets a5 | - -
D, ahr e haaliniss i | — " :

Valuation Techniques. Ouwr svatable forsale secunhns mclude
eguiy investments tat are traded in active markets. aither domesucalty
or internationally, and are measured at tar value using closing stock
prices from active markets, Our derivative assets and liabil ies mclude
forgign exchange contracts that are measurad at far vaiue using intermal
models based on obsarvable markel inputs such as forward ratos.
intercst rates, our own credil nsk and our counterparties’ cradil nsks. As
of Decermber 31, 2019, there were no signficant transfers in or out of
Level 1 or Level 2.

As of December 31, 2019, there has not been any sigrificant
impact 1o the tar value of ouwr denvative liabiihies due to aur own credit
nsk, Similarly, there has not Seen any significant acverse impaclt 1o
our denvative assels based on our evaluaton of cur counterpastics’
croci risks,
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The loliowing table provides camying amaounts and fair values of
financial iInstruments that are not carned at far value in our Consolidated
Balance Sheel at Decembor 31, 2019 and 2018

,Dec,e',“hi,e' 31, 2}]19 ) I !
Carrying Fair ; : vy
A ML Y Amount ; Value ) |

Long-term receivables § 3448 347 |5 om fs a4 |
Customer financing i
retes coc e able 283 283 B IR
Short-term borrowings @364)| (2364)) (1469  (1.469) ‘
Long terry debit 4 i
excluding “nance kacos (41,199) {46,202) 113,998 14000
Long-term labifities {336) {322) I (508} l (467} !

The folicvang table provides the valuaton rerarchy classiication of
assels and habiihes that are not carmed &t fair value i our Consolidatad
Balance Shect as of Decamber 31, 2018 and 2018:

December 31, 2019

Level 3 .

R T total Levei 1 i Level 2 i
{ong-term recaivables $ 347 I $— i $ 347 | ] -
Custoricr inancing ! | '
e es o 283 | — 283 | -
8hon-term borrowings 2,384)] - ] - resn)
Leng ten debf oo fiucing | I ' ‘
nanc e loase (46,202) — . {45,802} (400},
Long-term Eabilities 822)| - {322)] - |

I

Long-term receivables 3

5 -

. ' |
1t O] 205 .- ) - 1
Short-term borrowings (1,469)! — | (1,258)‘ (211} ‘
L 2ng tarm debt oo inching :
Angne R LT A

wen| -~

NOTE 16: VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

Pratt & Whutney holds a 61% gprogram share interest in the International
Aerc Engines AG {IAE} coliaboration with MTU Aero Engines AG
[MTU) and Japanese Aero Engines Corporaticn (JAECH and a 49.5%
ownership interest n AL IAE's busness purpose s to coordinate
the design. development, manufacturing and product supporl of the
V2500 engine program through involvement with the collaborators.
Additionally. Pratt & Whilney, JAEC and MTU arc participants in
International Aero Engines. LLC (AE LLC), whose business purpose
15 to coordinate the dosign. development, manufactunng and product
support for the PW 1 100G-JM enging for the Arbus A320nco aircraft
and the PW1400G-JM cngine tor the Irkat MC21 aircrait. Pratt &
Whitnoy holcls a 399 program share interest and a 59% ownership

Long-term tiabiliies 1a67)| — |




interest in IAE LLC. 1AE and 1AE LLC retain imited squsty with the
prmary economics of the programs passed (o the particicants. As such.
we have determined that JAE and 1AL LLC are varable interest entities
with Pralt & Whitney the primary beneficiary. IAE and IAE LLC have,
therofore, peon consoldated. The carrying amounts and classifcation

ot assets and rabiities for vanable interest entitics @ our Consoldated
Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

. e 2019 o
Current assets $ 4573 S araz
MCTicuUrrent danets 1,919 : 1500

Totai assets $ 6492 6332
Cuersnt iabilitics $4916 . T 1918
Noncurrent iiabiliies 2149 ] 1898 |

Tutal habulhes $ 7,065 5 5 5.

NOTE 17: GUARANTEES

We extend a vanety of financial. market value and product pertormanca
guarantees to third parties. As of Decemnber 31. 2019 and 2018, the
following financial guarantees were outstandng:

December 31, 2019

Maximum | Carrying * LN ! 4
Potential | Amount of R At
AN Payment : Liability Fap ot caenle,
Comemercial aerospace financing
arrangements (see Note 4) $ 333 $7 $ 348 59
Crect raciities and debt obiligotiens - —_ 113 '
Performance guarantees 43 | - | 55 | 5 |

W alzo have obligations ansing rom sales of cortam husnesses
and assels, including those from representations and warranties
and relaled indemnitics for erveronmental, health and safety. lax and
employment matters. The maxsmum potential payment related to these
obligations s not a specified amount as a nurmber of the cbiigations do
not contan financial caps. The carryvinig amount of sabikt.os related to
these obhgations was $166 milbon and $175 milion al Decomber 31,
2019 and 2018, respectively, For addiional infarmation regarding the
environmental indermrufications, sce Note 18,

We accrue for costs associated with guarantees when (1
probable that a abinty has heen incurred and the amount can be
reasonably estimatec. The most likely cost to be incurred 18 acerued
based on an evaluation of currentty avalable facts. and where no
amount within a range of estimaltes is more Ikely, the minimum 15
accrued. In accordance with the Guarantees Topic of the FASB ASC,
we rocord these liabities al far value.

Wo provide serace and warranty policies on our products and
extend performance and operating cost guarantees beyond our nonmal
senace and warranty pohcies on some of our produacts, particularty
commercal arcraft engines. In addition, wea incur discrehonary costs 1o
SONICC OUF products in connection with specific product performance
15sucs, Liabiias for performance and operating cost guarantees are
based upon future product performance and durabiity, and are largely
estimated based upon histonical experience. Adjustments are made to
accrualg as claim data and histoncal expenence warrant. The changes
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N the carrying amount of senvce and product warranties and product
perfonnance guarantees for the years ended December 31, 2019 and
2018 are as follows:

P 2019 | it
Balance as of January 1 $1449 | 5 1,146
Warsantos and peromance Juaantees ssuod 635 | GUt
Settiements made 512 (493)j
Other (24) 152
Balnce as of December 31 $1548] § 1,449
osrer 2t w o anar oy e Clgal st

NOTE 18: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Excent as otherwise noted, while we are unable (o prodict the final
cutcome, based on infarmation currently avalaple, we do not balicve
that resolubon of any of the foliowing matters will have a matanal
advarse effect upon our competilive postion. resuits of operations. casn
flows of financial condition,

Environmental. Qur overalicns are supject to environmental
requlation by federal, slate and local authorities in the United States and
regulatory authonbies with jurisdiction over our foreign operations. As
described in Note 1 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements, we have
accrued tar the costs of envionmental remedration activties, Including
but not limitedd to investgatory, rermediation, operatng and mantenance
costs and performance guarantees. and periodicaily reassess thase
amounts. We beleve that the hkelhood of ncurnng 0sses matarially in
cxcess of amounts accrued s remote. As of December 31, 2019 and
2018, we had approxmataly $898 million and $830 milion, respectively
reserved tor ervronmental remediation. Additional informaton pertaining
1o ervironmerntal malters is inctuded in Note 1 to tne Consalidated
Financial Statenients

Government. In the ardinary course of busness, the Company
and its subsidiares and our propeties arc subject ta regulatory and
governmental examinations, Informaton gathering requests. nguUKes,
nwvestigaiions and threatened icgal actong and proceedings. For exaniple,
wie are naw, and beleve that. in ight of the current U.S. Governmaenl
contrachng environment, we will continlie to be the subject of one or more
U.5. Government investigations. Such U.S. Government investgahons
oflen take years to complete and could result iy adminustrabive, cnal or
crimmal habdities, including repayments. fines, freble and cther damages.
forfedures. restitution or penaltics, or could lead 1o suspension or
debarment of LLS. Govornment contracting privileges. For instance. of
we or one of our business units were charged with wrongdoing as a
rosult of any of these nvestigations or other government Investigalions
(incluchng violations of certan envionmental or export laws) the US.
Govarnment could suspend us from bidding cn or recanng awards of new
U.8. Government contracts pending the completion of iegal proceedings.
If convicted or found kable, the U.S. Government could fine and debar
us from new U.S. Governmenl cantracling for a penod generally not to
exceed three yvears, The U S Government also reserves the nght to debar
a contractor from recemng new government contracts for fraudlent.
criminal or other sencusly improper conduct. The LS. Government coulct
vad any contracts found to be tainted by fraud.
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Qur conlracts with the U.S Government are also subect to
audits. Like many defense contractors. we have received audit reports
recommending the reduction of certain contract prices because, for
example, cost or pricing data or cosl accounting practices used o price
and negoliale those conltracts may not have conformed 1o government
regulations. Some of these audit reporis recommend that certain
paymonts be repaid. delayed. orwithhela, and may involve substanbal
amounts. We have made voluntary refunds n those cases we believe
appropriate. have seltled some allogations and, in some cases, continue
to negotiate and’or itgate. The Company may be. and has been,
required 1o make payments into escrow of disputed kabilites while the
relatedd Iigation 1s pending. IF the ihgation s resoived in the Company's
tavor, any such payments will be returned to the Company with interest.
In addition, we accrue for labiics associated with those rattors
that are probabie and can be reasonably estmated, The most ikoy
settlearncn amount to be ncurred s accrued based upon a range of
estimates. Where no amount within a rangae of astmates s more fikety,
then we accrue the minmum amaount.

Legal Proceedings. Cosf Accounting Standards Clams:

As previously disclosed, in April 2019, a Divisional Adrministrative
Condracting Othcer (DACOY of the United States Dotense Contract
Management Agency (DCMA) assested a clarm agains! Pratt & Whitney
to recover overpayments of approximataly $1.73 tilion plus nterost
{approximalely $563 million througn Decermber 31, 2013), The clam s
based on Pratt & Whitney's alleged noncompiiance with cost accounting
standards from January 1 2007 to March 31, 2019, dus 1o 1s

meatnad ot allocating Indepencdent research and developrment Costs to
government contracts, Pratt & Whitney beleves that the clam s without
merit and fited an appeat 1o the Armoed Seniceas Board of Contract
Agpeals (ASBCAI on June 7. 2019

AS praviously disclosed, n Oecomber 2013, a DCMA DACO
asserted a clam against Pratt & Whitney to rocover overpaymen!s of
appraximately 3177 millon plus mterest approxmataly $98.4 rmikon
through Decomber 31, 20190 The clam is based on Pratt & Whilney's
ateged norcomplance with cost accounting standards from January 1,
2005 to December 31, 2C12, due {6 its method of determining the cost
of collaborater parts usced N the calculation of maleral overhcad costs
tor government contracts In 2014, Pratt & Whitney filed an appeal to the
ASBCA An evidentrary hoanng was held and completed :n June 2019,
The parties are now engaged In posl-hearing brefing, and a decision
from the ASBCA will foliow. We cantinue to helieve: that the clam 1s
withaut mert, in Decermber 2018, a DOMA DACO ssued a second
clam aganst Pratt & Whitney that similarly alleges that its method of
deternwing ihe cost of collaborator parts does not comply with the cost
accounting standards for calendar years 2013 through 2017, This second
claim demands payment of $269 mullon plus nterest {aporoxmately
356 2 midhon through Decentber 31, 2019}, which we aiso believe 1S
without ment and which Pratt & Whilney appealad to the ASBCA In
January 2019,

German Tax Litigation. As proviously disclosed. UTC has been
nvolved in administrative review procecdngs with the German Tax
Office. which concern approximatcly €215 milion (approximately
5239 milion) of tax bonefits that we have claimed rolated to a 1998
reorganization of the corporate structure of Olis operations in Germnany,
Upaon audit, these tax penefits were disallowerd by the German Tax
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Office. UTC estmates interast associated with he aforementioned

tax benefits 1s an addimional approximately €118 million {approximately

$131 milhon). On August 3. 2012, we filed suit in the local German

Tax Court (Berin-Brandenburg). In March 2016, the local German Tax

Count dismissed owr suit, and we appealed this decision fo the Gorman

Federal Tax Courl (FTC). Following a heanng on July 24, 2018, the
FTC remanded the matior to the local German Tax Court for further '
procecdings. In 2015, UTC made tax and interes! payments to German

tax authorities of €275 milion {approximately $300 million) in order to

avold addiiona interest accruals pending final resolution of thes matter

Asbestos Matters: As previously disclosed, kke many other
ndustrial companies, we and our subsidianes have been named as
detendants iniawsuils allegng persanat njury as a rosult of exposure 1o
ashestos integrated inlo certain of our products or business prenises
While we have riever manufactured asbestos and no ionger incorporate
11N any currentty -manufactured products. certain of our historical
products, ke those of many othor manufacturers. have contaned
components ncorporating asbestos A substantiai majonty of these
asbestos-related claims have boen dismissed without payrmient or
ware covered 0 full orin part by insurance or other forms of indenruly
Adchtionar cases were Igated and sattled without any insurance
resmbursement. The amounts invelved N asbestos related clams wer e
not materal ndredudily or in the aggrogate n any year,

The amounts recorded by UTC for asbhestos rolated liabiliies are
pased on currently available informration and assumplions that we
Peliewe arg reasonatle and are made with input from outside actuasial
experts. The estimated range of total hanilihes to resolve all pending
anc unassented potentiad lalure asteslos claims through 20591
approxmately $330 malon 1o $400 mullion. Whare ne amaount withen
drnige of cshimates 1s more likely, the mirnmuni s accrued Wo have
recorded the minimum amount of 330 mihon, whien s pincipaly
recorded in Other long-term liaditics on our Consolidaled Balanco
Sreal as of Decembor 31, 2019, This amrount 15 on a pre-tax basis,
ot discounted. and excludes the Company's :ege foes to defend the
asbestos clams. whicn wil continue 1o be expensed by the Company
as they are ncurred. In addiran. the Company has an insurance
recovery rectvable for probable asbestos rolated recovenes of
approximately $1440 rmalion, which s included prmarily 1 Othor assets
an our Consoldated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2014,

The amounts, recorded by UTGC for asbestos-related 1abilites and
NSUrance recovenss are bassd on currently availakble information and
assumptions that we beleve are reasonabic. Our actual iaines or
insurance recovenes could be migher or lower than those recorded if
actual resulls vary sigrificantly from the assumphans. Koy variables in
these assumptions nelude the number and type of new claims to be
fled each year, the outcomes or resclution of such clawns. the average
cost of resolution ot cach new clam. the amount of insurance avalabic,
allocation metnodologics, the contractual tenms with each insurer with
whom we have reached setlements. the resclulion of coverage issues
with other oxCess insurance Carrers with whom we have nol yet achieved
settlernents, and the solvency risk with respect to OUr INSurance Garars.
Other factors that may affect our future hability include unceranties
surrounding the Itigahon procass from jurisdichon to junsciction and fsom
cage to case. legal rulings that may be made by state and federal courts,



and the passage of state or federal legislation. Al the end of each year. the
Company wit evaluate ali of Inese factars and. with input from an oulside
actuanal expert. make any necessary adjustments to bath cur estimated
asbestos habilities and Nsurance recovenes.

Other. As gescnbed in Note 17 to the Ceonsolidaled Financial
Statermnents, we extend perdormance and operatling cost guarantces
heyond aur normal warranty and service policies far extendsd penods
on some of our products. We have accrued our estimate of the iabity
that may result under these guarantees and for sersce cosls that are
probable and can be reasonaply eshimated.

We also have oiher commulmaents and contingent liabilitics related
to legal proceedings. self-insurance programs and matters ansing out
of lhe normal course of business. We acerue contingencies based
upon a range of possible cutcomes. If no amount wathim this range s a
belter cstimate than any olhcr, then we accrue 1he mimmum amount.
Of note, the design, development, production and support of new
agrospace technologies is inherently complex and subject 1o nsk. Since
the PW1T000G Geared TurboFan enging entered mnto service in 2016,
technical issues have been icentified and experienced with the engine.
which s usual for newr engines and new acrospace lechnologies. Pratt
& Whilney has addressed these 1ssues through varicus improvements
and modifications. These 1ssurs have resuited in inancial impacts,
inclughng increased waranty provsions. custonter contract settlements.,
and reductions in contract pedonmance estimalos  Additional technical
1S3U0S may also anse i 1he normal course, which may result in financial
impacts that could be malenal 1o the Conrpany's financial position.
results of eperatons and cash flows.

In the ordinary course of business, the Company and its
subsidianes are alse rouhnely defendants in, parties o or otherasse
subject 1o many pending and threatened lrgal actions, clams. disputes
and proceedings. These matlers are often based on aileged violations
of conlracl, proctuct lability, warranty, regulatory. cnvironmenial, health
and safety, creployment, intelleclual property, tax and ¢lher laws. In
some of these procecdngs. clams for subsfantal monctary damages
are asserted aganst the Company and its subsidiaries and could result
in fines, penalties. compensatory or treble damages or non-monetary
reliel. We da not believe that these matters will have a matenal adverse
eftfact upon our compstitive position. results of operations, cash flows or
financial conaition.

NOTE 19: LEASES

ASU 2018-02, Leases Topic 842) and its related amendments
icallectvely. the New Lease Accounting Standard) are effective for
reporting perods begnning after December 15, 2018, We adopted the
Neow Lease Accountng Standard eflectve January 1, 2019 and clecled
the mocified elrospectve approach n which results for panods hefore
2019 woere not adjusted for the new standard and the cumulatve cffect
of the change in accountng was recognizect through retained earnings
at the date of adoption.

Notes to Censoldated Financial Statements

Woe have ciected certain of the practcal expedients avalable
under Ihe New Lease Accounling Standard. We have appled the
practical expedient which allows prospective transition to the New
Lease Accountng Standard on January 1. 2019, Under the transition
pracucai expedient, we did nol reassess lease classificaton, embedded
leases orinvlial direct costs. We nave applied the practcar expedient *or
short-torm leases. Ve have lease agreements with lease and non-lease
carponents, We have elected the practical expedients to combine
thesc components for cerfan equipment leases. Additionally, for certain
cquipment leases. we apply a porffora approach to effectively account
for the operating lease nght-of-use assets and liabilities. The adopton of
the New Lease Accounting Standard dic not have a matenal offect on
our Conscliclated Statement of Operations or Consoidaled Staterment
of Cash Fows. Upon adoption. we recorded a 52,6 Dition nght-of-use
assct and a 32 7 bilion lease ianinty. The adoption of the New Lease
Accounting Standard had an mmatenat impact on retained earmings.

Operating lease expense for the year ended Decermber 31, 2019
was approximataly $720 milon.

Suppiemental cash fiow nfonmation related 1o cperaling ieascs
was as follows:

Year ended |
T o December 31, 2019 |
Operating cash flows used in the measurernent of operating |
leass liabifities $ 748 .
Operann lense nght of-o sects shitaned i oxs hanges ‘or
peraineg lease oblgatons 416

Cperabing lease nght-of-use assels and labilities are reflecicd on
our Consolidated Balance Sheet as follows:

CDUASL NN, e - SN oty S o December 31, 2019
Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 2,599
Accrued liabslities S {544)
Cper ahng lease iabilities 121

Total operating lease habilities $ (2,688)

Supplemental balance shect nformation reiated to operating leases
was as follows:

December 31, 2019
Weighted Average Remaining Lease Term (in years) 7.9
Wioghted Sverage Discoud Rate 3.5%

Undiscounted matunties of oporating lease labitics as of
Decemiber 31, 2019 are as follows.

ETE Vi !
2020 § 841 |
20321 EEN
2002 410 |
2023 306
2024 234 |
Thereater 1ot
Total undiscounted kease paynants 3,147 ‘
Laz= imiputed mtarast {4549
Total disgounted lease payments $ 2,688 |
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Prior to the adoption of the New Lease Accounting Standard, rental
cormitments on an undiscountad basis were approximately $2.9 bition
at December 31, 2018 under long-term non-cancelable oporating
leases and wore payabie as follows $683 mifion n 2019, $544 mullon
N 2020, $407 mullion in 2021, 3301 million in 2022, $235 midlion 1n 2023
and $746 millon thereafter.

NOTE 20: SEGMENT FINANCIAL DATA

Cur oparations for the periods presonled herain are classified into tour
principal segments. The segments are gencrally determined basced

on the managemoent structure of the businesses and the grouping of
similar operating companies, where each management organization has
general operdaling autonomy over diversitied products and sereces.

Otis products mclude elevators. oscalators, moving walkways
and service 50ld to customors in the commercial. residentat and
nfrastructure property seciors around the world,

Carrier products and relatod services include HVYAC and
refngeration systems, buiding controls and autornation. fire and specal
hagsard suppression systems andt ecjuiprmient, scounty monitornng and
apid response systems, provided Lo a diveraificd international custamer
base principally In the mdustrial, commerciat and residential proporty
anct commercial transportation sectors,

Pratt & Whitney products incluce commercial. military,
business jet and general aviaton aircraflt engings, parts and serwces
sold to a diversfied customer base. ncluding nternational and
domestic commgraidl arnes and arcraft leasing comparnes, arcraft
manuiacturers, and U.S. and foreign governments, Pratlt & Whitney aiso

provides product suppart and a full range of overhaul, repar and fleet
management services.

Collins Aerospace Systems provides technologically advanced
aerospace products and altermarket service solutions for aircraft
manufacturers. arlines. regional, business and general aviation
markets. miltary and space operations. Products include electric
power generation, power management and distribution systerns. ar
fata and aircraft sensing systems, engine control systams, inteligence,
surveillance and reconnaissance systenis. engine components.
onvironmental control systems, fire and ice detection and protection
systems, propeller systemns, engine nacelle syslems. including thrust
revarsers and mounting pylons, wntenar and extenor aircraft ighting.
arcraft seating and cargo systemns, actuation systems. lanchng systems,
inclucling landing goar. wheels and brakes, and space products and
subsystams, integrated avioncs systems. precision targeting, slectronic
warfare and range and traiming systems. flight conitrols, carmmunicalions
systems, naviganon systams. oxygen syslems. ssmulation and traning
systems. food and beverage preparabon, storage and galley svstems.
lavatory and wastewater management systems. Aftermarkeal services
nelude spare parts. overhadl and rapar, enginesring and technical
support, fraving and fleat management solutions. and information
management senvices.

W have reported our financal and operalional resuits for the
periods presented heran under the four prncipal segments noted
alcve, consistorit with Mow we nave revicweed aur DUSiness operatiuns
tar decision-making purposes. resource alocahon and perdormance
assessment durng 2019

Segment Information. Total sales by segment nclude nitorsegment sales. which are generally made al prices approximating (hose that the
scling entity 15 able to obtain on external sales. Segment mformation for the years snded Docemiber 3118 ds follows.

A [
R ”26:179 R Eo T 2019 LD LT
Otis $13,113 | $12904| § 12341 § 1948] $1915| 200
At 18,608 © 192 17312 2,607 a.07T BRI
Peatt 2 Whitney a9z | naer | 1R 1,668 1269 | . 1300
9.:!Im:~t Asrespucs Systmns B 26,028 16 234 14,691 4,100 2003 2191
Tatal segrnent o o ) 78,641 67,857 | 61004 10,413 9,284 4,608
Elr-vrsations and other {1,595) 3 16T {932) R 1sH 1
General COTPO({}EQ BXPONSOS - — {515) {475} {439
Consohdated - ) ] 5 77,046 3 . § 8,966 3 505G 3 8133
; i
e s EX ! ot 2019 T ‘ 2019 :
Bilis $ o973 oom| T oM & 148 i 133 [ & 297
LAnies 22,788 | 2218 ' 243 | 326
Prait & Whitney 31,271 ' 29.341 822 l 823
(io_“‘.ﬂ:i ABMOIPa: Syafams 74,049 - TaA R : 959 | SR 1,749
Total segment 138082 | 134019 | 93413] 2,169 | 1900 | 3578
Flirunations ;eng_r:mer 1,634 152 asie . 87 | 108

i

Consolidated

§ 139,716 | S 134211 | £ 95920 ] % 2,256 |

$ 2015 $ 3,783 | 52433 & 2,140
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Geographic External Sales and Operating Profit. Geographic external sales and operahing profits are attbuted ta the geographic

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

recrans based on ther location of ongine US. external sales include export sales to commercial customers outside the U.S. and sales to the U.S.
Governrent. commeraial and affiiated customers, which arc xnown 1o be for resae to custormers oulaide 1ne UL.S. Long-ved assets are nat fixed

assets altnbuled to the specific geographic regions.

Lt . [ LA 4
an T Cwis " 2019 | EEE REr I S
United States Operations $48288 | $39451 | 533912] 5505 S4941| $4126| § 7498 $ 711 § 533
International Oparations i )
Europe 13,634} 12857 | 11,879 2,476 2141| 1959 | 18ee| 1908 1,617 |
Aas Paofi 9,391 ° 557 2T 1,662 ATE [Ty 1,359 1 54% 1115
Other 7288 | 6672|6443 770 ws | rose| ez 1983 1,389 |
Elieanatesns and sther {1,595 135G 18T (1,447} AR 520 597 | 56 B4l
Consoldated 8 77,046 | $66501| $59337 | $ 8,966| 3$5553| 55135 $ 12755 | S 12207 | $ 10,185 |
Sales from U.S. operations include export sales as follows:
R I D) 2019 AT EORN
Europe $ 7122] § 6285| $ 5273
Asla Paceic 6,479 [ ERSCE
Other 7 3,847 2514} 2017
Total $ 17448 | 311205 5 11124
Sales by primary gecgraphical markel for the year ended December 31, 201915 as follows:
| [P
Suba L Aen e ;
Ao e Lt "o Seibeg EREAR o
Primary Geographical Markets E E I |
cnitedd Shates SOoAad 3 9 3 1 118 315947 $ 48,288 |
Europe 3319 5,326 48|  ao21| 1364 |
Asia Macie, [ A 2at 1,161 a25 9,391 ;
Cther* 1014 go7 sosz| 2305 7,208
Tota segrent $ 13,113 $ 18,608 $ 20,892 $ 25,028 | $ 78,641
Ekminations and other ME { »595)1
Consalidaten e | % 77,046
Saies by primary geographical market for fhe year ended December 37, 2018 13 as follows:
s o
A R P LTI b Tt
Primary Geographical Markets I ] ,
Lnited Slates SO3433 0% 402 | S 148R2 i 31105 | 3 39421
Europe a0ss| 8710 594 ‘ 2498 | 12857 |
Asiz Pacric 1355 2.54% 1200, T ARIT |
Other” 1062 | 961 2674 1915 eare
Totat secrent 310002 © 8 18008 | S 12387 | 5 16000 § 67967
Eiminations and other o | [ ossa
Consclidated : $ 66.001
L ETE AN RS TP SO T N T R SR MR I N E A EA A I B RN

United Technologies Corporation

77



Notes to Consclidated Financial Statements

Segment sales disaggregated by product typo and product versus service for the year ended December 31, 2010 are as fallows:

ot ,
R e, Aw Caren Wabat-we, - Total
Product Type
Commertial and inclustioal, non asmspaco 13113 So1gEnE 3 12| % 31, % 31,874
Commercial asrospace — - 14,516 19,005 ! 33,521
Mty agrospace ) - - G274 5902 13,246
Total sagment $13113 $ 18608 $ 20802 § 26028 | § 78,641 |
Ql\'rliﬂ{llh)!lﬁ and ather . ' 1,595)
Consolidated | $ 77,046 |
Sales Type :
Fraduct % 5660 ‘ $ 15060 | §12077 | § 21440 | $ 65448
§er\m:e Toas | 37218 7410 4548 23,195 !
Total segment $ 13,113 | § 18608 | % 20892 | $ 26,028 | § 78,641 |
E\IUHHJ!K)HE aned ’;Ihf-\ . {1,595)
Consofdated N - B T ] $ 77,045 |
Segment sales disaggregated by product type and product versus service for the year ended Docember 31, 2018 are as follows:
. S [N [an} el o P T
Froduct Tyoe a | ]
Comimoral nd indistia, mon e 312808 3 e 3 S B30 316G
Commercial agrospace - ’ — f 14,027 12,564 26.501 |
Mty seroerac N o - . - — i 241 4010 9375
Tolal segment $ 12004 | 6 16922 | § 19397 | § 16,604 | § 67.857
['jlim{rmts.m d:)ﬂjer . ; _ . ‘_r . 1. !
“Consofidated - 1 7 [ $ 66,501 |
Sales Type i ! 1
Product $ 5836 S 15682 $ 11,410 t $ 13,915 ; $ 46,643
Servico el 324 e ENAL 21 014
Tota sagment B i T "$ 12004 | $18.822 | § 19397 | S 16,634 | § 67.857
Eilimm;.ti.fm:: and other 1155
Consoiidated o C ) o ) $ 66,501 |

Major Customers. Nct Salcs ingiude sales under prme contracts
and subcontracts to the U.S. Guverniment, primaniy related to Pratt &
Whatney and Golling Acrospace Systemns products, as follows:

PRI . zo19 | 2o1as o
Pratt & Whitney § 5814 |5 4489 |5 3,347 |
Colling Agrsspace Syatams 4,802 2773 2,259
Other 227 15| 182!
Total $ 10,643 |5 741305 570

Sales to Airbus prior Lo discounts and mcentives
fo Pralt & Whitney and Coliins Aerospace Systems pr

approximately $9,879 milion. $10.025 mullion and $8.

vears ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 20617, re
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Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

2019 Quarters

e et el el e e First Second | W Fourth | Pl e i SIEN G
Net Sales § 18,065 [ § 19,634 [ $ 19,496 | § 19,561 [ 6 15.242 [§ 16,706 | § 16,510 | $ 18,044 ]
(a4 3800 4,658 5,221 5,285 4,817 3,967 -2 AH04 4207
Net income afidbutable to common shareowners 1,348 l 1,900 | 1,148 E 1,143 | 1,297 2.048 , 1,238 | ' 686 1
Exrninags pen shars of Copimon Stock: i i
Basic - net income $ 15als 222|% 13a]$ 133|5 1645 259|8 156]s 08 |
Dilted - net incomes S 1.56 $ 220 133 $ 132 .3 1625 206815 124 3 0aa

PERFORMANCE GRAPH (UNAUDITED)

The following graph presents the cumulative total sharehoder refurn for the five years ending Decomber 31, 2019 for our cormmaon stock, as
compared to the Standard & #oor's 500 Stock Index and to tne Dow Jones 30 Industnal Average. Our common stock price «s 3 component of oth
nclices. These figures assume that ail dwicends paid over the five-year pericd were reinvested, and that the starting value of each index and the
nvastTient in comman stock was $100.0C on Decemizer 31. 2014,

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE FIVE YEAR TOTAL RETURN
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Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Measures to Corresponding GAAP Measures

RECONCILIATION OF NET SALES (GAAP) TO ADJUSTED NET SALES (NON-GAAP)

Cu e 2019 s o o 2
Net sales $ 77.046 | § 66501 { $ 59837 [ $ 572 $ 56,008 |
Adiaztiments 1o net ks ' .

Pratt & Whitney - charge resulting from ongoing customer contract matters - | - t 385 t 184 142

LT Asrapane Syatems  chargcosulting from sustomer conbact maters - — - 2140
Adiusied et s $ 77,096 | S 66501 | & 60222 | § 57.428 | © 56,450
RECONCILIATION OF DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE TO ADJUSTED DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

L am e e e e mamm e 2019 - Lot o oo T
Net income from continuing cperations attributable te common shareowners $ 5,537 E $ 5,269 $ 4552 I $ 5,065 $ 3,996
AUBTMENTS 1 Nel INCoME rom Zontinong sperations attnbutanlo 1o Sommaen shae wiers: .

Restructuring costs a 309 253 [ 290 396

Sigaficant nen relutnng and non operatisnal chdiges fgans, 989 170 T 90 1,440

Income tax benefit on restructuring costs and significant nan-recurring and non-operational items {249} )] (11} | {354) (B17) ‘

Sigrrfoant non recurnneg snd non Operassn; uns; charges recerded vathin ncors tax expenss 431 BEge) Zen [T 312

Significant non-recurring and non-operational items - Noncontroling interest . 7 £ 7 — l o - —

adjusteients 1 Dt o e Tor centinuneg operahions Attt 10 CoMmon sharecwners 1,599 3065 T 95
Adjusted net incorrie from continuing operations atirbutatile to common sharcowners  s7198]| $6165| 35315 $6460| 55563
Waghted average diluted shares sutstanding $ 864 S31n & o9 S B T 383
Rihterl earnings per share —Net income from continuing operations attributabie to common ghareowners $ 641 $ 850 % 5870 ’ § 612 $ 453 1
At of non recurnng and neo operalional chargss 'gans: on ciule earmings par shas 1.85 11 O4ah [ T+ 1.77 1
Adjusted diluted! eamings per share —Net income from continuing operaticns attributable to l I 1
COMMOR Shareowners $ 826, 3 781 3 B.65 $ 6.61 $ 630
RECONCILIATION OF SEGMENT RESULTS TO ADJUSTED SEGMENT RESULTS
‘ Collins
i Pratt &  Aerospace |

' PV s Otis Carrier Whitney Systems
2019 Segment operating profit $1948| $2607) $1668] $ 4,100
Adustrents to zegemont opciabing protit, |

Rastructuring costs 54 | 126 I 133 | w2

( saoriatod wath e Compars Smtention to separate itz comme sl Busnessses 5 & S 1!

Costs associated with pension plan amendment 3 I 7 ’ - E 33,

Ihwastment imparnen — 1038 |

Consuttant contract termination — | 34 - ! -

L33t o sale of buanes.: L

Amortization of Rockwell Collins inventory fair vake adjustment - ] Sl S — l 181!
2019 Adjusted segment operating profit i ) $2014 52978 $ 1801  $ 4442
RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (GAAP) TO FREE CASH FLOW (NON-GAAP)

SN e, et o oqao— gty 2019 e R . B
Net cash flows provided by operating activities of comtinuing operations $ 8,.883-[ % 8,32 % 5631 $ 6412 i $ 6,755 %

Less Captal expendituras 2,256 1,902 2014 1,633 1652

Free Gash Flow $6627| sasz0o| $3617] $ari3| $5103]
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) Ten ot
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Board of Directors

Lloyd J. Austin il
General, U.S. Army (Ret)
and lormer Commandcer of
U.5. Contral Command
WAlitary | cadershp)

Diane M. Bryant
Charman & CEQ
Neurat Analytics, Inc.
(hAcahical Robotics)

John V. Faraci

Retired Chaman &

Chusf Executive Officar
International Paper

(Paper, Packaging and Distribution)

Jean-Pierra Garnier
Charman

lddorsia Pharmaceut:cals Lig.
(Biopharmaceuticals)

Gregory J. Hayes
Charman & CEQ

United Technologies Carp,
(Diversitiod Manufacturer)

Christopher J. Kearney
Relired Chairman

SPX FLOW. Inc.
inqustrial Equipmient)

Ellen J. Kuliman

Lead Direclar

Prasclent & Chief Executive Officer
Carbon, Inc.

(Dhcyital Manulactunng Platiormi
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Marshall O. Larsen

Retired Charmarn. President &
Chiet Exocutve Officer

Goodrich Corporation

rAerospace and Defense Svsterns
and Services)

Harold W. McGraw Il
Former Charman, Prosident &
Chiefl Executive Oficer

The McGraw-Hill Companies
(Global Information Services)

Margaret {Meghan) L. O’Sullivan
Frofessor

Harvard Uriversity Kennedy Schoot
f+iigher Education)

Denise L. Ramos

Rahred Chief Executive Officer
ITT Inc.

fversified Manulaciurer)

Fredric G. Reynolds

Relired Executive Vice Praaidont &
Chigf Financial Offcer

CBS Corporation

Mectics)

Brian C. Rogers
Retired Chairman
T Fowe Price Group, Inc.
tnvestment Manacomonii

COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

Fradric G. Reynolds. Char
Lloyd J. Austin Il

Diane M. Bryant

Chrstopher J. Kearney
Margarel (Meghan) L. O'Sullvan
Derise L. Bamos

Compensation Committee
Jean-Piarre Garnier. Chair
John V. Farac

Ellen J. Kullman

Harald W. McGraw I

Denise L. Ramos

Bran C. Rogers

Committee on Governance
and Public Policy

Brian C. Rogers. Chair

Ueyd J. Austn Il

Jean-Perre Garmier

Marshail O. Larsen

Haroled W MeGraw i

Margaret (Meghan) .. O Sullvan

Executive Committee
Gregory J. Hayes, Char
John V. Farac:
Jaan-Pisrre Garnicr
Ellen J Kutiman

Finance Committee
John V. Faraci. Charr
Diane M. Bryant
Gregory J. Hayes
Christopher J. Kearnoy
Ellen J. «uilman
Marshall O. Larsen
Fredrc G. Reynoids




Leadership

Gregory .J. Hayes”
Charman & CEC

Elizabeth B. Amato*
Executive Vice Pregident &
Chief Human Resources Officer

Robert J. Bailey*
Corporate Vice President
Controller

Christopher T. Calio*
President
Pratt & Whitney

Vincent M. Campisi
Senior Vice President &
Chisf Digital Officer

Robin L. Diamonte
Corporate Vico President
Pension Investments

Michael R. Dumais*
Executive Vice President
Operations & Strategy

Charles D. Gill, Jr.*
Executive Vice President &
General Counsel

David L. Gitlin*
Prasident & CEQ Cameor

Peter J. Graber-Lipperman
Corporate Vice Progident,
Secretary & Associate
General Counsel

George Ross Kearney
Corporale Vice Prasident
Tax

Susan Mackiewicz
Corporate Vice President
Internal Aucht

Judith F. Marks*
Prosident & CEO
Ohg

Timothy J. McBride
Senior Vice Prosident
Covernment Relatons

Christopher McDavid
Corporate Vice President
Global Ethics & Complance

Neil G. Mitchill, Jr.*
Senor Vice President &
Acting Chief Financial Officer

Robert K. Ortberg
Special Advisor to the
Office of the Charman & CEOQ

Stephen J. Timm*
Prosicient
Coling Acrospace

David R. Whitehouse*
Corporata Vice Presidert
Treasurer
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Shareowner Information

CORPORATE OFFICE

United Technologies Corporation
10 Farm Springs Road
Farmington, CT 66032
860.728.7000

www.utc.com

This report is made avalable to shareowners :n advance of the annual
meeting of sharaowners to be held at 8:00 a.m.. Apnl 27, 2020,

i Mclean, Virginia, The proxy statement will be made avalable to
sharecwners on or about March 13, 2020, at which tirme proxies for the
meeting will be requosicd.

STOCK LISTING
New York Stock Exchange thicker symbal UTX)

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

Computershare Trust Company. NA. 1s the transfer agent, registrar
and drvdend disbursing agent for UTC's comimen stock. Questons
and communications rom registercd sharcowners regarding lransfer of
stock. replacemaont of lost certificates. dradends, addross changes, and
the Stock Purchase and Dividend Ranvestment Pan adminstared by
Computarshare shouid be drected to

Curmputershare Trust Cormpany, NLA.
462 South 40 Strest

Surte 1600

Lovisville, KY 40202

800.488.9281

TR1LETE.2721 (oulswde U5
800.952.89245 (TDD
www.computershare.com/investor

DIVIDENDS

Dnedends are asuady pad on the 10th day of March, June, September
and December,
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ELECTRONIC ACCESS OR DELIVERY OF SHAREOWNER
COMMUNICATIONS

Registered shareowners can help conserve nalural resources and
recluce printing and mailing costs incurrcd by UTC by signing up for
electronic communicahons, including annual meeling matenals, stock
plan statements and tax documents al:
www.computershare-na.com/green.

Beneficial sharcowners may be able to request electronic access or
delivery by contacling their broker or bank. or Broadndge Financial
Solutions at. enroll.icsdelivery.com/utc

2019 ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K

Copies of the UTC Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed with the
U5, Secunties and Exchange Commission can be accassed and
downloaded via our websgite ab:
ir.ute.com/financial-information/sec-filings.

Copies also can be oblancd. without charge. from:

UTC Corporate Sccrciary

Unted Technologies Corporahion
10 Farm Springs Road
Farmmington. GT 06032

860-728 7870
corpsec@corphq.utc.com

INVESTOR RELATIONS

United Technotogres Corporaton
10 Marm Spnngs Moad
Farmington. CT 08032
860.728.7608
InvRelations@corphg.utc.com

ENVIRONMENTALLY FRIENDLY REPORT
This annual report s printedd on recycled and recyclable paper.

www.utc.com
www.corporate.carrier.com
www.collinsaerospace.com
www.otis.com
www.prattwhitney.com



Recognition

Institutional Investor

All-America Executive Team:
Among most honcred companies

Fortune

Among the most admired as1ospace
and defense companies

Forbes
Among the Dest large
company employers

Among the bsst employers
for women

v z6 oG
MIX

From raspanaibls
apurces

FSC* COB4277

Latina Style 50

Amiong the best comparies
for LLatinas

Human Rights
Campaign Foundation

Among lhe best places to work
for LGBTQ egqualty

Diversity Best Practices
Inclusion Index

Among 80 businesses recoynized
fur encouraging a cosporate culture
ot inclusion and diversity

United Technclogies Corporation and its
subsidiaries’ names, abbreviations thereof, logos,
and preduct and service designators are either

the registered or unregistered trademarks or

trade names of United Technologies Carperation
and its subsidiaries. Names of other companies.
abbreviations thereof, logos of other companies, and
product and service designators of other companies
are either the registered or unregistered trademarks
or trade names of their respective owners.

Disability Equality Index
Among the best places to work
for disability inclusion

Newsweek
Among AMernca’s mos
responsiblie companes

All paper used in this report is certified to the
Ferest Stewardship Council® (FSC*) standards
and is manufactured with a minimum of 10%
post-consumer fiber in facilities where 72% of the
energy used comes from renewable biomass fuels.

Photo Credits:

Feldout 2006 and page 11 top, courtesy,
Lockheed Martin Corporation

Foldout 1984, courtesy, Beech Aircraft
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